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INCORPORATION OF CERTAIN DOCUMENTS BY REFERENCE

  
The annual report on Form 20-F of Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A. for the year ended December 31, 2004, first filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission File No. 001-

12142) on November 17, 2006, is incorporated herein by reference.

  
The consolidated financial statements of CITGO Petroleum Corporation (a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A.) for the year ended December 31, 2004, are incorporated 

herein by reference to the annual report on Form 10-K of CITGO Petroleum Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2004, filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission File 
No. 001-14380) on March 31, 2005. 
  

FACTORS AFFECTING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 
  

This annual report on Form 20-F contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange 
Act of 1934, as amended. Specifically, certain statements under the caption “Item 4.B Business overview” relating to the operation and performance of PDVSA Finance Ltd., Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A. 
and PDVSA Petróleo, S.A. (together with its predecessor, “PDVSA Petróleo”) and under the caption “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects” are forward-looking statements. You can 
identify forward-looking statements by, among other things, the use of forward-looking language, such as the words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate” and similar expressions. These forward-looking 
statements reflect our expectations for future events and financial performance. These statements are based on current plans, estimates and projections. Such statements are subject to certain risks and 
uncertainties, such as changes in import controls or import duties, levies or taxes in international markets and changes in prices or demand for products produced by PDVSA Petróleo or its subsidiaries or 
affiliates in international markets as a result of competitive, economic, political and other factors, the availability of continued access to capital markets and financing on favorable terms, regulatory 
compliance requirements, labor disputes and the performance by third parties of their contractual obligations. Although we believe that the expectations reflected by such forward-looking statements are 
reasonable based on information currently available to us, we cannot assure you that such expectations will prove to be correct. Actual results could differ materially from the results projected in the 
forward-looking statements as a result of the risks described above. Accordingly, readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements speak 
only as of the date they were made. We undertake no obligation to publicly release any revision to these forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this annual report. 
  

The annual report on Form 20-F of Petróleos de Venezuela S.A. for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, incorporated herein by reference, also contains forward-looking statements. For a 
discussion of the factors affecting the forward-looking statements contained therein, see “Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Statements” on page ii thereof. 
  

As used in this annual report references to “dollars” or “$” are to the lawful currency of the United States. When used in this annual report, the terms “we,” “our,” “  us” and “PDVSA 
Finance” refer to PDVSA Finance Ltd., the term “Petróleos de Venezuela” refers to Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A. and the term “PDVSA” refers to Petróleos de Venezuela and its consolidated 
subsidiaries.

  
As used in this annual report, capitalized terms shall have the meaning assigned to them herein, in the agreements referred to in “Item 10.C Material contracts,” or in “Annex A — Glossary of 

Certain Defined Terms Used Primarily Under “Item 10.C Material contracts.” 
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PART I

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  

  
The following selected financial data have been derived from our audited financial statements. See “Item 18 Financial Statements.” 

  
Our financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) (formerly International Accounting Standards or IAS) adopted by 

the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). There are a number of significant differences between IFRS and Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America (“U.S. 
GAAP”), as of and for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 2002, 2001 and 2000 in the following respects: the recording of the transition adjustment as of January 1, 2001 resulting from adopting IAS 
39, which differs from the accounting treatment under SFAS No. 133, and the recording of debt issuance costs and debt redemption premium and costs. See note 2(i) to our financial statements. 
  

The selected financial data set forth below should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, our financial statements, “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review 
and Prospects” herein, and the consolidated financial statements of Petróleos de Venezuela and the section entitled “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects,” both of which are included in 
the annual report of Petróleos de Venezuela on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2004. Petróleos de Venezuela’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2004 is incorporated 
by reference herein.
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Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable

Item 3. Key Information

3.A. Selected financial data

    Years ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002   2001   2000  
    ($ in thousands)  
Income Statement Data:                      
Operating revenues     238,996    376,089    382,826    354,377    353,949 
Total revenues     240,285    379,511    386,506    358,607    360,464 
Interest expense     (151,128)   (254,424)   (276,050)   (252,285)   (255,310)

General and administrative expenses     (9,218)   (7,601)   (8,266)   (8,723)   (11,691)

Income before income taxes     87,041    117,731    104,437    99,142    97,575 
Income tax expense     (11,830)   (18,616)   (18,950)   (17,542)   (17,520)

Net income(1)     75,211    99,115    85,487    81,600    80,055 
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_________________

 

  
You should carefully consider all of the information set forth in this annual report and the following risk factors. The risks below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks not currently 

known by us may also impair our business operations. Our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected by any of these risks. This annual report also 
contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our results could materially differ from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of certain factors, 
including the risks we face as described below and elsewhere in this annual report. See “Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Statements.” 
  
Our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness is dependent on the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to sell crude oil and other refined petroleum 
products and on the operations of Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Petróleo over which we have no control.

  
We do not produce, transport, refine or sell crude oil or other refined petroleum products. We have no control over Petróleos de Venezuela or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates, including 

PDVSA Petróleo, or any of their operations. Accordingly, our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness depends on the ability of PDVSA 
Petróleo to sell enough crude oil and other petroleum products to designated customers over time to generate sufficient eligible receivables. Significant delays or disruptions in the production of crude oil 
by PDVSA for a substantial period, due to competitive, economic, political or other factors beyond our control, may materially and adversely affect the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to generate sufficient 
eligible receivables for our purchase.

  
For example, in December 2002 and January 2003, an extensive work stoppage by PDVSA employees halted most of PDVSA’s operations, including the production and export of crude oil, gas 

and related products. This resulted in a sharp decline in the amount of eligible receivables generated by PDVSA Petróleo during that period. A similar work stoppage briefly occurred in February 2002. 
While PDVSA’s production and export have substantially returned to pre-December 2002 levels, we have no control over the occurrence of such developments and cannot assure you that similar events 
will not occur in the future.

  
We also rely on PDVSA Petróleo in its capacity as servicer under the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. While we may terminate the agreement in limited cases, we have no control 

over the manner in which PDVSA Petróleo carries out its duties.
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    December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002   2001   2000  
    ($ in thousands)  
Balance Sheet Data (at the end of period):                 
Current purchased accounts receivable(1)     371,972    924,225    429,992    585,947    905,054 
Rights to future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable     1,008,953    2,707,250    3,214,181    3,737,332    2,979,235 
Total assets     1,445,914    4,021,016    4,256,272    4,454,409    3,985,651 
Long-term debt     383,054    2,792,496    2,994,826    3,320,092    3,113,040 
Total liabilities     428,480    3,078,793    3,413,164    3,696,788    3,291,320 
Capital stock     200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000    200,000 
Shareholder’s equity     1,017,434    942,223    843,108    757,621    694,331 

(1) Net of unamortized discounts.

3.B. Risk factors
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Our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness is dependent on the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to generate sufficient eligible receivables. 
  

PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate enough eligible receivables to allow us to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness depends on two 
factors:

  

Designated customers may reduce the amount of oil they purchase. PDVSA Petróleo can generate the eligible receivables of designated customers that we purchase from them only if the 
designated customers have a continuing need for and ability to purchase crude oil and refined petroleum products from PDVSA Petróleo. A designated customer’s demand for these products from 
PDVSA Petróleo could decrease for a variety of reasons, including:

  

A reduction in designated customer demand could materially limit PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate the receivables that we purchase under the Receivables Purchase Agreement. Similarly, 
PDVSA Petróleo may materially change the terms under which it sells its products to any designated customer, which may make it more difficult for that designated customer to purchase from PDVSA 
Petróleo. We have no control over the designated customers or PDVSA Petróleo in situations like these.

  
PDVSA Petróleo may not produce sufficient crude oil and refined petroleum products to generate enough eligible receivables. PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate eligible receivables also 

depends on its maintaining sufficiently high production levels. In order to maintain production levels, PDVSA Petróleo may need to invest in new production facilities as existing facilities become 
obsolete. The production activities of PDVSA Petróleo are critical to the future creation of receivables. Additionally, significant delays or disruptions in the production of crude oil by PDVSA for a 
substantial period, due to competitive, economic or other factors beyond our control, may materially and adversely affect the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to generate sufficient eligible receivables for our 
purchase. We have no control over PDVSA Petróleo or any of its subsidiaries and cannot guarantee that PDVSA Petróleo will be able to maintain a sufficient production of crude oil and refined petroleum 
products or find additional reserves or invest in new facilities.

  
See “Item 4.B Business overview - PDVSA’s customers and receivables.” 

  
If collections on purchased receivables are held in the retention account, cash flow available to PDVSA Petróleo could be reduced, which could hurt PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to produce oil and 
generate eligible receivables.

  
If the provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement requiring the funding of the retention account are triggered, the resulting distribution of collections on purchased receivables into the retention 

account could significantly reduce our ongoing purchases of eligible receivables, which could in turn reduce PDVSA Petróleo’s operating cash flow. Any reduction in cash flow available to PDVSA 
Petróleo to fund its operations on a day-to-day basis could impair its ability to produce oil and, in turn, its ability to meet its obligations under existing sales contracts relating to purchased receivables 
and its ability to enter into new ones.

  
For an explanation of the circumstances in which collections will be paid into the retention account, see “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Fiscal Agency Agreement.” 
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  ·  whether the designated customers buy enough crude oil and other petroleum products from PDVSA Petróleo; and

  ·  whether PDVSA Petróleo can maintain sufficient production levels.

  ·  changes in the market for that designated customer’s products; 

  ·  a decision to purchase products from someone other than PDVSA Petróleo; or

  ·  a deterioration in the customer’s business or financial condition. 

4



 
If PDVSA Petróleo fails to generate eligible receivables that we have already purchased, we have no recourse to Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo.

  
We purchase receivables that PDVSA Petróleo will generate in the future. To the extent that the time between the purchase and generation of future purchased receivables increases, we will bear 

the generation risks for a longer period. In addition, we cannot guarantee that current market conditions will continue to prevail. Since we have no recourse to Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo 
except in limited circumstances, we alone bear the risk that PDVSA Petróleo will not be able to generate the future eligible receivables for which we have already paid.

  
If a designated customer fails to honor its payment obligations, we have no recourse to Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo.

  
Except in limited circumstances, PDVSA Petróleo has no obligation to refund any of our payments for eligible receivables. Without recourse to Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo, we 

bear the risk of a designated customer failing to honor its payment obligations with respect to any of the eligible receivables purchased from PDVSA Petróleo. 
  

There are only two limited situations in which we may rescind our purchases of eligible receivables and claim repayment of the purchase price from PDVSA Petróleo. We may rescind our 
purchases if:

  

  

  
These limited circumstances do not include the failure of a designated customer to fulfill its payment obligations. Therefore, once PDVSA Petróleo has generated an eligible receivable, PDVSA 

Petróleo will have satisfied its obligation to deliver that receivable, regardless of whether that customer ultimately pays. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Receivables Purchase Agreement.” 
  
Because our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness depends on designated customers making timely payments into the collection 
account, a deterioration of their business could adversely affect us.

  
If one or more designated customers suffer significant negative changes in their business or financial condition that make it difficult or impossible for them to make payments on the purchased 

receivables, it may impair our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness. The magnitude of this negative effect will depend primarily on the 
amounts these designated customers owe with respect to purchased receivables.

  
This risk is not necessarily spread over a large number of designated customers. There is no concentration limit on purchased receivables owing from a particular customer, nor is there a 

concentration limit on purchased receivables owing from affiliates of Petróleos de Venezuela, either individually or in the aggregate. This means that one or a few designated customers could come to 
represent a substantial portion of the collections that we are owed on purchased receivables, subjecting us to the risk that even a single customer’s failure to pay could impair our ability to meet our 
obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness. Certain designated customers accounted for more than 10% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total sales to designated customers 
during 2002. However, because there is no concentration limit on purchased receivables owing from a particular customer, nor any restriction on the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to channel its exports 
towards or away from any particular customer, we cannot predict what percentage of PDVSA Petróleo’s sales will be attributable to any given customer in any future period. The composition of the pool 
of receivables owned by us is likely to vary over time, reflecting fluctuations in the level of demand by each of PDVSA Petróleo’s customers. 
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  ·  a receivable was sold to us pursuant to an inaccurate representation or warranty at the time of sale or if a receivable was owing by a designated customer that was not an eligible customer 
as of the applicable date of determination; or

  ·  PDVSA Petróleo does not comply with covenants in the Receivables Purchase Agreement designed to ensure the continuity of its operations and its ability to sell eligible receivables on 
an ongoing basis.
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We are not assured a predictable flow of payments. In addition, the designated customers do not buy crude oil and refined petroleum products at set intervals. Accordingly, we cannot 

guarantee that any particular pattern of payments into the collection account will occur.

  
We cannot guarantee that the business and financial condition of the designated customers will not deteriorate and that they will be able to make timely payment on the purchased receivables. 

See “Item 4.B Business overview - PDVSA’s customers and receivables.” 
  
A court may not treat our purchase of eligible receivables as a sale or may contest our purchase, which may make it difficult or impossible for us to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding 
indebtedness and any future indebtedness if PDVSA Petróleo becomes insolvent or bankrupt.

  
We have been advised by our internal legal counsel in Venezuela and in the Cayman Islands that transfers of eligible receivables under the Receivables Purchase Agreement would qualify as 

sales under the laws of those jurisdictions. However, no legal precedent in either of these jurisdictions directly supports that advice. Therefore, we cannot assure you that a court in a relevant jurisdiction 
would consider the transfer of eligible receivables from PDVSA Petróleo to us to be sales. If the transfer is not treated as a sale, we may have difficulty making payments on our outstanding indebtedness 
and any future indebtedness if PDVSA Petróleo becomes insolvent or subject to bankruptcy or equivalent proceedings.

  
Further, payments could be delayed or reduced if any conservator, receiver or bankruptcy trustee of PDVSA Petróleo were to:

  

  

  

  

  
Furthermore, our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness could be limited if a court were to void a transfer by which we received 

eligible receivables. A court could void a transfer of eligible receivables if the transfer were made:

  

  

  

  

  
In addition, if a judicial or administrative body were to appoint a conservator, receiver or bankruptcy trustee for PDVSA Petróleo, no further eligible receivables would be sold to us. 

  
Treatment under Venezuelan and Cayman Law. Instead of treating the transfers of eligible receivables as sales, courts applying Venezuelan or Cayman law could treat these transfers as 

assignments of collateral as security from PDVSA Petróleo to us. This security interest should not be subject to avoidance if PDVSA Petróleo becomes insolvent and is placed in receivership, and 
payments to us on the receivables should not be subject to recovery by a conservator or receiver for PDVSA Petróleo if:

  

Table of Contents

  ·  claim that the transfer of eligible receivables from PDVSA Petróleo to us was not a sale, and should instead be treated as security for a loan or as a claim for monies paid;

  ·  require PDVSA Petróleo or us to establish our right to payments on purchased eligible receivables;

  ·  request a stay under any bankruptcy proceeding involving PDVSA Petróleo so that we or PDVSA Petróleo may establish our rights to payments on purchased eligible receivables; or

  ·  claim that the monies that we or PDVSA Petróleo may recover should be subordinated to claims of other creditors.

  ·  at a time when PDVSA Petróleo was insolvent;

  ·  at a time when PDVSA Petróleo was contemplating insolvency;

  ·  with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud PDVSA Petróleo or its creditors; or

  ·  without the exchange of the purchase price required by the Receivables Purchase Agreement.
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However, if PDVSA Petróleo’s conservator or receiver asserts a contrary position or takes the steps discussed above, payments could be delayed or reduced. 

  
If PDVSA Petróleo becomes subject to bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or suspension of payments under Venezuelan law, Venezuelan legal doctrine could limit our rights to eligible 

receivables that we purchased before the declaration of bankruptcy but that PDVSA Petróleo generated after the declaration of the bankruptcy event. Although no Venezuelan court has yet decided this 
issue, a court could hold that the sale of a receivable in these circumstances either:

  

  

  
We cannot guarantee that the sale would transfer effectively full ownership of the receivable to us. If we were awarded only the right to recover the purchase price of the receivable, this right 

would rank equally with all of PDVSA Petróleo’s other unsecured indebtedness or other obligations. If PDVSA Petróleo’s assets were inadequate to cover all the claims, we could only recover our ratable 
share of the assets. Furthermore, the terms of our current indebtedness contain no limitations on PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to incur or secure indebtedness or other obligations that could rank senior to or 
on a par with our right to recover the purchase price for the receivables.

  
We rely on and have limited control over PDVSA Petróleo in its capacity as servicer.

  
PDVSA Petróleo has been named the servicer pursuant to the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. While we may terminate the agreement in certain limited circumstances, we have no 

control over the manner in which PDVSA Petróleo or any subsequently named servicer carries out its duties.

  
As the servicer, PDVSA Petróleo services, manages, administers and collects the eligible receivables that we have purchased. PDVSA Petróleo has agreed not to resign as servicer so long as:

  

  

  
We cannot guarantee that any subsequently named servicer will be able to fulfill its duties as efficiently as PDVSA Petróleo. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Servicing and Collection 

Agency Agreement - Duties of the Servicer.” 
  
Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Petróleo may not honor their waivers of sovereign immunity.

  
Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Petróleo are decentralized public entities of the government of Venezuela and the government, through Petróleos de Venezuela, controls PDVSA Petróleo. 

Because the government is a foreign sovereign, claimants may not be able to obtain a judgment in a United States court against Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo. 
  

Both Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Petróleo have waived any sovereign immunity from suit or other legal process, subject to certain limitations, under the Receivables Purchase Agreement 
and the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. Petróleos de Venezuela is required by law to honor contractual waivers of sovereign immunity, and has honored these contractual waivers since its 
formation in 1975. However, we cannot guarantee that Petróleos de Venezuela will continue to do so in the future, and neither Petróleos de Venezuela nor PDVSA Petróleo has entered into arrangements 
similar to the Receivables Purchase Agreement and the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Receivables Purchase Agreement - Immunity.” 
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  ·  the security interest was validly perfected before PDVSA Petróleo’s insolvency; and 

  ·  the security interest was not granted or taken in contemplation of insolvency or with the intent to hinder, delay or defraud PDVSA Petróleo or its creditors. 

  ·  effectively transferred full ownership of the receivable to us; or

  ·  allows us only to recover from PDVSA Petróleo the purchase price we paid for the receivable.

  ·  the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement remains in effect; or

  ·  any document governing the transactions described in this annual report requires that eligible receivables be generated, sold to us and collected. 
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Changes in the application of Venezuelan tax rules could substantially raise our tax burden.

  
Under Venezuelan tax law, if we are considered an “offshore financial institution not domiciled in Venezuela,” or a “qualified financial institution,” any income of Venezuelan origin that we receive 

by purchasing receivables at a discount under the Receivables Purchase Agreement would be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 4.95%. 
  

No Venezuelan tax, administrative or judicial authority has yet addressed whether a special purpose vehicle like PDVSA Finance qualifies as a qualified financial institution, and we have received 
no ruling or opinion from the Venezuelan tax authorities on this issue. As recently amended, the Venezuelan income tax law indicates that any entity that has been qualified as a financial institution by the 
competent authorities of its country of establishment constitutes a qualified financial institution for Venezuelan income tax purposes. PDVSA Finance’s application for a license to be qualified as a 
financial institution by competent authorities of the Cayman Islands is in process. As of the date of this annual report, such Cayman Island authorities have not issued a response on PDVSA Finance’s 
license application. Nevertheless, the internal Venezuelan tax counsel of PDVSA has advised us that, given the nature of our operations, we should continue to be considered a qualified financial 
institution for Venezuelan income tax purposes. However, such internal Venezuelan tax counsel reached its conclusion about our tax status solely by interpreting the relevant Venezuelan statutes. As a 
result, we cannot assure you that the Venezuelan taxing authority will not conclude that we do not constitute a qualified financial institution. If this happened, any Venezuelan income that we receive 
would be subject to taxation in Venezuela at a rate of 34%. Under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, PDVSA Petróleo must indemnify and hold us harmless for Venezuelan taxes that we must pay on 
income from the receivables it purchases from PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

  
Because PDVSA Finance and Petróleos de Venezuela are foreign companies, you may not be able to effect service of process on PDVSA Finance or enforce judgments against PDVSA Finance. 
  

PDVSA Finance. PDVSA Finance is organized under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and all directors and officers, as well as some of the experts named in this annual report, reside outside the 
United States. All or a substantial portion of our assets and of the assets of these persons may be located outside the United States. As a result, you may not be able to effect service of process on us or 
our directors or officers within the United States. You also may not be able to enforce in the United States judgments obtained against us or our directors or officers. Accordingly, you may not be able to 
enforce in the United States any judgments based on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. 
  

Our Cayman Islands counsel has advised us that the courts of the Cayman Islands will recognize and enforce a foreign judgment without re-examining the merits of that judgment so long as: 
  

  

  

  
Nevertheless, we do not know whether you would be able to enforce liabilities based on the federal securities laws of the United States in the Cayman Islands. We also do not know whether 

Cayman Island courts would enforce judgments of United States courts based on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. 
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  ·  it is final; the court had jurisdiction over the defendant according to Cayman Islands conflict of law rules;

  ·  the judgment is conclusive and is for an amount of money which is not a penalty, a tax, a fine or similar obligation; and 

  ·  neither the manner in which the judgment was obtained nor the kind of judgment which was obtained would be contrary to natural justice or the public policy of the Cayman Islands. 
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Petróleos de Venezuela. Petróleos de Venezuela is organized under the laws of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela and all of its directors and officers, as well as some of the experts named in 

this annual report, reside outside the United States. All or a substantial portion of the assets of Petróleos de Venezuela, and of these persons, are located outside the United States. As a result, you may 
not be able to effect service of process on Petróleos de Venezuela, its directors or officers or the experts within the United States. You also may not be able to enforce in the United States judgments 
obtained against Petróleos de Venezuela, its directors or officers or the experts. Accordingly, you may not be able to enforce in the United States any judgments based on the civil liability provisions of 
the federal securities laws of the United States. We do not know whether you would be able to enforce liabilities based on the federal securities laws of the United States in the Bolivarian Republic of 
Venezuela. We also do not know whether Venezuelan courts would enforce judgments of United States courts based on the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. 
  
PDVSA’s business depends substantially on international prices for crude oil and refined petroleum products and such prices are volatile. A decrease in such prices could materially and adversely 
affect PDVSA’s business. 
  

PDVSA’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects depend largely on international prices for crude oil and refined petroleum products. Historically, prices of 
international crude oil and refined petroleum products have been volatile and have fluctuated widely due to various factors that are beyond our control, including: 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
Historically, members of the Organization of the Petroleum and Exporting Countries, otherwise known as OPEC, have entered into agreements to reduce their production of crude oil. Such 

agreements have sometimes increased global crude oil prices by decreasing the global supply of crude oil. Venezuela is a party to and has complied with such OPEC production agreement quotas and we 
expect that Venezuela will continue to comply with such production quota agreements with other OPEC members. Since 1998, OPEC’s production quotas have resulted in a worldwide decline in 
production and substantial increases in the international crude oil prices.

  
A reduction in PDVSA’s crude oil production or export activities or a decline in the prices of crude oil and refined petroleum products for a substantial period could materially and adversely 

affect the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to generate eligible receivables to support payments on our indebtedness.

  
Risks related to the ownership, regulation and supervision of PDVSA.

  
The Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela is the sole owner of Petróleos de Venezuela. The Venezuelan government, through the Ministry of Energy and Petroleum, establishes national petroleum 

policies and also regulates and supervises PDVSA’s operations. The President of Venezuela appoints the president of Petróleos de Venezuela and the members of its board of directors by executive 
decree. Since November 2004, the Minister of Energy and Petroleum has also served as President of PDVSA. However, the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela is not legally liable for the obligations of 
Petróleos de Venezuela, including its guarantees of indebtedness of its subsidiaries, or the obligations of its subsidiaries.

  

Table of Contents

  ·  changes in global supply and demand for crude oil and refined petroleum products;

  ·  political events in major oil producing and consuming nations;

  ·  agreements among OPEC members;

  ·  the availability and price of competing products;

  ·  actions of commodity markets participants and competitors;

  ·  international economic trends;

  ·  technological advancements and developments in the industry;

  ·  domestic and foreign government regulations that directly impact the supply of crude oil and refined petroleum products; and 

  ·  inflation.
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Petróleos de Venezuela has been operated as an independent commercial entity since its formation; however, recent changes to the Venezuelan law regarding the oil sector impose significant 

social commitments upon PDVSA, which will affect its saving capacity, and, indirectly, its commercial affairs. Given that PDVSA is controlled by the Venezuelan government, we cannot assure you that 
the Venezuelan government will not in the future impose further material commitments upon PDVSA or intervene in its commercial affairs in a manner that will adversely affect our business. For instance, 
through Petróleos de Venezuela, the government could cause PDVSA Petróleo to reduce production or limit future capital expenditure to levels that would limit PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate the 
necessary flow of receivables to support payments on our indebtedness. In addition, the Company has no control over events affecting PDVSA’s operations or the occurrence of any prolonged 
disruption in PDVSA’s activities resulting from actions taken by opponents of the Venezuelan government such as the work stoppages that occurred in late 2002 and early 2003, which in the opinion of 
PDVSA constituted sabotage, and cannot assure you that such events will not occur in the future.

  
PDVSA’s business requires substantial capital expenditures. 
  

PDVSA’s business is capital intensive. Specifically, the exploration and development of hydrocarbon reserves, production, processing and refining costs and the maintenance of machinery and 
equipment require substantial capital expenditures. PDVSA must continue to invest capital to maintain or to increase the amount of hydrocarbon reserves that it operates and the amount of crude oil that 
it processes.

  
We cannot assure you that PDVSA will be able to maintain its production levels or generate sufficient cash flow or that it will have access to sufficient investments, loans or other financing 

alternatives to continue its refining, exploration and development activities at or above its present levels. A reduction in PDVSA’s refining, exploration and development activities for a substantial period 
could materially and adversely affect the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to generate eligible receivables to support payments on our indebtedness.

  
PDVSA does not own any of the hydrocarbon reserves that it develops and operates.

  
Under Venezuelan law, the hydrocarbon reserves that PDVSA develops and operates belong to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela and not to PDVSA. The exploration and exploitation of these 

hydrocarbon reserves are reserved to the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. Petróleos de Venezuela was formed by the government of Venezuela to coordinate, monitor and control its operations that 
relate to hydrocarbon reserves.

  
While Venezuelan law requires that the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela retain exclusive ownership of Petróleos de Venezuela, it does not require the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela to 

continue to conduct its crude oil exploration and exploitation activities through PDVSA. See “Item 7.A. Major shareholders” of Petróleos de Venezuela’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended 
December 31, 2004, incorporated herein by reference. If the government elects to conduct its hydrocarbon activities other than through PDVSA, PDVSA’s operations, including the ability of PDVSA 
Petróleo to generate eligible receivables to support payments on our indebtedness, could be materially and adversely affected. We can offer no assurance that changes in Venezuelan law or the 
implementation of policies by the Venezuelan government will not adversely affect PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate eligible receivables. 
  
PDVSA is subject to production, equipment, transportation and other risks that are common to oil and gas companies.

  
PDVSA is an integrated oil and gas company and is exposed to production, equipment and transportation risks that are common to oil and gas companies, including fluctuations in production 

volume due to changes in reserve levels, production accidents, mechanical difficulties, business interruptions, adverse natural conditions or events such as a severe hurricane, tsunami or earthquake, 
unforeseen production costs, condition of pipelines and the vulnerability of other modes of transportation and the adequacy of our equipment and production facilities. See “Item 4.B Business overview - 
Exploration and Production” of Petróleos de Venezuela’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2004, incorporated herein by reference. 
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These risks may, among other things, lower PDVSA’s production levels, increase its production costs and expenses, cause damage to its property or cause personal injury to its employees or 

others. PDVSA maintains insurance to cover certain losses and exposure to liability. However, consistent with industry practice, PDVSA is not fully insured against the risks described above. We cannot 
assure you that PDVSA’s insurance coverage is sufficient to cover all of its losses or its exposure to liability that may result from these risks. As a result of these risks, PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to 
generate eligible receivables to support payments on our indebtedness may be materially and adversely affected.

  
PDVSA’s crude oil and natural gas reserve estimates involve some degree of uncertainty and may prove to be incorrect over time, which could adversely affect their ability to generate income. 
  

The proved crude oil and natural gas reserves set forth in this annual report are our estimated quantities of crude oil, natural gas and natural gas liquids that geological and engineering data 
demonstrate with reasonable certainty to be recoverable from known reservoirs under existing economic and operating conditions (i.e., prices and costs as of the date the estimate is made). Venezuelan 
proved developed crude oil and natural gas reserves are reserves that can be expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods. There are uncertainties in 
estimating quantities of proved reserves related to prevailing crude oil and natural gas prices applicable to our production, which may lead us to make revisions to our reserve estimates. Downward 
revisions in our reserve estimates could lead to lower future production, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations and financial condition. 
  
PDVSA is subject to numerous environmental and health regulations that may become more stringent and result in increased liabilities and increased capital expenditures.  
  

PDVSA’s activities are subject to a wide variety of national and local laws, regulations and permit requirements relating to the protection of human health and the environment. In addition, some 
of our activities are in areas under special protection regimes, with very restricted land uses. If the environmental law and regulation framework becomes more rigorous, PDVSA will probably substantially 
increase the capital expenditures for compliance with this framework to effectively undertake the necessary improvements to guarantee the health, safety and sustainable environmental practices in the 
future. Any such increase may have a material adverse effect on our results of operations or financial condition.

  

  

  
PDVSA Finance is a limited liability company organized on March 18, 1998 under the laws of the Cayman Islands. We are domiciled in and are governed by the laws of the Cayman Islands. We 

are a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, the national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela.

  
Our registered office is located at Caledonian Bank & Trust, Ltd., Caledonian House, P.O. Box 1043, George Town, Grand Cayman, Cayman Islands and our telephone number is 011-345-949-0050. 

  

  
General

  
We are the principal vehicle for corporate financing of PDVSA. We raise capital by issuing unsecured debt. We also acquire from PDVSA Petróleo, a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de 

Venezuela, certain current and future accounts receivable of PDVSA Petróleo.
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The following chart presents an overview of our business structure and the principal agreements governing our business. This overview is not complete and is subject to, and qualified in its 
entirety by reference to, the provisions of the principal agreements governing our business, which are filed as exhibits to this annual report. Capitalized terms used in this annual report and not otherwise 
defined herein shall have their respective meanings set forth in Annex A to this annual report.

 
Overview of business structure and principal agreements:

  

 
Flow of Funds

_______________
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* Other than in limited circumstances, PDVSA Finance has no recourse to or claim against PDVSA Petróleo for funds advanced toward payment of current and future eligible receivables.
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The summary of principal agreements contained in the points below do not purport to be complete and is qualified entirely by reference to the provisions of the Indenture, the Fiscal Agency 

Agreement, the Receivables Purchase Agreement and the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement (each, as defined under “Item 10.C Material contracts”). Defined terms used herein and not 
otherwise defined shall have the meanings set forth in Annex A hereto.
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1. PDVSA Finance is a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, domiciled in the Cayman Islands. It was established to act as PDVSA’s principal vehicle for corporate financing through 
the issuance of unsecured debt.

2. Receivables Purchase Agreement among Petróleos de Venezuela, PDVSA Finance and PDVSA Petróleo. PDVSA Finance purchases from PDVSA Petróleo certain present or future accounts 
receivable (“Eligible Receivables”) generated or to be generated by the export of crude oil and refined petroleum products to Designated Customers (as defined herein). Any Eligible Receivables 
that are not due and payable when purchased will be purchased at a discount determined on the basis of the Discount Rate (as defined herein). Petróleos de Venezuela will guarantee the 
performance of PDVSA Petróleo’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement but not payment under the Purchased Receivables (as defined herein). See “Item 10.C Material 
contracts - The Receivables Purchase Agreement.” 

3. PDVSA Petróleo has notified certain of its Customers (each a “Designated Customer”) that it is a party to the Receivables Purchase Agreement and that Receivables (as defined herein) 
generated with such Designated Customer may have been sold to PDVSA Finance and instructed each Designated Customer to remit all payments with respect to receivables owing to PDVSA 
Petróleo or its assignees to a Collection Account maintained by PDVSA Finance and PDVSA Petróleo at Citibank, N.A., as a Collection Agent. The Designated Customers have acknowledged 
receipt of such instruction. Payments made to the Collection Account will be allocated on a daily basis by the Servicer who will manage and administer such payments, to PDVSA Finance and 
PDVSA Petróleo in accordance with their respective interests therein. Unless certain events have occurred and are continuing (see point 7 below), all Collections (as defined herein) 
corresponding to PDVSA Finance’s interest in the underlying Receivable will be transferred to PDVSA Finance. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Servicing and Collection Agency 
Agreement.” 

4. PDVSA Finance will issue unsecured debt, including Notes and other debt instruments, and will use the net proceeds of such Notes or any other issue of debt securities or other borrowing to 
purchase Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo, service or refinance existing debt or for other general corporate actions necessary and convenient to accomplish 
the foregoing as permitted by its covenants. Under the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Indenture and outstanding Notes, PDVSA Finance must comply with certain debt coverage incurrence and 
maintenance tests and maintain at all times a Liquidity Facility (as defined herein). See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Fiscal Agency Agreement.” 

5. PDVSA Petróleo will cause the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers that are Generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive twelve-month period 
and that are not subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement to represent at least the lesser of (x) 4.5 million barrels of crude oil of less than 30° API 
gravity and (y) 40% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total Eligible Receivables Generated from Sales of crude oil of less than 30° API gravity. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Receivables Purchase 
Agreement.” 

6. Each Designated Customer has been instructed to make all payments in respect of any Receivables owing to PDVSA Petróleo to a Collection Account.

7. Unless certain events have occurred and are continuing, Collections corresponding to PDVSA Finance’s interest in such Receivables will be transferred to PDVSA Finance. The Collection 
Agent allocates the payments received from the Designated Customers to PDVSA Finance and the Retention Account, if applicable, in accordance with the Servicing and Collection Agency 
Agreement. PDVSA Finance maintains the Liquidity Facility at an amount at least equal to the aggregate amount of Scheduled Debt Service PDVSA Finance is next scheduled to pay under each 
of its debt agreements, including the Notes and other Indebtedness, provided that at any date the balance of the Liquidity Facility shall be at least equal to the aggregate amount of Scheduled 
Debt
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Service scheduled to be paid within the 30-day period following such date. Subject to certain limitations, amounts owing to the holders of Notes because of acceleration of the maturity of the 
Notes will be made from the Retention Account. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Receivables Purchase Agreement.” 

  

  

  

  
Our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness is primarily dependent on the ability of Petróleos de Venezuela, operating through 

PDVSA Petróleo, to generate sufficient eligible receivables of designated customers, which is in turn dependent upon the demand for PDVSA’s crude oil and refined petroleum products from foreign 
customers that qualify as designated customers under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as well as upon the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to maintain levels of production sufficient to generate these 
receivables. Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness also depends directly on the timely payment of purchased receivables by designated customers. See “Item 3.D Risk factors.” 
  
PDVSA’s customers and receivables 
  

Except as otherwise indicated, all figures given in this section regarding percentage of total exports and market share are based on volumes of crude oil and/or refined petroleum products and not 
on sales revenue. See note 20 to Petróleos de Venezuela’s consolidated financial statements, incorporated herein by reference to the annual report of Petróleos de Venezuela on Form 20-F for the year 
ended December 31, 2004, for segment information regarding PDVSA Petróleo’s operations. In addition, for an assessment of the market for Venezuelan crude oils and Venezuelan petroleum products 
relative to the present customer relationships and contracts of PDVSA, with a particular focus on the United States and the designated customers, see the report entitled “U.S. Market Analysis of 
Venezuela Crude Oil and Refined Products” prepared by Purvin & Gertz, Inc., dated December 2005, attached hereto as Exhibit 14.3. 
  

In 2004, PDVSA exported 1,774 thousand barrels per day (“MBPD”) of crude oil, or 65% of its total crude oil production. In addition, in 2004, PDVSA exported 660 MBPD, or 57%, of refined 
petroleum products produced in Venezuela. Of total exports of crude oil and refined petroleum products, 1,301 MBPD, or 53%, were sold to the United States and Canada. 
  

In 2004, PDVSA Petróleo exported 1,774 MBPD of crude oil, or 65% of its total crude oil production. PDVSA Petróleo conducts all export operations of crude oil and refined products from 
Venezuela on behalf of PDVSA. Of total crude oil exports by PDVSA Petróleo in 2004, an aggregate of 1,024 MBPD were exported to the United States and Canada. In 2004, the total crude oil sales to 
customers (including customers outside of the United States and Canada) who qualified as designated customers were 1,304 MBPD. Affiliated customers of PDVSA accounted for 43% of crude oil sales 
to designated customers and the remainders of crude oil sales were to designated third parties.
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8. PDVSA Finance makes interest and principal payments through the Fiscal Agent. Upon the declaration of a Specified Event or the acceleration of the maturity of any of its Indebtedness, PDVSA 
Finance has agreed to instruct, or cause the Fiscal Agent to instruct, the Collection Agent to transfer on each Business Day an amount equal to 25% of (a) Collections in respect of Purchased 
Receivables paid into the Collection Account on the immediately preceding Business Day less (b) Debt Service (other than Accelerated Debt Service) paid on such immediately preceding 
Business Day; provided that such amount shall be 100% of such Collections in the case of certain specified Events of Default. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Fiscal Agency 
Agreement.” 

9. So long as notice of a Specified Event is not in effect and maturity of any Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance has not been accelerated, cash not required to service debt or maintain the Liquidity 
Facility will be used by PDVSA Finance to purchase additional Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, to pay operating 
expenses and dividends and for other general corporate purposes. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Fiscal Agency Agreement.” 

10. PDVSA Finance may make periodic payments of dividends to Petróleos de Venezuela.
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For the year ended December 31, 2004, CITGO accounted for approximately 30% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total sales, by volume, of crude oil and refined products to designated customers. Under 

the terms of our Notes (defined under “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Indenture”), the amount of purchased receivables owing from any given designated customer is not subject to a concentration 
limit, nor is there any concentration limit on the amount of purchased receivables owing from affiliated customers of PDVSA, whether individually or in the aggregate. Certain other designated customers 
accounted for 10% or more of PDVSA Petróleo’s total sales to designated customers for the period from January through December 2004. Of crude oil exports not sold in the United States and Canada, or 
64 MBPD were sold in Europe, or 645 MBPD in the Caribbean and Central America and or 41 MBPD in South America and other destinations. 
  

Of total refined petroleum products produced in Venezuela in 2004, or 485 MBPD were consumed in the domestic market and 660 MBPD were exported. Of total exports of refined petroleum 
products by PDVSA Petróleo in 2004, 277 MBPD were sold to the United States and Canada. In 2004, the total refined petroleum products sales to customers (including to customers outside of the United 
States and Canada) who qualified as designated customers was 120 MBPD. Affiliated customers of PDVSA accounted for 76% of refined product sales to designated customers and the remainders of 
refined product sales were to designated third parties. Of refined petroleum products not sold in the United States and Canada, 132 MBPD were sold in the Caribbean and Central America and 251 MBPD 
were exported to South America and other destinations.

  
Most of PDVSA Petróleo’s crude oil customers are long-standing customers that have had relationships with PDVSA for 15 to 30 years. In 2004, approximately or 65 % of PDVSA Petróleo’s 

crude oil export sales were made pursuant to PDVSA Petróleo’s customary terms and conditions to customers with whom it maintains long-standing commercial relationships. In 2004, approximately or 
26% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total crude oil exports, were made under long-term contracts for specified volumes to U.S. subsidiaries or affiliated customers of PDVSA, approximately or 35% were sales under 
long-term contracts for specified volumes to non-U.S. subsidiaries or affiliated customers of PDVSA. 
  

A majority of PDVSA’s crude oil customers receive shipments on a regular basis. In the aggregate, such shipments are for relatively constant volumes throughout the year. As a result, other 
than with respect to certain U.S. producers of asphalt that purchase crude oil primarily from late spring through early fall, there is little seasonality in PDVSA’s sales volumes of crude oil. Crude oil 
customers are invoiced pursuant to pricing formulas set forth in the applicable contracts, which are generally based on market prices and standard payment terms of 30 days after delivery of crude oil or 
refined petroleum products. In 2004, over 89% of the invoices for crude oil and refined petroleum product export sales were paid on time and in accordance with the established credit terms. 
  

The evaluation of the creditworthiness of each potential customer is undertaken by PDVSA Petróleo’s credit unit. The Financial Evaluation Credit unit recommends specific credit limits, terms 
and conditions for each potential customer, including the requirement for a letter of credit issued by a qualified bank in the case of customers that represent relatively higher degree of credit risk, based on 
its financial evaluation, the estimated business potential of such potential customer and its appraisal of current market conditions. PDVSA has a comprehensive program to monitor its outstanding 
receivables.

  
PDVSA has not experienced any losses for accounts receivables on net sales of crude oil and/or refined petroleum products since 1998, and, as of December 31, 2004, carried on its books 

provisions for losses of accounts receivable generated by the export of crude oil by its Venezuelan operating subsidiaries of approximately 71.2 million, representing approximately 3% of PDVSA’s total 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2004 or less than 0.23% of PDVSA’s export sales for 2004. Based upon PDVSA Finance’s historical experience of not having any credit losses and based upon 
PDVSA Finance’s review of its receivables outstanding at December 31, 2004, PDVSA Finance did not carry any allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2004. There can be no assurance, however, 
that loss and delinquency for the receivables, including purchased receivables, in the future will be similar to that experienced in the past. See “Item 4.B Business overview - Credit and Collection 
Policies.” 
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The following tables set forth the composition of PDVSA’s exports of crude oil and refined petroleum products for the years 2002 through 2004: 

  

_______________

  
Average sales prices of PDVSA Exports

  

_______________
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    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
    (MBPD)   (% of total)   (MBPD)   (% of total)   (MBPD)   (% of total)  
                      
Crude oil(1):                    

Light (API gravity of 30º or more)     624    35%  657    40%  672    38%

Medium (API gravity of 21º or more and less than 30º)     298    17    299    18    360    20 
Heavy and extra-heavy (API gravity of less than 21º)     852    48    692    42    732    42 
Subtotal     1,774    100%  1,648    100%  1,764    100%

                                 
Refined petroleum products:                                

Gasoline/Naphtha     103    16%  108    22%  137    21%

Distillate(2)     178    27    167    33    231    36 
High sulfur residual     185    28    134    27    149    23 
Liquid petroleum gas     49    7    51    10    56    9 
Other     145    22    42    8    74    11 

Subtotal     660    100%  502    100%  647    100%

Total exports(3)     2,434         2,150         2,411      

(1) Includes sales of crude oil and subsidiaries and affiliated refineries (including to the Isla refinery in Curaçao) of 1,110 MBPD, 1,117 MBPD and 1,028 MBPD in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.
(2) Includes kerosene.
(3) Does not include the Orimulsion’s export volumes at 53 MBPD, 91 MBPD and 93 MBPD in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 

    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
    ($ per barrel)  
               
Crude oil(1)     32.22    24.35    21.19 
Refined petroleum products     34.66    26.53    24.23 
Liquid petroleum gas     34.81    25.04    17.65 
Weighted average for the year     32.88    24.89    21.94 

(1) Includes sales of crude oil to affiliates.
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The following table sets forth the geographic breakdown of PDVSA’s exports of all types of crude oil, identifying sales to affiliates and third parties for the years 2002 through 2004, together with 

certain information regarding PDVSA’s exports of light and medium/heavy crude oil and of refined petroleum products for those years: 
  

_______________

  
Crude oils can also be classified by sulfur content. “Sour” crude contain 0.5% or greater sulfur content (by weight) and “sweet” crude contain less than 0.5% sulfur content (by weight). 

Substantially all of PDVSA’s exports are classified as sour crude. 
  

Table of Contents

    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
    (MBPD)   (% of total)   (MBPD)   (% of total)   (MBPD)   (% of total)  
Crude Oil:                    

All types     1,774    100%  1,648    100%  1,764    100%

United States and Canada     1,024    58    923    56    1,053    60 
Subsidiaries and affiliates     696    39    579    35    678    38 
Third parties     328    19    344    21    375    22 

Europe     64    4    88    5    134    8 
Subsidiaries and affiliates     56    4    65    4    61    4 
Third parties     8    -    23    1    73    4 

Caribbean and Central America     645    36    572    35    500    28 
Subsidiaries and affiliates     406    23    473    29    360    20 
Third parties     239    13    99    6    140    8 

South America and others     41    2    65    4    77    4 
Third parties     41    2    65    4    77    4 

Light (API gravity of 30º or greater)(1)     624    35    657    40    672    38 
United States and Canada     236    13    273    17    256    14 
Others     388    22    384    23    416    24 
Medium/Heavy (API gravity of less than 30º)(2)     1,150    65    991    60    1,092    62 
United States and Canada     788    44    651    40    797    45 
Others     362    21    340    20    295    17 

                                 
Refined petroleum products     660    100    502    100    647    100 

United States and Canada     277    42    260    52    216    33 
Others     383    58    242    48    431    67 
Total crude oil and refined petroleum products exports     2,434    n.a.    2,150    n.a.    2,411    n.a. 

                                 
Average sales price per barrel (in US$)                                

Light (API gravity of 30º or greater)   $ 36.57       $ 27.16       $ 23.46      
Medium/Heavy (API gravity of less than 30º)     29.86         22.56         20.24      
Refined petroleum products     34.66         26.53         23.52      

(1) Includes condensate.
(2) Heavy oil includes reconstituted oil, which is a blend of heavy crude oil with lighter crude, condensates or refined petroleum products. 
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Our Designated Customers and Purchased Receivables

  
Our Designated Customers

  
Pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, we have agreed to buy, and PDVSA Petróleo has agreed to sell, without recourse, eligible receivables of designated customers to be generated 

by PDVSA Petróleo from time to time. A designated customer is an eligible customer that has acknowledged receipt of a designated customer’s notice delivered by PDVSA Petróleo and us jointly, 
providing notice of the sale to us of existing and future receivables owed by such eligible customer arising from the sale to such customer of crude oil and/or petroleum products by PDVSA Petróleo. Any 
customer that is a person organized under the laws of any state of the United States or Canada is an eligible customer. In addition, PDVSA Petróleo may cause customers that are not United States or 
Canadian persons to become eligible customers, by delivering to us an opinion of counsel to the effect that a designated customer’s notice, once executed by a customer that is neither a U.S. nor 
Canadian person, constitutes a valid, binding and enforceable obligation of such customer.

  
Under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, PDVSA Petróleo must ensure that the monthly average amount of sales to designated customers by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive 

twelve-month period represent at least the lesser of (1) 27 million barrels of oil of less than 30°API gravity and (2) 80% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total sales of oil of less than 30°API gravity to eligible 
customers. Effective as of August 2, 2004, the Receivables Purchase Agreement was amended to provide that PDVSA Petróleo must ensure that the monthly average amount of sales to designated 
customers by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive twelve-month period represent at least the lesser of (1) 4.5 million barrels of oil of less than 30°API gravity and (2) 40% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total 
sales of oil of less than 30°API gravity to eligible customers. Compliance with the above-mentioned covenant will require that PDVSA Petróleo deliver a designated customer’s notice to, and obtain the 
acknowledgment thereof by, any future U.S. or Canadian customer that accounts for any significant portion of PDVSA Petróleo’s sales of oil of less than 30°API gravity to the United States and Canada. 
In 2004, designated customers accounted for more than 67% of PDVSA Petróleo’s monthly crude oil shipments to the United States and Canada, and certain designated customers accounted for more 
than 10% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total sales to designated customers during 2004. 
  

Our Purchased Receivables

  
Pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, by depositing the purchase price in an account designated by PDVSA Petróleo, we purchase from PDVSA Petróleo its existing (previously 

generated) eligible receivables of designated customers or, in the event no such receivables have been generated on or prior to the date of payment of the purchase price, future eligible receivables of 
designated customers, in the order in which they are by their respective terms generated, with the eligible receivables of designated customers first to be generated being purchased first and eligible 
receivables of designated customers last to be generated being purchased last. Eligible receivables consist of receivables of an eligible customer that (1) upon delivery of a final invoice to the customer, 
which shall occur by no later than two days prior to the date on which such receivable shall be due and payable, shall be an obligation to pay a sum certain and not subject to a credit memorandum or any 
other setoff, reduction or other form of negative adjustment and (2) is required to be paid in full no later than sixty (60) days (or any longer period of up to 90 days that becomes the prevailing practice in 
the international oil business) after the date of the bill of lading with respect to the shipment to which such receivable relates, whether or not such receivable is actually paid during such period. 
  

PDVSA Petróleo and we have jointly notified each designated customer that certain receivables owed by such designated customer may have been sold to PDVSA Finance and have instructed 
each designated customer to remit all payments with respect to receivables to a collection account maintained by PDVSA Finance and PDVSA Petróleo at Citibank, N.A. The designated customers have 
acknowledged receipt of such instruction. Payments made to the collection account on account of purchased eligible receivables are distributed to PDVSA Finance on a daily basis. PDVSA Finance uses 
such funds first to service its indebtedness, then for general corporate purposes, and finally to purchase additional eligible receivables of designated customers. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The 
Fiscal Agency Agreement - Certain Covenants.” 
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The following table sets forth our accounts receivable outstanding at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

  
Our Outstanding Accounts Receivable at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

The decrease in our rights to future purchased accounts receivable at December 31, 2004 compared to the prior year was due principally to the repayment of US$2,621 of debt including US$2,512 
of the offer to purchase launched on August 2, 2004. With respect of current accounts receivable generated by PDVSA Petróleo the decrease was due principally to the revocation of Citgo and Hovensa 
as Designated Customers effective August 2, 2004, resulting from a decrease in volume of receivables purchased to 11.5 million barrels in 2004 from 33.5 million barrels in 2003, offset in part by an increase 
in the prices of receivables purchased by PDVSA Finance of crude oil and refined petroleum products from $27.6 average in 2003 to $32.4 average in 2004. 
  
PDVSA’s Crude Oil Exports 
  

Geographic Distribution of Exports

  
In 2004, PDVSA exported 65% of its total crude oil production. The balance was refined in Venezuela and the products were either exported or consumed in Venezuela. In 2004, approximately 58% 

PDVSA’s crude oil (by volume) was exported to North America — 53% to the United States and 5% to Canada. In 2004, 36% of PDVSA’s crude oil (by volume) was exported to the Caribbean and Central 
America, 4% was exported to Europe and 2% was exported to South America and other destinations.

  
Designated Customers for Crude Oil

  
In 2004, 74% of PDVSA’s crude oil exports were to customers (including customers outside of the United States and Canada) that qualified as designated customers. 

  
The following table sets forth the list of customers that qualify as designated customers on the date hereof, identifying the designated customers who also are affiliated customers, and, where 

applicable, indicating the total years of relationship with PDVSA:
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    December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
    ($ in millions)  
Current purchased accounts receivable:            

Affiliates     131.4    718.2    266.4 
Non-affiliates     240.5    209.8    169.5 
Subtotal     371.9    928.0    435.9 

Rights to future (ungenerated) purchased accounts                 
Receivable     1,008.9    2,707.2    3,214.2 

Total     1,380.8    3,635.2    3,650.1 

Designated Customer   Total Years of Relationship  
       
Amerada Hess Corporation(1)   9  
Amoco Oil Company   29  
Cargill Energy Inc   29  
Chemoil Corporation   29  
Chevron Products Company   29  
CITGO Asphalt Refining and Chemicals LP(4)   Affiliated Customer  
CITGO International Supply Co.(4)   Affiliated Customer  
CITGO Petroleum Corporation(4)   Affiliated Customer  
CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP(4)   Affiliated Customer  
CITGO Venezuela Supply Co.(4).   Affiliated Customer  
Coastal Petroleum NV   27  
Conoco Inc.   22  
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__________________

 
The following table provides a breakdown of the composition of sales of crude oil for the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 to customers that qualify as designated customers on the date 

hereof, identifying sales to affiliated customers and third parties.
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Designated Customer   Total Years of Relationship  
Crown Central Petroleum Corporation   10  
Equiva Trading International LLC(4)   7  
Ergon Refining Inc.   22  
Exxon Trading Company International   29  
Exxon Mobil Sales and Supply Corporation   3  
Farmland Industries Inc.   10  
Fina Oil and Chemical Company   9  
Hovensa, L.L.C(3)   Affiliated Customer  
Hunt Refining Co.   29  
Koch Supply and Trading Company   29  
Koch Petroleum Group L.P.   29  
Lyondell CITGO Refining Company Ltd. (5)   Affiliated Customer  
Marathon Ashland Petroleum L.L.C.   12  
Mepco Venezuela, Ltd.   14  
Mobil Sales and Supply Corporation   29  
Morgan Stanley Capital Group   29  
Murphy Central Asia Oil Co., Ltd   14  
Murphy Falklands Oil Co., Ltd   14  
Murphy Faroes Oil Co., Ltd.   14  
Murphy Oil Corporation   14  
Murphy Oil Trading Company   14  
Murphy Pacific Rim, Ltd   14  
Murphy Philippines Oil Co. Ltd   14  
Murphy Sabah Oil Co., Ltd   14  
Murphy Sarawack Oil Co., Ltd   14  
Murphy South Asia Oil Co. Ltd   14  
National Cooperative Refinery Association   12  
Neste Trifinery Petroleum Company   22  
PDV Midwest Refining L.L.C.   Affiliated Customer  
Pecten Trading Company   29  
Petro Canada   29  
Phillips Petroleum Company   29  
Shell Canada Products Limited   29  
Sinclair Oil Corporation   12  
Star Enterprise   16  
Texaco International Trader Inc.   29  
Valero Marketing and Supply Company   29  

(1) PDVSA has a 50% interest in a refinery in the U.S. Virgin Islands previously owned by Hess Oil Virgin Islands Corporation, pursuant to the terms of its joint venture in Hovensa, L.L.C. with 
Amerada Hess.

(2) Equiva Trading International LLC is a trading company established by Equilon Enterprises LLC (owned by Shell Oil Company and Texaco Inc.) and Motiva Enterprises LLC (owned by Shell Oil 
Company, Texaco Inc. and Saudi Refining Inc.) through their joint venture Equiva Trading Company.

(3) PDVSA has a 50% interest in a refinery in the U.S. Virgin Islands previously owned by Hess Oil Virgin Islands Corporation, pursuant to the terms of its joint venture in Hovensa, L.L.C. with 
Amerada Hess.

(4) Effective August 2, 2004, these clients are no longer Designated Customers.
(5) Effective August 16, 2006, this client is no longer a Designated Customer because PDVSA sold its interest in this joint venture. 
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Profile of PDVSA Petróleo’s Crude Oil Sales to Designated Customers 

for the Year Ended December 31, 2004

  

_______________

  
Profile of PDVSA Petróleo’s Crude Oil Sales to Designated Customers 

for the Year Ended December 31, 2003

  

________________
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Light   Medium/Heavy   Total  

Medium and 
Heavy to 

Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Medium 
and Heavy to 

U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers (1)  

Total Crude Oil 
to Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Crude Oil 
to U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers (1)  

   
(MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)   (MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)   (MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)          

                           
Affiliated Customers(2):                          

CITGO(3)     30    428,409    313    3,586,130    343    4,014,539    20%  17%

LYONDELL-CITGO     --     --     236    2,601,806    236    2,601,806    15    12 
Hovensa     159    2,122,597    122    1,371,410    281    3,494,007    8    14 

Subtotal Affiliated Customers     189    2,551,006    671    7,559,346    860    10,110,352    43    43 
                                           
Third parties:     203    2,702,453    241    2,553,504    444    5,255,957    15    22 

Total     392    5,253,459    912    10,112,850    1,304    15,366,309    58%  65%

(1) By volume of sales.
(2) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term supply agreements. 
(3) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 

 

 

Light   Medium/Heavy   Total  

Medium and 
Heavy to 

Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Medium 
and Heavy to 

U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers (1)  

Total Crude Oil 
to Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Crude Oil 
to U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers (1)  

   
(MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)   (MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)   (MBPD)  

($ in 
thousands)          

                           
Affiliated Customers(2):                          

CITGO(3)     41    402,735    294    2,446,623    335    2,849,358    43%  29%

LYONDELL-CITGO     2    12,252    231    1,755,097    233    1,767,349    33    20 
Midwest Refining     3    32,218    —     —     3    32,218    —     —  
Hovensa     147    1,487,875    99    857,547    246    2,345,422    14    21 
Subtotal Affiliated Customers     193    1,935,080    624    5,059,267    817    6,994,347    90    70 

                                           
Third parties:     150    1,517,479    66    564,131    216    2,081,610    10    19 

Total     343    3,452,559    690    5,623,398    1,033    9,075,957    100%  89%

(1) By volume of sales.
(2) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term supply agreements. 
(3) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 
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Because sales to designated customers change over time, the information in these tables is not necessarily indicative of future sales. 
  

The following table provides information regarding average daily export sales of crude oil (by volume) to customers that qualify as designated customers on the date hereof, identifying sales to 
affiliated customers and third parties and indicating the percentage of sales to designated customers compared to the total sales to eligible customers for the years 2002 through 2004: 
  

PDVSA Petróleo’s Crude Oil Exports to Designated Customers 
Historic Sales from 2002 through 2004

  

______________

  
PDVSA’s Sales to Affiliated Customers 

  
PDVSA supplies all of its international refining affiliates with crude oil and feedstock that are either produced by PDVSA or purchased in the open market. Some of PDVSA’s affiliated customers 

in the United States that are designated customers have entered into long-term supply contracts with PDVSA. These contracts require the supply of minimum quantities of crude oil and other feedstock 
for a fixed period of usually 20 to 25 years, with terms expiring on or after 2006.

  
These contracts incorporate price formulas based on the market value of a slate of refined petroleum products deemed to be produced by a specific refining configuration from each particular 

grade of crude oil or feedstock, less (1) certain deemed refining costs, (2) certain actual costs, including transportation charges, import duties and taxes and (3) a fixed margin, which varies according to 
the grade of crude oil or other feedstock delivered. Fixed margins and deemed costs are adjusted periodically by formulae primarily based on the rate of inflation. Because deemed operating costs and the 
slate of refined petroleum products deemed to be produced for a given barrel of crude oil or other feedstock do not necessarily reflect the actual costs and yields for any given period, the actual refining 
margin earned by the purchaser under the various contracts will vary depending on, among other things, the efficiency with which such purchaser conducts its operations during such period. These 
contracts are designed to reduce the inherent earnings volatility of the refining and marketing operations of PDVSA’s international refining affiliates. Other supply contracts between PDVSA and its 
affiliated customers in the United States provide for the sale of crude oil at market prices. Some of these contracts also provide that, under certain circumstances, if supplies are interrupted, PDVSA is 
required to compensate the affected affiliate for any additional costs incurred in securing other sources of crude oil or other feedstock. 
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    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  

 

 

Volume  

% of 
Designated 
Customers 

(1)  

Medium and 
Heavy to 

Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Medium 
and Heavy to 

U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers 
(1)   Volume  

% of 
Designated 
Customers 

(1)  

Medium and 
Heavy to 

Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Medium 
and Heavy to 

U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers 
(1)   Volume  

% of 
Designated 
Customers 

(1)  

Medium and 
Heavy to 

Designated 
Customers/ 

Total Medium 
and Heavy to 

U.S. and 
Canadian 
Eligible 

Customers 
(1)  

    (MBPD)           (MBPD)           (MBPD)          
                              
Affiliated Customers(1):                             

CITGO(2)     343    17    20%  335    29    43%  299    25    34%

LYONDELL-CITGO     236    12    15    233    20    33    202    17    25 
Midwest Refining     --     --     --     3    --     --     1    --     --  
Hovensa     281    14    8    246    21    14    202    17    5 

                                                
Subtotal Affiliated Customers     860    43    43    817    70    90    704    59    64 

Third Parties:     444    22    15    216    19    10    456    39    36 
Total     1,304    65    58%  1,033    89    100%  1,160    98    100%

(1) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term agreements. 
(2) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 
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These crude oil supply contracts may be terminated by mutual agreement, by either party in the event of a material default, bankruptcy or similar financial hardship on the part of the other party 
or, in certain cases, if PDVSA no longer holds, directly or indirectly, 50% or more of the ownership interests in the related affiliate. Following Venezuela’s agreement to reduce current levels of crude oil 
production, PDVSA Petróleo has reduced, on a pro rata basis, the amount of crude oil that it supplies to its affiliated customers, including CITGO, under long-term supply contracts. 
  

PDVSA’s Sales to Third Parties 
  

A majority of PDVSA’s sales to third parties of crude oil, including sales to its customers in the United States with which it maintains long-standing commercial relationships, are made at market 
prices pursuant to customary terms and conditions established by PDVSA and are priced in U.S. dollars. Among its customers are major oil companies and other large private and state-owned companies. 
Although PDVSA’s customary terms and conditions do not require specified volumes to be bought or sold, historically, a majority of PDVSA’s crude oil customers have taken shipments on a monthly 
basis at a relatively constant volume throughout the year. PDVSA has also negotiated a limited number of long-term contracts, with terms ranging from two to ten years, with certain customers for the sale 
of heavy crude oil at market-related prices. 
  

The following table sets forth the accounts receivable outstanding as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, corresponding to export sales by PDVSA Petróleo of crude oil to affiliated customers 
and third parties that qualify as our designated customers on the date hereof:

  
PDVSA Petróleo’s Accounts Receivable by Customer Affiliation 

for Designated Customers
(crude oil only)

  

__________________

  
Refined Petroleum Products Exports

  
In 2004, PDVSA exported 57% of the refined petroleum products it produced in Venezuela. Of PDVSA’s exports of refined petroleum products produced in Venezuela in 2004, 42% were exported 

to the United States and Canada, 38% to the Caribbean and Central America and 20% to South America and other destinations. 
  

Our Designated Customers for Refined Petroleum Products

  
The following tables provide information regarding average daily export sales of refined petroleum products in volume to customers that qualify as our designated customers as of the date 

hereof, identifying sales to affiliated customers and third parties and indicating the percentage of sales to our designated customers compared to the total sales to eligible customers for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003:
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    As of December 31,  
Type of Customer   2004   2003   2002  
    ($ in millions)  
               
Affiliated Customers(1)     196.2    644.3    389.5 
Third Parties     279.3    255.6    221.5 

(1) CITGO, LYONDELL-CITGO, Hovensa and Midwest Refining are customers under long-term contracts. 
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Profile of PDVSA Petróleo’s Refined Petroleum Products Sales to Designated Customers 

For the Year Ended December 31, 2004

  

__________________

 
  

Profile of PDVSA Petróleo’s Refined Petroleum Products Sales to Designated Customers 
for the Year Ended December 31, 2003

  

_________________
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Volume   Sales  

Total Refined 
Petroleum Products to 

Designated 
Customers/Total 

Refined Petroleum 
Products to U.S. and 

Canadian Eligible 
Customers(1)  

    MBPD   ($ in thousands)   (%)  
            
Affiliated Customers(2):           
CITGO(3)     91    11,370    46 
Hovensa     1    1,391,514    1 

Subtotal Affiliated Customers     92    1,403,884    47 
Third Parties:     28    391,906    14 

Total:     120    1,795,790    61 

(1) By volume of sales.
(2) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term supply agreements. 
(3) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 

 

 

Volume   Sales  

Total Refined 
Petroleum Products to 

Designated 
Customers/Total 

Refined Petroleum 
Products to U.S. and 

Canadian Eligible 
Customers(1)  

    MBPD   ($ in thousands)   (%)  
            
Affiliated Customers(2):           
CITGO(3)     99    1,169,526    56 

Subtotal Affiliated Customers     99    1,169,526    56 
Third Parties:     23    244,333    13 

Total:     122    1,413,859    69 

(1) By volume of sales.
(2) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term supply agreements. 
(3) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 
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The following table provides information regarding average daily export sales of refined petroleum products in volume to customers that qualify as designated customers as of the date hereof, identifying 
sales to affiliated customers and third parties and indicating the percentage of total sales to such customers represented for the years 2002 through 2004: 
  

PDVSA Petróleo’s Refined Petroleum Products Exports to Designated Customers 
Historic Sales from 2002 through 2004

  

_______________

  
Contract Terms and Conditions

  
Most of PDVSA Petróleo’s crude oil customers are long-standing customers that have had commercial relationships with PDVSA for 15 to 30 years. In 2004, approximately 65% of PDVSA 

Petróleo’s total crude oil export sales were made pursuant to PDVSA Petróleo’s customary terms and conditions to such long-standing customers, out of which approximately 26% were sales under long-
term contracts for specified volumes to U.S. subsidiaries or affiliates of PDVSA and approximately 35% were sales under long-term contracts for specified volumes to non-U.S. subsidiaries or affiliates of 
PDVSA.

  
Of PDVSA’s total sales by volume of refined petroleum products in 2004, 34% were made pursuant to short-term contracts and in accordance with PDVSA’s customary terms and conditions and 

66% of refined petroleum products exported were sold pursuant to long-term contracts for specified volumes, priced pursuant to formulas that are based on market prices. 
  

The following table sets forth the accounts receivable outstanding as of December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, corresponding to export sales by PDVSA Petróleo of refined petroleum products 
produced in Venezuela to affiliated customers and third parties that qualify as designated customers on the date hereof:

  

Table of Contents

    December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  

 
 

Volume  

% of
Designated

Customers(1)   Volume  

% of
Designated

Customers(1)   Volume  

% of
Designated

Customers(1)  
    (MBPD)       (MBPD)       (MBPD)      
                     
Affiliated Customers(2):                    

CITGO     91    46    99    56    58    29 
LYONDELL-CITGO     —     —     —     —     5    3 
HOVENSA     1    1    —     —     9    5 
Subtotal Affiliated Customers     92    47    99    56    72    37 

Third Parties:     28    14    23    13    45    23 
Total:     120    61    122    69    117    60 

(1) By volume of sales.
(2) Includes short-term sales and sales made pursuant to long-term supply agreements. 
(3) Includes CITGO, CITGO Refining and Chemicals LP, CITGO Venezuela Supply Company, CITGO Asphalt Refining Company and CITGO International Supply Co. 

25



 
PDVSA Petróleo’s Accounts Receivable by Customer Affiliation for Designated Customers  

(for Refined Petroleum Products only)

  

________________

  
Credit and Collection Policies

  
Credit Approval Process

  
The evaluation of the creditworthiness of each potential customer is undertaken by PDVSA’s Financial Evaluation Credit unit, located within the International Finance Operation Department. 

The Financial Evaluation Credit unit conducts a credit analysis of each potential customer, based on a detailed review of the three latest audited financial statements of such customer, a calculation of 
financial ratios, an analysis of the percentage of cross-section and trends and the generation and review of cash flow reports of such potential customer. In addition, this unit also requests three 
commercial and three banking references for each potential customer. Such references are evaluated and reviewed by them. The analysis of the financial statements conducted by the Financial Evaluation 
Credit unit involves trend and cross-section analysis of each report. In addition, the financial ratios derived using such financial statements are compared against key business ratios of each industrial 
sector which are annually provided by internationally recognized rating agencies, such as Bloomberg and Dun & Bradstreet, among others, who also provide external credit reports used to value other 
credit parameters such as quality of debt and other financial issues of the potential customer and its environment. The analysis is completed with a review of the amount of cash generated by the 
potential customer from operations. This allows the Financial Evaluation Credit unit to establish the financial strength and payment capability of the potential customer as well as its capacity to generate 
cash flow. This unit also prepares a brief report on the main activities, operations, organization and the prior credit history of the potential customer. The Financial Evaluation Credit unit revises its 
evaluation parameters for each potential customer based on the customer type - i.e., whether the customer is a large oil company, trader, refiner, and wholesaler or retailer. In addition, the creditworthiness 
of existing customers is monitored from time to time by this unit, and sales conditions are periodically adjusted to reflect changes in the customer’s creditworthiness. 
  

Based on the credit analysis, estimated business potential of the customer and an appraisal of current market conditions, the Financial Evaluation Credit unit recommends a specific credit limit 
and specific terms and conditions with respect to accounts opened for each potential customer. As recommended by the credit unit, accounts are opened with one of the following conditions: 
(1) unrestricted account, for the highest credit quality customers; (2) accounts with a parent company guarantee, for customers whose parent companies have a high quality credit rating; (3) accounts that 
are backed by a documentary or stand-by letter of credit, in selected case, PDVSA may sell crude oil or refined petroleum products to customers that do not meet the above creditworthiness criteria if it 
determines that it is advisable to do so for commercial or market reasons. In theses cases, PDVSA sells its products on a prepaid basis, where the customer pays for its purchases in advance of delivery. 
In 2004, 2003 and 2002, the percentages of PDVSA’s total export sales of crude oil that were backed by letters of credit were 18%, 9% and 11%, respectively. The recommended term of credit is usually net 
cash within 30 days after the bill of lading date.

  
Billing and Payment

  
A majority of PDVSA’s export sales of crude oil and refined petroleum products are conducted on a free on board (FOB) basis and title to the crude oil or refined petroleum product passes to the 

customer upon its loading on the ship. Subsequent to the delivery of crude oil or refined petroleum products at the designated port, PDVSA provides the customer with a preliminary estimate of the 
purchase price for the volume delivered which is based on the formula price specified in the applicable sales contract. The final price for the quantity delivered is stated on an invoice prepared by the 
Invoicing unit within the International Finance Area in PDVSA Petróleo, generally within 25 days of the delivery of crude oil or refined petroleum product, and the invoice is presented to the customer 
immediately by fax or telex transmission. The full amount of the invoice is due within the term established by PDVSA Petróleo’s commerce and supply division for such customer depending on the 
payment modality, which can be: open account, letter of credit (documentary letter of credit or stand by letter of credit) or prepayment, also the period to issue the invoice to the client is directly related to 
the payment modality. PDVSA typically imposes interest and administrative charges on a daily basis equivalent to an annual rate of 18% for all accounts that are past due. PDVSA does not provide 
discounts or rebates for advance payments of any amount due.
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    As of December 31,  
Type of Customer and Basis of Sale   2004   2003   2002  
    ($ in millions)  
Affiliated Customers(1)     —     109.2    44.2 
Third Parties     41.6    23.5    18.0 

(1) CITGO is the only affiliate purchasing refined petroleum products under long-term contracts. 
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Monitoring of Existing Accounts

  
PDVSA has a comprehensive program to monitor outstanding receivables. Senior management in the sales and finance departments of PDVSA are notified on a daily basis of any overdue 

payments and further sales may be suspended and credit may be canceled, unless the customer promptly pays its overdue invoices. In addition, the creditworthiness of existing customers is monitored 
by PDVSA Petróleo’s Accounts Receivable unit from International Finance operations, and the terms and conditions of sales to such customers are periodically adjusted to reflect changes in customers’ 
creditworthiness.

  
Loss and Delinquency Experience

  
PDVSA has not experienced any losses for accounts receivables on net sales of crude oil and/or refined petroleum products since 1998, and, as of December 31, 2004, carried on its books 

provisions for losses of accounts receivable generated by the export of crude oil by its Venezuelan operating subsidiaries of approximately $71.2 million, representing approximately 3% of PDVSA’s total 
accounts receivable as of December 31, 2004 or less than 0.23% of PDVSA’s export sales for 2004. These provisions for losses are currently being pursued by PDVSA’s legal department either through 
direct negotiations with the customers or by means of legal proceedings. Based upon PDVSA Finance’s historical experience of not having any credit losses and based upon PDVSA Finance’s review of 
its receivables outstanding at December 31, 2004, PDVSA Finance did not carry any allowance for credit losses at December 31, 2004. There can be no assurance, however, that loss and delinquency for 
the receivables, including purchased receivables, in the future will be similar to that experienced in the past.

  
The evaluation of the creditworthiness of each potential customer is undertaken by PDVSA Petróleo’s Financial Evaluation Credit unit. This unit recommends specific credit limits, terms and 

conditions for each potential customer, including the requirement for a letter of credit issued by a qualified bank in the case of customers that represent a relatively higher degree of credit risk, based on 
its financial evaluation, the estimated business potential of such potential customer and its appraisal of current market conditions. PDVSA has a comprehensive program to monitor its outstanding 
receivables.

  
The table set forth below illustrates the loss and delinquency experience (understanding delinquency as all those invoices that were emitted at least five days before their expiration date and for 

the payment date, they had not been canceled by the customer) of receivables generated by export sales of oil and oil products to all of PDVSA’s customers and by export sales to designated customers 
(net of recoveries):

  
Delinquency and Loss Experience of Receivables
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    Delinquency Experience   Loss Experience  

Year Ended December 31,
 

PDVSA’s 
Customers  

Designated
Customers  

PDVSA’s 
Customers  

Designated
Customers  

    ($ in thousands)       ($ in thousands)      
2004     44.3    —     —     —  
2003     141.9    0.5    —     —  
2002     62.9    —     —     —  

      249.1    0.5    —     —  
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The figures corresponding to delinquencies for the period from 2002 to 2004 represent 0.15% of the total amount of sales for that period. Such delinquencies are not considered significant or 

unusual and are not expected to have any impact on the future performance of the portfolio of receivables.

  
As of December 31, 2004, PDVSA Finance has not experienced any credit losses. All of our accounts receivables are current as of December 31, 2004. PDVSA Finance has no allowance for credit 

losses at December 31, 2004 and has not recorded any provision for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. 
  

Average Delinquencies

  
Approximately 89% of PDVSA’s customers pay their amounts invoiced by the payment due date, in accordance with the credit terms established in the sales contract. PDVSA’s low rate of 

payment delinquencies is attributable to the high credit quality of its portfolio of customers, its contract terms and the relatively high interest rate and administrative charges that PDVSA charges as a 
penalty on delinquent payments. The majority of payment delinquencies that PDVSA has experienced have resulted from claims that relate to difference in prices or the quality or quantity of crude oil or 
refined petroleum product received.

  
During 2003, PDVSA’s Invoicing Unit did not timely prepare invoices such that customers could pay invoices prior to the due date. The invoicing delays, among other factors, was due to the 

December 2002 work stoppage that derived in the suspension of the support systems, the lack of information to apply the corresponding price formulas and to the inexperience of the personal biller. The 
following table sets forth information concerning the aging schedule for accounts receivable generated by export sales of crude oil and refined petroleum products at December 31, 2004: 
  

Current Aging Schedule at December 31, 2004

  

As of December 31, 2004, all of our purchased account receivables are current.

  
The following table sets forth information concerning the aging schedule for accounts receivable generated by export sales of crude oil and refined petroleum products at the end of each quarter 

in 2004 and 2003:

  
Quarterly Historic Aging Schedule for 2004 and 2003(1)

  

_________________
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    Number of Days      
    0-30   31-60   >60   Total  
        ($ in millions)       ($ in millions)  
                   
Crude Oil     1,137.4    3.9    141.9    1,283.2 
Refined Petroleum Products     464.6    1.6    58.0    524.2 

Total     1,602.0    5.5    199.9    1,807.4 

    Number of Days      
    0-30   31-60   >60   Total  
        ($ in millions)       ($ in millions)  
               
2004              

March 31     820.9    2.1    50.5    873.5 
June 30     1,269.6    3.4    66.2    1,339.2 
September 30     1,833.5    15.4    117.6    1,966.5 
December 31     1,602.0    5.5    199.9    1,807.4 

2003                      
March 31     644.3    291.7    647.9    1,583.9 
June 30     523.9    445.5    1,122.9    2,092.3 
September 30     451.2    253.2    1,142.4    1,846.8 
December 31     538.1    147.7    716.3    1,402.1 

(1) Includes only export sales of crude oil and refined petroleum products from Venezuela.
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Petróleos de Venezuela conducts its operations through its Venezuelan and international subsidiaries. In 1997, PDVSA established a new operating structure based on business units and since 

then, PDVSA has been involved in a process of transforming its operations with the aim of improving productivity, modernizing its administrative processes and enhancing the return on capital. This 
process involved the merger of its former operating subsidiaries Lagoven, S.A. and Maraven, S.A. into Corpoven, S.A., effective January 1, 1998, and renaming the combined entity PDVSA Petróleo y 
Gas, S.A. (“PDVSA P&G”). In May 2001, Petróleos de Venezuela renamed PDVSA P&G “PDVSA Petróleo, S.A.” and began the process of transferring non-associated gas assets to PDVSA Gas, S.A. 
during the second quarter of 2001.

  
PDVSA’s oil-related activities are governed by The Organic Hydrocarbons Law, which came into effect in January 2002. PDVSA’s gas related activities are regulated by The Organic 

Hydrocarbons Law of September 1999 and its regulations dated June 2000.

  
Additionally, PDVSA has also made several adjustments within its organization to enhance the internal control of its operations, to improve on our governance model and to align our operating 

structure with the long-term strategies of our shareholder. These adjustments consist primarily of the adoption of a new framework of operating structure that increases the involvement of our board of 
directors in our activities, and, at the same time, enhances PDVSA’s operational independence. 
  

In the United States, PDVSA conducts its crude oil refining and refined petroleum product operations through its wholly owned subsidiary, PDV Holding, Inc. In Europe, PDVSA conducts its 
crude oil refining and refined petroleum product activities through PDV Europa B.V.

  
PDVSA Finance was established in 1998 to serve as PDVSA’s principal vehicle for corporate financing through the issuance of unsecured debt. PDVSA Finance has no subsidiaries. See our 

overview of our business structure and principal agreements in Item “4.B Business overview.” 
  

  
PDVSA Finance does not own or lease any material physical properties or assets other than the accounts receivable of designated customers acquired from PDVSA Petróleo. 

  

  
Basis of presentation

  
The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our financial statements included herein. Our financial statements are prepared and presented in accordance with IFRS. There are 

differences between IFRS and U.S. GAAP, as of and for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 as they relate to the Company’s financial statements which are reported in note 2(i) to the 
financial statements.
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Critical Accounting Policies

  
In connection with the preparation of our financial statements included in this annual report, we have relied on variables and assumptions derived from historical experience and various other 

factors that we deemed reasonable and relevant. Although we review these estimates and assumptions in the ordinary course of business, the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operation 
often requires our management to make judgments regarding the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. Actual results may differ from those estimated under different variables, assumptions or 
conditions. See note 2 to our financial statements for a summary of the significant accounting policies and methods used in the preparation of our financial statements. 
  

  
Overview and Trends

  
PDVSA Finance was established by Petróleos de Venezuela on March 18, 1998 as a wholly owned subsidiary. We are the principal vehicle for corporate financing of Petróleos de Venezuela and 

its consolidated subsidiaries. We raise capital through transactions in selected financing activities outside the Cayman Island. Our business is limited to issuing unsecured debt and using the net 
proceeds of our borrowings to purchase eligible receivables of designated customers from PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Purchase Agreement. We entered into the Receivables Purchase 
Agreement on April 27, 1998 and we began operating shortly thereafter.

  
Our ability to meet our obligations in respect of our outstanding indebtedness and any future indebtedness is primarily dependent on the ability of Petróleos de Venezuela, operating through 

PDVSA Petróleo, to generate sufficient eligible receivables of designated customers for our purchase. This is in turn dependent upon the demand for PDVSA’s crude oil and refined petroleum products 
from foreign customers that qualify as designated customers under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as well as upon the ability of PDVSA Petróleo to maintain levels of production sufficient to 
generate these receivables, including the need to add reserves and make continuing capital investments in production facilities as existing resources are depleted and existing facilities become obsolete. 
  

At the end of February 2002, PDVSA personnel initiated labor actions against political decisions of the Venezuelan government relating to PDVSA matters. These protests resulted in a brief 
period of disruption in production at certain PDVSA refineries and shipping terminals in Venezuela. A similar disruption occurred in December 2002 and January 2003, when a nationwide work 
stoppage halted most of PDVSA’s operations. As a result, PDVSA’s crude oil production was reduced from around 3 million barrels per day in November 2002 to an average of about 1.2 million barrels per 
day in December 2002 and an average of about 0.7 million barrels per day in January 2003. Consequently, there was a sharp decline in the volume of crude oil supplied to PDVSA’s customers during that 
period, resulting in force majeure declarations under PDVSA’s crude oil supply agreements. The amount of eligible receivables generated by PDVSA Petróleo for our purchase during the periods of 
disruption also decreased substantially.

  
PDVSA’s operations, including the production of crude oil, began to normalize in February 2003. By April 2003, PDVSA’s crude oil production levels returned to approximately 3.2 million barrels 

per day. PDVSA’s crude oil production level was approximately 2.7 million barrels per day in December 2004 and approximately 2.8 million barrels in September 2006. While PDVSA’s production and export 
have substantially returned to pre-December 2002 levels, we have no control over the occurrence of such developments and cannot assure you that similar events will not occur in the future. 
  

Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness also depends directly on the timely payment of purchased receivables by designated customers. A material adverse change in the business or 
financial condition of a designated customer could adversely affect the customer’s ability to make timely payments on receivables purchased by PDVSA Finance under the Receivables Purchase 
Agreement. The impact of a material adverse change in the business or financial condition of a designated customer may vary with the amount of purchased receivables owing from such designated 
customer. The amount of purchased receivables owing from any given designated customer is not subject to a concentration limit, nor is there any concentration limit on the amount of purchased 
receivables owing from affiliates of PDVSA, whether individually or in the aggregate. There can be no assurance that one or more of the designated customers will not suffer material adverse changes in 
their respective businesses that negatively affect their abilities to make timely payment on the purchased receivables. Furthermore, to the extent that we have paid for future eligible receivables of 
designated customers which PDVSA Petróleo has not yet generated, we are exposed to PDVSA Petróleo’s generation risk and to risks PDVSA faces (as guarantor of PDVSA Petróleo’s obligations under 
the Receivables Purchase Agreement). See note 5 to our financial statements.
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The market for crude oil and refined petroleum products is subject to price volatility. Our business and financial condition depend to a large degree on the international prices for crude oil and 

refined petroleum products. Petróleos de Venezuela’s crude oil exports to the United States are generally composed of heavy sour crude oil (oil of less than 30°API gravity), which has a smaller and more 
concentrated market, and is more exposed to volatility than the overall market for crude oil.

  
On June 28, 2004, PDVSA Finance launched a cash tender offer for any and all of its outstanding notes. Concurrently with the tender offer, the Company solicited from noteholders consents to 

amendments to certain provisions of the Senior Indenture, as supplemented, under which each series of notes were issued, and waivers of certain provisions of related transaction documents. Adoption 
of the proposed amendments required the consent of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all series then outstanding, voting as a single class. 
  

PDVSA Finance commenced the tender offer and consent solicitation to reduce its overall indebtedness, and to modify certain covenants and waive certain provisions under the Senior 
Indenture, as supplemented, and under the related transaction documents. The modifications were intended to provide PDVSA with greater financing flexibility by removing certain affiliates of PDVSA as 
Designated Customers, thereby reducing the receivables dedicated to PDVSA Finance. The proposed amendments modified certain covenants in the Senior Indenture, as supplemented, and the related 
transaction documents primarily to reflect such reduction.

  
Holders of an aggregate of approximately 96.34% in principal amount of the notes tendered and delivered their consents pursuant to the terms of the tender offer and consent solicitation. On 

August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance purchased all notes validly tendered in the tender offer. Amendments to certain provisions of the Senior Indenture, as supplemented, under which each series of notes 
were issued, and related transaction documents also were executed on this date.

  
After the settlement of the tender offer and consent solicitation on August 2, 2004, the following notes remain outstanding: 

  

________________
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Notes
  Outstanding Principal Amount Before 

Tender Offer  
Principal Amount 
Validly Tendered  

Outstanding Principal 
Amount After Tender 

Offer  
6.250% Euro Notes due 2006     Euro     88,400,000    87,449,258    950,742 
6.650% Notes due 2006     US$     300,000    291,693    8,307 
9.375% Notes due 2007     US$     250,000    243,980    6,020 
6.800% Notes due 2008     US$     300,000    293,859    6,141 
9.750% Notes due 2010     US$     250,000    225,810    24,190 
8.500% Notes due 2012     US$     500,000    471,133    28,867 
7.400% Notes due 2016     US$     400,000    387,335    12,665 
9.950% Notes due 2020     US$     100,000    97,050    2,950 
7.500% Notes due 2028     US$     400,000    394,790    5,210 

Total outstanding principal amount of notes:     US$     2,607,326(1) 
Total principal amount of notes tendered:     US$     2,511,822(1) 
Percentage of notes tendered, considered as a single class:          96.34%(1) 

(1) Using the US dollar/Euro exchange rate of 1.2141 as of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on July 26, 2004 (the expiration date of the tender offer). 
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PDVSA Finance funded its purchase of the tendered notes, and fees and expenses related to the tender offer and consent solicitation, by selling to PDVSA Petróleo its rights to future 

(ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable. 

  
On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 2016, 

9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
  

The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 
PDVSA Petróleo.

  
Taxation

  
The Cayman Islands currently impose no income, corporation or capital gains tax and no estate duty, inheritance tax or gift tax. On May 5, 1998, we received an Undertaking as to Tax 

Concessions pursuant to the Tax Concessions Law (1995 Revision, as amended) which provides that, for a period of 20 years from the date of issue of the undertaking, no law enacted in the Cayman 
Islands imposing any taxes or duty to be levied on income or capital assets, gains or appreciation will apply to any of our income or property. The only government charge payable by us in the Cayman 
Islands is an annual charge of $2,400 calculated based on the nominal amount of our authorized share capital. Stamp duty will be payable on any documents that are executed in or brought to the Cayman 
Islands.

  
We conduct our operations in the Cayman Islands and, according to the advice of our Venezuelan special tax counsel, we will not be subject to taxation in Venezuela other than with respect to 

income generated as a result of the purchase of receivables at a discount from PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, to the extent such income originated from Venezuela. Under 
Venezuelan tax law, if we are considered an “offshore financial institution not domiciled in Venezuela,” or a “qualified financial institution,” any income originating from Venezuela that we receive by 
purchasing Receivables at a discount under the Receivables Purchase Agreement would be subject to income tax at the rate of 4.95%. No Venezuelan tax, administrative or judicial authority has yet 
addressed whether a special purpose vehicle like PDVSA Finance qualifies as a qualified financial institution, and we have received no ruling or opinion from the Venezuelan tax authorities on this issue. 
As recently amended, the Venezuelan income tax law indicates that any entity that has been qualified as a financial institution by the competent authorities of its country of establishment constitutes a 
qualified financial institution for Venezuelan income tax purposes. Based solely on the interpretation of the relevant Venezuelan statutes, our special Venezuelan tax counsel has advised us that given the 
nature of our operations we should continue to be considered a qualified financial institution.

  

Results of Operations — December 31, 2004 compared to December 31, 2003 
  

Revenues

  
Our revenues are primarily composed of discounts on purchased accounts receivable from designated customers. Our revenues also include other income attributable to earnings on amounts 

invested in temporary cash investments during the period, including on amounts held overnight in the collection account pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement and amounts earned through 
the liquidity facility that was established pursuant to the Fiscal Agency Agreement. See “Item 10.C Material contracts.” 
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The following table sets forth the amount of revenues and the source of revenues earned during the periods indicated.

  

  
Purchased accounts receivable from designated customers include future eligible receivables (i.e., accounts receivable which we have paid for pursuant to the Receivable Purchase Agreement 

but which have not yet been generated by PDVSA Petróleo, in each case as of the date of the corresponding balance sheet) as well as current eligible receivables (i.e., accounts receivable which we have 
paid for and which have been generated by PDVSA Petróleo as of the date of the corresponding balance sheet).

  
The decrease in discounts on future purchased eligible receivables was due primarily to the decrease in the rights to future (ungenerated) accounts receivable caused by the repayment of 

$2,621 million of principal in 2004, including $2,512 million resulting from the offer to purchase that PDVSA Finance completed on August 2, 2004. 
  

Due to the nature of our business, our sources of revenue are unlikely to change in the future.

  
Revenue from the discount on purchased accounts receivable is recorded as income when earned as follows:

  

  

  
The discount relating to the period from generation until the current eligible receivable becomes due and payable by the designated customer is recorded as income when earned during this 

period using the interest method. Any unearned discount at the financial statements date is recorded as deferred income.

  
The total amount of the discount on each purchased eligible receivable (i.e., the total revenue generated by each purchased eligible receivable) is determined by discounting the invoice amount 

of the eligible receivable for the period from the date on which the purchase price for the eligible receivable was paid to PDVSA Petróleo to the day on which the purchased eligible receivable is due from 
the designated customer. The discount rate is equal in each case to the weighted average of the yield of our outstanding indebtedness on the day the price for the eligible receivable was paid to PDVSA 
Petróleo (as adjusted to reflect certain costs and expenses, including taxes, incurred by us in connection with the issuance of debt and the purchase of eligible receivables), plus 50 basis points. The 
discount rates applied to the purchase of eligible receivables as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003 were 9.43% and 8.68%, respectively. The discount rates applicable to eligible receivables 
purchased after December 31, 2004 are determined based on the weighted average yield of our outstanding indebtedness at the time that we pay to PDVSA Petróleo the purchase price for given eligible 
receivables (as adjusted to reflect certain costs and expenses, including taxes, incurred by us in connection with the issuance of debt and the purchase of eligible receivables), plus 50 basis points. 
  

Eligible receivables of designated customers are purchased in the order in which they are first generated, and the amount of generated eligible receivables owing from any designated customer, 
including affiliates of PDVSA, is not subject to any concentration limit and is entirely dependent on the volumes of oil and product purchased by these designated customers from PDVSA Petróleo during 
the preceding 30 days and the price charged by PDVSA Petróleo for each such sale. Accordingly, the amount of revenues derived from discounts on purchased receivables paid by any designated 
customer or any group of designated customers, including affiliates of PDVSA, and the percentage of total sales to designated customers represented by sales to any customer or group of customers, are 
subject to continuous change.
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    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003  
    ($ in thousands)  
         
Discounts on future purchased eligible receivables     6,743    36,927 
Discounts on current purchased eligible receivables     232,253    339,162 
Other income     1,289    3,422 

Total revenues     240,285    379,511 

  ·  Discounts on future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable are determined by applying the relevant discount rate to the average daily balance of the future eligible receivables. 

  ·  Discounts on current purchased accounts receivable are determined by applying the relevant discount rate to the invoice amount of the receivable based on the number of days from 
generation until the current eligible receivable becomes due and payable by the designated customer.
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Interest Expense

  
Interest expense, which consists of interest paid and accrued on our outstanding indebtedness, amounted to $151.1 million and $254.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, 

respectively.

  
The decrease in our interest expense is due principally to the repayment of $2,621 million of our outstanding long-term debt in 2004. 

  
Foreign Exchange

  
During 1999, we undertook Euro debt amounting to Euro 200 million and recorded unrealized and realized exchange gains of $9.0 million during the year ended December 31, 2004 and unrealized 

and realized exchange losses of $12.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2003, resulting principally from the fluctuation of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar. 
  

On January 28, 2000, we entered into a cross-currency swap agreement in respect of our Euro 200 million 6.250% notes due 2002 through 2006, issued on April 8, 1999. The agreement provides 
protection to us in respect of interest and principal payments from changes in the rate of exchange of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar during the terms of these notes. The agreement contains a “knock-
in” provision, which eliminates protection to us in respect of principal payments above a 1.09 U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate if during the term of the agreement the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reaches 
or exceeds 1.2.

  
As of November 28, 2003 the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reached 1.20. Due to the knock-in provision in the cross-currency swap agreement the effect on the financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2003 was to reduce net income by approximately $19 million representing the unrealized exchange loss on the Euro debt for the difference between the exchange rate of 1.26 and 1.09. 
  

Commencing January 1, 2001, upon adopting IAS 39, our cross-currency swap agreement is being accounted for as a derivative financial instrument. As a result, our financial results were 
affected by the volatility caused by marking the contract to market and recording such results in our income statement. During the year ended December 31, 2004 the Company recorded a loss on the 
cross-currency swap of US$1.9 million, representing an unrealized loss of US$4.3 million less a realized gain on unwinding the swap agreement of US$2.4 million. During the year ended December 31, 2003 
we reported a gain of US$13.1 million, resulting from the change in fair value of the cross-currency swap. 
  

On August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance repaid approximately 98.92% of the Euro 6.25% notes due 2006 that remained outstanding upon completion of a tender offer after which an aggregate 
principal amount of Euro 950,742 of such notes remained outstanding. 

  
On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 

2016, 9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
  

The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 
PDVSA Petróleo.
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Because substantially all of PDVSA Finance’s Euro notes were repaid by the company in connection with the tender offer, PDVSA Finance unwound its cross-currency swap agreement in 

respect of the Euro notes, effective July 28, 2004 (the “Cancellation Date”). As a result, PDVSA Finance currently is no longer a party to any cross-currency swap agreement in respect of its outstanding 
Euro notes.

  
Based on the value of the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate on the Cancellation Date of 1.20, PDVSA Finance made a one-time gain on the transaction of US$2.5 million, which was collected in cash. 

Because PDVSA Finance considers the amount of Euro notes that currently remain outstanding to be immaterial from a currency-risk standpoint, the Company has not entered, nor does it plan to enter, 
into another cross-currency swap to cover such risk in respect of the Euro notes. 
  

General and Administrative Expenses

  
Our general and administrative expenses include primarily expenses incurred in connection with services rendered to us by Petróleos de Venezuela and certain of its subsidiaries. Eligible 

receivables purchased by us under the Receivables Purchase Agreement are serviced, managed, administered and collected by PDVSA Petróleo acting as servicer pursuant to the Servicing and Collection 
Agency Agreement, dated as of April 27, 1998, among PDVSA Petróleo, Petróleos de Venezuela and Citibank, N.A. filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission as exhibit 10.2 to the 1998 
registration statement. General and administrative expenses amounted to $9.2 million and $7.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, attributable primarily to fees paid to 
PDVSA Petróleo, as servicer, amounting to $9.1 million in 2004 (based on collections of $11,481 million for that year) and $7.2 million in 2003 (based on collections of $9,016 million for that year). 
  

Income Tax

  
As a foreign qualified financial institution, we are subject to income tax in Venezuela with respect to our income of Venezuelan origin. Such income tax, which corresponds to amounts payable by 

us on our income of Venezuelan origin attributable to the purchase of accounts receivable from PDVSA Petróleo at a discount, amounted to $11.8 million and $18.6 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. Under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, PDVSA Petróleo must indemnify us and hold us harmless against any tax payable by us in connection with the 
transactions contemplated in the Receivables Purchase Agreement and transfer to us, whether in cash or as additional receivables, additional amounts sufficient to offset any withholding or deduction 
made on account of any taxes.

  
Results of Operations - December 31, 2003 compared to December 31, 2002 
  

Revenues

  
The following table sets forth the amount of revenues and the source of revenues earned during the periods indicated.

  

  
Purchased accounts receivable from designated customers include future eligible receivables (i.e., accounts receivable which we have paid for pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement 

but which have not yet been generated by PDVSA Petróleo, in each case as of the date of the corresponding balance sheet) as well as current eligible receivables (i.e., accounts receivable which we have 
paid for and which have been generated by PDVSA Petróleo as of the date of the corresponding Balance Sheet)
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    Year ended December 31,  
    2003   2002  
    ($ in thousands)  
           
Discounts on future purchased eligible receivables   $ 36,927  $ 58,250 
Discounts on current purchased eligible receivables     339,162    324,576 
Other income     3,422    3,680 

Total revenues   $ 379,511  $ 386,506 
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The decrease in discounts on future purchased eligible receivables was due primarily to the decrease in the rights to future (ungenerated) accounts receivable caused by the repayment of $352 

million of principal in 2003, and to an increased in our rights to current purchased eligible receivable.

  
Interest Expense

  
Interest expense, which consists of interest paid and accrued on our outstanding indebtedness, amounted to $254.4 million and $276.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, 

respectively.

  
The decrease in our interest expense is due principally to the repayment of $352 million of our outstanding long-term debt in 2003. 

  
Foreign Exchange

  
During 1999, we undertook Euro dollar debt amounting to Euro 200 million and recorded unrealized and realized exchange losses during the years ended December 31, 2003 of $12.8 million, and 

unrealized exchange gains of $26.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2002, resulting principally from the fluctuation of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar.  
  

On January 28, 2000, we entered into a cross-currency swap agreement in respect of our Euro 200 million 6.250% notes due 2002 through 2006, issued on April 8, 1999. The agreement provides 
protection to us in respect of interest and principal payments from changes in the rate of exchange of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar during the terms of these notes. The agreement contains a “knock-
in” provision, which eliminates protection to us in respect of principal payments above a 1.09 U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate if during the term of the agreement the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reaches 
or exceeds 1.2.

  
As of November 28, 2003 the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reached 1.20. Due to the knock-in provision in the cross-currency swap agreement the effect on the financial statements for the year 

ended December 31, 2003 was to reduce net income by approximately $19 million representing the unrealized exchange loss on the Euro debt for the difference between the exchange rate of 1.26 and 1.09. 
  

Commencing January 1, 2001, upon adopting IAS 39, our cross-currency swap agreement is being accounted for as a derivative financial instrument. As a result, our financial results were 
affected by the volatility caused by marking the contract to market and recording such results in our income statement. During the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, we reported gains of $13.1 
million and $28.8 million, respectively, resulting from the change in fair value of the cross-currency swap. 
  

General and Administrative Expenses

  
Our general and administrative expenses include primarily expenses incurred in connection with services rendered to us by Petróleos de Venezuela and certain of its subsidiaries. Eligible 

receivables purchased by us under the Receivables Purchase Agreement are serviced, managed, administered and collected by PDVSA Petróleo acting as servicer pursuant to the Servicing and Collection 
Agency Agreement. General and administrative expenses amounted to $7.6 million and $8.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, attributable primarily to the fee paid to the 
servicer amounting to $7.2 million in 2003 (based on collections of $9,016 million for that year) and $7.7 million in 2002 (based on collections of $9,623 million for that year). 
  

Income Tax

  
As a foreign qualified financial institution, we are subject to income tax in Venezuela with respect to our income of Venezuelan origin. Such income tax, which corresponds to amounts payable by 

us on our income of Venezuelan origin attributable to the purchase of accounts receivable from PDVSA Petróleo at a discount, amounted to $18.6 million and $18.9 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, PDVSA Petróleo must indemnify us and hold us harmless against any tax payable by us in connection with the 
transactions contemplated in the Receivables Purchase Agreement and transfer to us, whether in cash or as additional receivables, additional amounts sufficient to offset any withholding or deduction 
made on account of any taxes.
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Overview

  
Our sources of liquidity are:

  

  

  

  
Collections on Purchased Receivables during any given period will be determined by the volume of eligible receivables generated by PDVSA Petróleo, which in turn will be affected by volumes 

of oil and products exported and international oil prices. Current eligible receivables (i.e., accounts receivable which have been generated by PDVSA Petróleo) are, by their payment terms, payable in full 
no later than sixty (60) days (or any longer period of up to 90 days that becomes the prevailing practice in the international oil business) after the date of the bill of lading with respect to the shipment to 
which such receivable relates. Under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as amended effective on August 2, 2004, as a result of PDVSA’s offer to purchase and consent solicitation, PDVSA is not 
required to generate any amount of eligible receivables within any specified period. Accordingly, until future eligible receivables have been generated and thereby become current, it is not possible to 
determine their payments terms. However, PDVSA Petróleo is required to cause the monthly average amount of eligible receivables of designated customers generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any 
consecutive twelve-month period that are not subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement to represent the lesser of (1) 27 million barrels (or 4.5 million 
barrels, effective as of August 2, 2004) of crude oil of less than 30°API gravity and (2) 80% (or 40% effective as of August 2, 2004) of its total eligible receivables generated from sales of crude oil of less 
than 30° API gravity. Furthermore, pursuant to the terms of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, we may not permit the debt service coverage ratio defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement to be less than 4 to 1 
on any date of determination defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement. See “Item 10.C Material contracts.” 
  

We use collections from accounts receivable purchased by us as well as the proceeds from our debt issuances to service or refinance our existing indebtedness, to purchase eligible receivables 
of designated customers in accordance with the Receivables Purchase Agreement and for general corporate purposes. We transfer funds from collections received by us in respect of purchased 
receivables, other than funds applied to service or refinance existing indebtedness or for other corporate purposes as permitted by the covenants set forth in our debt instruments to PDVSA Petróleo on a 
daily basis to purchase additional eligible receivables of designated customers. Pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, eligible receivables of designated customers are purchased in the order 
they are generated (i.e., in the order that oil and other products are shipped). PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to generate eligible receivables of designated customers is dependent upon international prices for 
oil and products and volumes of oil and products exported to designated customers.

  
The period from the date on which we pay the purchase price of an eligible receivable to PDVSA Petróleo to the date on which the eligible receivable is paid by the designated customer is 

directly related to international prices for oil and products, volumes of oil and products exported to designated customers and the frequency of shipments. An increase in international prices for oil and 
products which is not offset by a decrease in the frequency of shipments and/or in the volume of oil and products sold to designated customers will reduce the period between the payment of the 
purchase price for the eligible receivable by us and the recovery of those funds through payments by the designated customers, since the dollar amount of eligible receivables generated in any given 
period will increase although volumes of oil and products purchased and the frequency of shipments remain unchanged. Similarly, a decrease in international prices for oil and products which is not offset 
by an increase in the frequency of shipments and/or the volume of oil and products sold to designated customers will increase the period between the payment of the purchase price for the eligible 
receivable by us and the recovery of those funds through payments by the designated customers, since the dollar amount of eligible receivables generated in any given period will decrease although 
volumes of oil and products sold to designated customers and the frequency of shipments remained unchanged.
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5.B. Liquidity and capital resources

  ·  our collections on purchased receivables;

  ·  proceeds from any debt issuances; and

  ·  additional capital contributions.
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Additionally, a reduction in international oil prices that is not offset by an increase in the volume of oil and products exported to eligible customers or the failure of designated customers to make 

timely payments with respect to purchased receivables could result in a decrease in the level of collections and, as a result, affect our liquidity. 
  

A majority of PDVSA’s crude oil customers receive shipments on a regular basis. In the aggregate, such shipments are for relatively constant volumes throughout the year. As a result, other 
than with respect to certain U.S. producers of asphalt that purchase crude oil primarily from late spring through early fall, there is little seasonality in PDVSA’s sales volumes of crude oil and, 
consequently, little seasonality in the level of our collections.

  
In our opinion, we have sufficient working capital for our present requirements.

  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities

  
Our net cash provided by our operating activities was approximately $42.3 million in 2004, compared to approximately $46.8 million in 2003. The decrease in cash flows from our operation was due 

principally to a reduction in the income from discount on purchased accounts receivable, net of interest expense.

  
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

  
Our net cash provided by investing activities was approximately $2,411.6 million in 2004, compared to approximately $72.4 million in 2003. The increase in cash flows from our investing activities 

was primarily due to an increase in collection of accounts receivable, offset in part by the repayment which PDVSA Petróleo made to PDVSA Finance for the repurchase of debt made on August 2, 2004.

  
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

  
We did not issue additional debt in 2004 and 2003. Our net cash flows used in financing activities of approximately $2,620.8 million in 2004 and approximately $351.3 million in 2003, represent debt 

repayments. A summary of our outstanding long-term debt at year end follows: 
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    December 31,  
    2004   2003  
    ($ in thousands)  
6.450% Notes due 2002 through 2004   -  50,000 
6.650% Notes due 2004 through 2006     6,920    300,000 
6.800% Notes due 2007 through 2008     6,141    300,000 
7.400% Notes due 2014 through 2016     12,665    400,000 
7.500% Notes due 2027 through 2028     5,210    400,000 
8.558% Notes due 2009 through 2013     260,000    260,000 
8.750% Notes due 2000 through 2004     -    28,000 
9.375% Notes due 2004 through 2007     5,165    250,000 
9.750% Notes due 2008 through 2010     24,190    250,000 
9.950% Notes due 2018 through 2020     2,950    100,000 
6.250% Euro denominated Notes due 2002 through 2006     930    142,383 
10.395% Notes due 2012 through 2014     38,000    38,000 
8.500% Notes due 2010 through 2012     28,867    500,000 
      391,038    3,018,383 
Less current portion of long-term debt     (7,984)   (225,887)

             
Total long-term debt     383,054    2,792,496 
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As of December 31, 2004, the maturity and repayment schedule for our debt is as follows:

  

  
See note 6 to our financial statements for further discussion on our debt obligations.

  
On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 

2016, 9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, and the bonds are no longer 
rated by the Credit Rating Agencies.

  
The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 

PDVSA Petróleo.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
See “Item 5.A Operating results - Overview and Trends”. 

  

  
We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements that have, or are reasonably expected to have, a current or future effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition, results of 

operations or liquidity, in each case, the disclosure of which would be material to investors.
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Expected Maturities   Fixed RateDebt  
    ($ in millions)  

2005     8 
2006     3 
2007     4 
2008     13 
2009     64 

Thereafter     299 
Total     391 

5.C. Research and development, patents and licenses

5.D. Trend information

5.E. Off-balance sheet arrangements 

5.F. Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations

   
Payments Due by Period

($ in millions)  

 
 

Total  

Less
than 1
year  

1-3 
years  

3-5 
years  

More
than 5
years  

Long-Term Debt Obligations at December 31, 2004     391    8    20    187    176 
Total     391    8    20    187    176 
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On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 

2016, 9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
  

The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 
PDVSA Petróleo.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  

  
In accordance with Cayman Islands law and our memorandum and articles of association, we are managed by our board of directors. Our board of directors is responsible for preparing our year-

end accounts and presenting them at, and convening, shareholders meetings. Our board of directors is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring our financial performance and strategy. 
  

We currently have six members on our board of directors, comprising four principal directors and two alternate directors. All appointments to the board of directors are made annually by 
Petróleos de Venezuela, our sole shareholder.

  
Our current board of directors and executive officers are as follows:

  

  
Set forth below is a description of the business experience and present principal occupations of each member of our board of directors and our executive officers: 

  
Eudomario Carruyo was appointed our Principal Director and President in 2005. Mr. Carruyo is also currently Director of Petróleos de Venezuela since January 2005. Mr. Carruyo received a 

Public Accounting Degree from the Universidad del Zulia in 1972. He has completed several specialization and post-graduate courses in the areas of Finance and Management in Columbia University, in 
New York, and Michigan University, in Ann Arbor. He had a training assignment in international banking at Chase Manhattan Bank, in New York. He has 38 years of experience in the domestic oil and 
petrochemical industry. He started his career in the Corporación Venezolana del Petróleo (CVP), a PDVSA subsidiary, in 1964. Between 1964 and 1987 he held the following positions: Corporate Treasury 
Manager, Corporate Comptroller Manager, Corporate Budget and Economic Evaluation Manager, Corporate Costs Manager, Finance Manager for the Western Division, Finance Manager for the San 
Tomé Area, Finance Manager for the El Palito Refinery and President of the Bidding Committee. In 1991 he was transferred to Palmaven, PDVSA’s affiliate, where he worked for six years (1992-1997), 
acting as Finance Manager and later as Director of this affiliate. Simultaneously, and as a Palmaven representative, he sat on the Boards of Directors of several of its businesses. In 1997 he retired from the 
oil industry and then re-entered as PDVSA’s Statutory Auditor from April 2000 until December 2002 (first as assistant and then as Principal). In January 2003, he was appointed Finance Executive Director 
for PDVSA and held this position until June of the same year when he was designated Director of the following affiliates: CITGO Corporation, PDVSA Finance, PDVSA Insurance, PDV Holding, and the 
Pension Funds Association. Since July 2003, he has acted as Pequiven Director, coordinating the closure of PDVSA and its affiliates fiscal year 2002 and the preparation of operational financial reports 
both for internal use and for the SEC. Simultaneously with his responsibilities at Pequiven, he also acts as Director of the following businesses and affiliates: Fertinitro, Monómeros Colombo-
Venezolanos, Metor International, Produven, Super Octanos, Supermetanol, Tripoliven, Clorozulia, Coramer, Olefinas del Zulia, Polinter, Propilven, Pralca, Produsal, Servifertil, International Petrochemical 
Holding LTD (IPHL), International Petrochemical Sales Limited (IPSL), Copequim, Grupo Zuliano and Sofilago. He was appointed Director of PDVSA in January 2005, serving concurrently as Director of 
CITGO Petroleum Corporation, Director of PDVSA Petróleo S.A., Director of Deltaven S.A., Vice-President of PDV Marina, President of PDVSA Finance and President of PDV Insurance.
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5.G. Safe harbor

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees

6.A. Directors and senior management

Name   Position with PDVSA Finance   Year of Appointment   Age  
Eudomario Carruyo   Principal Director and President   2005   61  
Jesús Villanueva   Principal Director and Vice President   2005   58  
Antonio Simancas Cardozo   Principal Director and Financial Manager   2005   58  
Michael Austin   Independent Director   1998   70  
Hector Gamboa   Alternate Director and Treasury Manager   2006   49  
Asdrúbal Chávez   Alternate Director   2005   52  
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Jesús Villanueva was appointed our Principal Director and Vice President in 2005. Mr. Villanueva has a Bachelor’s degree in Public Accounting and received a Master degree in Hydrocarbons 

Economy and Management from Universidad Central de Venezuela in 1988. He started his professional activities in 1974 as Assistant in the Auditing Division of Espiñeira Sheldon y Asociados (Price 
Waterhouse Coopers) where he worked until 1982. He joined the Venezuelan oil industry in 1982 at Meneven, then a PDVSA subsidiary. During his professional career he has held different supervising 
and managerial positions in San Tomé, Anaco, Puerto La Cruz and Caracas, in Auditing and Finances for Meneven and Corpoven. Beginning in February 2002, he acted as Principal Director for PDVSA 
and later on went back to his former position as General Auditor. He was appointed Director of PDVSA in January 2005. He has been internationally certified as Internal Auditor by the Institute of Internal 
Auditors (1999) and a Certified Fraud Examiner (2004).

  
Antonio Simancas Cardozo was appointed as our Principal Director in 2005. Mr. Simancas was appointed the new Chief Financial Officer by the Human Resources Committee of PDVSA. He has a 

Bachelor’s degree from the Central University of Venezuela in 1973. He holds a Master’s degree in Economic Sciences from Oklahoma State University and specializations in Business Law from the Santa 
Maria University, Venezuela and took Management and Marketing from University of Tennessee. Mr. Simancas has worked as a business consultant, Finance Manager for a subsidiary of the Cisneros 
Group, General Director of the Venezuelan Institute of Social Security, Controller for the Social Investment Fund of Venezuela, Technical Manager and General Manager for the Superintendence of Banks, 
Controller for the National Council for Scientific and Technological Investigations. At PDVSA, he has been Petroleum Accounting Corporate Manager, Accounting and Budget Manager in the 
Production Division, Finance Manager in Bariven Europe, Financing Manager for PDVSA’s subsidiary Bariven and International Finance Advisor. He also acts as Director of the following business and 
affiliates: PDV Insurance and the Pension Funds Association.

  
Michael Austin was appointed as an Independent Director in April 1998. Mr. Austin, a resident of the Cayman Islands, is a Chartered Accountant. He was admitted as an Associate of the 

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales in 1964 and as a Fellow in 1969. He is an Associate Member of The Chartered Institute of Taxation, a Member of the Society of Trust and Estate 
Practitioners, and a Notary Public of the Cayman Islands. Mr. Austin was the managing partner of the Cayman Islands office of KPMG Peat Marwick, an international accounting firm, for 23 years after 
which he served as a director of the Cayman Islands Monetary Authority from January, 1997 and was appointed Chairman of the board in January 2003, a position he held until his retirement on July 31, 
2004.

  
Hector Gamboa was appointed as our Alternate Director and Treasury Manager in March 2006. He is also currently the Treasury Manager of Petróleos de Venezuela. Mr. Gamboa graduated with 

a Bachelor’s degree in business administration from the University of Louisiana - Lafayette in 1980. He also has a Master’s degree in business administration from the Institute of Superior Business 
Studies “IESA” Caracas. He joined the Venezuelan National Oil Industry in 1980 and worked at the eastern Exploration and Production districts for 12 years. In PDVSA’s headquarters he was an 
administration supervisor and a senior planning analyst. He has also been adviser for the Corporate Finance Director (CFO), Business Financial Evaluation Manager and Corporate Financing, 
Investments and Insurance Manager. Currently, he is PDVSA’s Corporate Treasurer and Director of the Pension Funds Association and Director of PDV Insurance Co. 
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Asdrúbal Chávez was appointed as our Alternate Director in 2005. Mr. Chávez graduated as a Chemical Engineer from Universidad de Los Andes in 1979. He joined the Venezuelan oil industry in 

1979 at PDVSA’s El Palito refinery, as Startup Engineer for PAEX, the refinery’s major expansion project. He held various positions in areas such as Industrial Services, Distillation and Specialties, 
Conversion and Treatment, Crude and Products Movement, Programming and Economics, and Process Engineering. In 1989 he was assigned to UOP, in the USA. In 1990 he was named leader of the 
Project to expand El Palito’s Crude and Vacuum Distillation units. From 1995 to 1999 he held various supervisory and managerial positions, and in 2000 PDVSA’s presidency seconded him on a temporary 
basis to the Ministry of Production and Commerce to assist it, first in the restructuring of the Ministry, and then in the Economic Constituent Process. In 2001 he was assigned to PDVSA’s Bitúmenes del 
Orinoco (BITOR) subsidiary as Human Resources Manager, and led the team that worked on the restructuring part of the company’s expansion project. In 2002 he was named Assistant to the BITOR 
Board of Directors, and in January 2003 he was appointed Manager of the El Palito Refinery. In August 2003 he was named Executive Director for Human Resources at PDVSA, and in March of 2004, he 
was appointed Executive Director for Trading and Supply, having also been leader of the team which negotiated the 2004-2006 Collective Labor Contract. In January 2005, he was appointed Director of 
PDVSA, responsible for Commerce and Supply and President of PDV Marina and BITOR, PDVSA’s subsidiaries and Director of CITGO Petroleum Corporation, PDVSA’s affiliate based in Houston, TX, 
USA.

  

  
Most of our directors and senior management also serve as directors or senior management of Petróleos de Venezuela. The employee directors receive no additional compensation. For the year 

ended December 31, 2004, we compensated our independent principal director in the amount of $10,061 for services rendered. 
  

  
The dates of appointment our current directors and executive officers are set forth under “Item 6.A Directors and senior management.” Our directors and executive officers do not have set terms 

of appointment. We have not entered into any service or employment contracts with any of our directors and executive officers. We currently do not have any audit or remuneration committees. 
  

  
PDVSA Finance has no employees. Our day-to-day operations, including the servicing and collections of our accounts receivable, are managed by employees of Petróleos de Venezuela. 

  

  
As of November 1, 2006, we had 200,000,000 shares of common stock outstanding. All of our issued and outstanding shares of common stock are owned by Petróleos de Venezuela. 

  

  

  
We are a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, the wholly owned national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. The Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela exercises its 

ownership of Petróleos de Venezuela through the Ministry of Energy and Mines of the executive branch of the Venezuelan government. Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance are parties to a 
Separateness Agreement, which provides that PDVSA Finance shall take all reasonable steps to continue its identity as a separate and distinct legal entity and Petróleos de Venezuela shall hold and 
cause its affiliates to hold PDVSA Finance as a separate and distinct legal entity operating under its own name.
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Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions

7.A. Major shareholders
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We have entered into the following agreements with Petróleos de Venezuela and/or PDVSA Petróleo: the Receivables Purchase Agreement, the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement and 

the Separateness Agreement between PDVSA Finance and Petróleos de Venezuela. See “Item 10.C Material contracts” for a description of the Receivables Purchase Agreement and the Servicing and 
Collection Agency Agreement. Each of the above agreements was filed as an exhibit to our 2003 annual report. For additional information on our related party transactions, see note 7 to our financial 
statements.

  

  

  
Financial statements and Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  
See “Item 18. Financial Statements” for our audited financial statements and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

  
Legal proceedings

  
On April 11, 2003, an action was filed against Petróleos de Venezuela, PDVSA Petróleo, PDVSA Finance and CITGO Petroleum Corporation in a federal district court in Denver, Colorado. The 

plaintiff is a U.S. oil and gas exploration and production company that has allegedly entered into an exclusive offshore license agreement with the government of Grenada to explore, develop, produce and 
market oil and/or natural gas in 4.75 million offshore acres between Grenada and Venezuela. The plaintiff alleges that PDVSA has interrupted and otherwise interfered with its ability to develop and market 
Granada’s oil and natural gas resources in violation of the U.S. antitrust laws. The plaintiff seeks damages in an amount to be established at trial that it believes should exceed $100 million. On 
November 17, 2003, the plaintiff withdrew its action against PDVSA Finance.

  
Dividend policy

  
We do not have a formal dividend policy and have not distributed any dividends as of December 31, 2004.

  

  
There have been no significant changes since the date of the annual financial statements included in this document.

  

  

  
Our common stock is not registered and there is no trading market for our common stock. 

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
See “9.a Offering and listing details” for information regarding our common stock. Our senior notes 6.650% Notes due 2006, 9.375% Notes due 2007, 6.800% Notes due 2008, 9.750% Notes due 

2010, 7.400% Notes due 2016, 9.950% Notes due 2020 and 7.500% Notes due 2028 were listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange. Our 8.500% Notes due 2012 were not listed on any securities exchange. 
On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 2016, 9.95% 
bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
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The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 

PDVSA Petróleo.

  

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
PDVSA Finance incorporates by reference the information regarding its memorandum and articles of association included in the registration statement on Form F-4 of Petróleos de Venezuela and 

PDVSA Finance filed with the SEC on November 27, 1988.

  

  
The following is a summary of all material provisions of:

  

  

  

  

  
Each of the above-mentioned agreements was included as an exhibit to our 2003 annual report, and can be read at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s public reference facilities at 

Room 1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. These agreements are also available for inspection at the principal office of the Fiscal Agent in The City of New York, which is presently located at 
J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly, “The Chase Manhattan Bank”), Institutional Trust Services, 450 West 33rd Street, 15th Floor, New York, New York 10001. See “Annex A — Glossary of Certain Defined 
Terms Used Primarily Under “Item 10.C Material contracts” for the definition of capitalized terms used in the above-mentioned agreements. 
  
The Receivables Purchase Agreement

  
Pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as amended, PDVSA Finance purchases eligible receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo, and PDVSA Petróleo sells, 

without recourse (except as expressly provided therein), to PDVSA Finance all its present and future right, title and interest in, to and under Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers Generated and 
to be Generated by PDVSA Petróleo, subject in each case to the payment by PDVSA Finance of the Purchase Price for such Receivables. Eligible Receivables are purchased in the order in which they are 
generated. Under the Fiscal Agency Agreement, PDVSA Finance is required to apply the net proceeds of any Indebtedness incurred by it to pay the Purchase Price for Eligible Receivables purchased 
under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, service or refinance existing debt or for general corporate purposes as permitted by the Fiscal Agency Agreement. The Purchase Price is determined by 
discounting the face value of the Purchased Receivable by the number of days between the Purchase Date and the day on which the Purchased Receivable is due and payable according to its terms at a 
rate equal to the Discount Rate.
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Item 10. Additional Information
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10.C. Material contracts

  ·  the Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 27, 1998 (the “Receivables Purchase Agreement”), among PDVSA Finance, PDVSA Petróleo and Petróleos de Venezuela, as 
amended effective as of August 2, 2004;

  ·  the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, dated as of April 27, 1998 (the “Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement”), among PDVSA Finance, PDVSA Petróleo, Petróleos de 
Venezuela (as the Investment Manager) and Citibank, N.A. (as the initial Collection Agent);

  ·  the Senior Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998 (the “Indenture”), between PDVSA Finance Ltd. and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as trustee (the “Trustee”) as amended by the First 
Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998, the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 8, 1999, the Third Supplemental Indenture dated as of November 16, 2004, and the 
Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 12, 2004; and

  ·  the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of May 14, 1998 (as amended from time to time, the “Fiscal Agency Agreement”), between PDVSA Finance and The Chase Manhattan 
Bank, as fiscal and paying agent (together with its successors in such capacity, the “Fiscal Agent”) and Chase Manhattan Bank Luxembourg, S.A., as paying agent, as amended effective 
as of August 2, 2004.
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Representations and Warranties of PDVSA Petróleo. PDVSA Petróleo represents and warrants, as of each Purchase Date, that:

  

  

  

  

  

  
Covenants. PDVSA Petróleo has agreed, for the benefit of PDVSA Finance, to the following covenants:
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  (a) each Purchased Receivable and Designated Customer Notice of a Designated Customer is the legal, valid and binding obligation of such Designated Customer; 

  (b) upon consummation of any Sale of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers pursuant to the terms of the Receivables Purchase Agreement and attachment of PDVSA Finance’s 
ownership interest therein, PDVSA Finance will have a perfected ownership interest in such Purchased Receivables;

  (c) PDVSA Finance will have all right, title and interest of PDVSA Petróleo in the Purchased Receivables free and clear of any Lien attributable to PDVSA Petróleo;

  (d) each Designated Customer has executed a Designated Customer Notice; and

  (e) each Purchased Receivable has been Generated in compliance with the laws of Venezuela.

  (a) upon Generation, promptly to identify, or cause the Servicer to identify, any Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers for which the Purchase Price shall have been paid to PDVSA 
Petróleo;

  (b) to keep appropriate records and maintain and implement adequate administrative and operating procedures and permit representatives of PDVSA Finance to examine such documentation 
relating to the Generation, Sale, administration and collection of Purchased Receivables as shall be reasonable;

  (c) to cause the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers Generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive twelve-month period (except as provided 
below) and that are not subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement to represent at least the lesser of (x) 27 million barrels (or 4.5 million 
barrels effective as of August 2, 2004) of crude oil of less than 30° API gravity and (y) 80% (or 40% effective as of August 2, 2004) of PDVSA Petróleo’s total Eligible Receivables 
Generated from sales of crude oil of less than 30° API gravity. For purposes of determining compliance with this covenant for any period ending on or prior to December 31, 1998, the 
monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers will be determined solely by reference to months commencing on or after January 1, 1998, as if such Customers 
would have been Designated Customers in each of those months;

  (d) not to amend Designated Customer Notices without the prior written consent of PDVSA Finance and the Fiscal Agent;

  (e) to maintain in effect the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement;

  (f) to preserve and maintain its corporate existence;
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Guarantees; Indemnities. Petróleos de Venezuela has guaranteed the performance by PDVSA Petróleo of its obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement. However, none of the 
Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Petróleos de Venezuela, PDVSA Petróleo, CITGO, nor any of PDVSA’s other Subsidiaries in any way guarantees payment of the Purchased Receivables and 
neither the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Petróleos de Venezuela, PDVSA Petróleo nor any of Petróleos de Venezuela’s other Subsidiaries will be liable for nonpayment of any Purchased 
Receivable by any Designated Customer (other than a Designated Customer that is also an affiliate of PDVSA with respect to such Designated Customer’s Purchased Receivables). Neither 
Petróleos de Venezuela nor PDVSA Petróleo shall be liable to indemnify any Person in respect of any claims or losses suffered by PDVSA Finance as a result of a failure by any Designated 
Customer to make timely payments on account of Purchased Receivables.

  
Perfection of Claims. Neither the law of Venezuela nor the law of the Cayman Islands (or any political subdivision of Venezuela or the Cayman Islands) requires filing or recording for the 
perfection of an ownership interest in Purchased Receivables. Upon the consummation of any purchase and Sale of Receivables in accordance with the terms of the Receivables Purchase 
Agreement and the delivery of notice to the Designated Customers and the receipt by PDVSA Petróleo of a duly executed and completed acknowledgment thereof, no further filing, recording, 
notice or other act is required to confirm and perfect, or establish the priority of, PDVSA Finance’s ownership interest in the Purchased Receivables. Eligible Receivables are not evidenced by 
“instruments” (as defined in the UCC) and PDVSA Petróleo shall not take any action to cause any Purchased Receivable to be evidenced by an “instrument,” unless required for the collection, 
or for the enforcement, of any rights relating to a Receivable and PDVSA Petróleo shall promptly provide notice to PDVSA Finance of such action. PDVSA Petróleo has agreed in certain 
circumstances to inform PDVSA Finance of certain events relating to Designated Customers affecting the establishment of priority of claims. 
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  (g) to conduct all business transactions with PDVSA Finance on an arm’s-length basis according to industry standards; 

  (h) to take at its expense all further action, reasonably necessary and requested by PDVSA Finance, to protect or more fully evidence PDVSA Finance’s right, title and interest in the 
Purchased Receivables;

  (i) not to extend, make any adjustment to, rescind, cancel, amend or otherwise modify, or attempt or purport to extend, make any adjustment to, rescind, cancel, amend or otherwise modify, 
the terms of any Purchased Receivables, except as provided in the Receivables Purchase Agreement;

  (j) not to change its identity or corporate structure in any manner which would or might make any financing statement or continuation statement seriously misleading, or impair the perfection 
of PDVSA Finance’s interest in any Purchased Receivable without prior written notice to PDVSA Finance; 

  (k) not to treat the transactions contemplated under the Receivables Purchase Agreement in any manner, including in any financial statements, other than as sales of the Purchased 
Receivables originated by PDVSA Petróleo to PDVSA Finance, except in connection with the preparation of financial statements for tax or tax accounting purposes in accordance with 
applicable laws;

  (l) to perform all of the obligations required to be performed by it under each Contract relating to Purchased Receivables in accordance with and pursuant to the terms and provisions thereof, 
and to take all actions on its part reasonably necessary to maintain in full force and effect its rights under such Contracts; and 

  (m) to take or obtain, as the case may be, such action, consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority as may be required in connection 
with the transactions contemplated in the Receivables Purchase Agreement.
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Repurchase of Receivables. PDVSA Petróleo shall not have any (i) right, title or interest in or to the Purchased Receivables, (ii) obligation to repurchase the Purchased Receivables or (iii) right or 
obligation to substitute other Receivables for the Purchased Receivables, except as provided below. PDVSA Petróleo may at any time elect to repurchase from PDVSA Finance Purchased 
Receivables that are Affected Receivables at a price equal to the Purchase Price originally paid by PDVSA Finance for the Purchased Receivable being repurchased plus the Repurchase 
Adjustment. If at any time PDVSA Petróleo shall become aware that an Affected Receivable has become a Delinquent Receivable, that a Purchased Receivable has become a Disputed 
Receivable, or shall receive notice from or on behalf of PDVSA Finance that PDVSA Finance ceases to have a perfected first priority ownership interest in any Purchased Receivable as a result of 
any act or failure to act by PDVSA Petróleo, then the Sale of such Purchased Receivable will be rescinded and PDVSA Finance will return such Purchased Receivable to PDVSA Petróleo, and 
PDVSA Petróleo will, in consideration therefor, be required to transfer to PDVSA Finance an amount equal to the Net Invoice Amount of the Receivable being returned plus an amount (the 
“Rescission Adjustment”) determined by multiplying the Net Invoice Amount by (a) the applicable Discount Rate multiplied by (b) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days from 
and including the date on which such Receivable was initially purchased but excluding the repurchase date and the denominator of which is 360. Upon becoming aware of a failure by PDVSA 
Petróleo to comply with certain covenants, which failure has not been cured and is continuing, PDVSA Finance may give notice thereof to PDVSA Petróleo and upon receipt of such notice all 
sales of any or all Purchased Receivables (other than Purchased Receivables which have become Delinquent Receivables) sold to PDVSA Finance prior to such date with respect to which no 
Collections have been received by the Collection Agent, shall be rescinded and PDVSA Finance will return such Purchased Receivables to PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA Petróleo will, in 
consideration therefor, transfer to PDVSA Finance an amount equal to the Net Invoice Amount of the Receivables being returned plus the Rescission Adjustment. 

  
Assignment. PDVSA Petróleo will not assign its obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement other than (x) to Petróleos de Venezuela or its successor or an affiliate of Petróleos de 
Venezuela or its successor, or (y) in connection with a transaction that constitutes a Change of Control pursuant to clause (d) of the definition of Change of Control unless such Change of 
Control would give rise to a Rating Decline; provided that in each case the assignee expressly assumes, by an instrument executed and delivered to PDVSA Finance, in form satisfactory to 
PDVSA Finance, all the obligations of PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Purchase Agreement and that (i) (A) opinions of New York and Venezuelan counsel to the assignee substantially to 
the effect that (1) the Receivables Purchase Agreement is a valid and binding obligation of the assignee enforceable in accordance with its terms, (2) such Agreement is in the proper form to, and 
the execution and delivery thereof and the payment by PDVSA Finance of the Purchase Price for the Purchased Receivables in accordance with the terms of such Agreement constitutes all 
action required to, convey to PDVSA Finance all of such assignee’s right, title and interest in the Purchased Receivables and (3) all action has been taken to permit PDVSA Finance’s interest in 
the Purchased Receivables to be perfected upon attachment, which opinions may be subject to customary assumptions and qualifications and (B) an opinion of New York counsel to the 
assignee substantially to the effect that the Designated Customer Notices are valid and binding obligations of, and enforceable against, the Designated Customers under New York law, which 
opinions may be subject to customary assumptions and qualifications, and (ii) copies of Designated Customer Notices executed and delivered by the assignee and acknowledged by each of the 
Designated Customers, are delivered to PDVSA Finance prior to such assumption.

  
Immunity. Each of PDVSA Petróleo and Petróleos de Venezuela has agreed to waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any right of immunity, on the grounds of sovereignty or otherwise, 
from any legal action, arising out of or in connection with the Receivables Purchase Agreement, provided, however, each of PDVSA Petróleo and Petróleos de Venezuela has expressly reserved 
any rights it may have or obtain to claim immunity from attachment in aid of jurisdiction or from prejudgment attachment. 

  
Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of the parties has agreed that any action, suit or proceeding brought by or against it with respect to any matter under or arising out of or in any way connected 
with the Receivables Purchase Agreement or any document delivered pursuant to such agreement or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment rendered in such action, suit or proceeding 
may be brought in, and irrevocably accepts and submits in person, generally and unconditionally, to the jurisdiction of, the federal courts of the United States for the Southern District of New 
York (and the courts of appeal thereto), and if they cannot or will not hear such action, then to the jurisdiction of the state courts of the County and State of New York (and the courts of appeal 
thereto), with respect to such action, suit or proceeding for itself and in respect of such party’s property, assets and revenues. 
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Termination. The Receivables Purchase Agreement may be terminated by the parties at any time after 90 days after notification by the Fiscal Agent that PDVSA Finance has satisfied and 
discharged all of its obligations under any of its Indebtedness and such Indebtedness has ceased to be of further effect. 

  
The Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement

  
Under the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, Citibank, N.A. has been appointed to act as the initial Collection Agent and PDVSA Petróleo has been appointed to act as the Servicer. 
The Servicer services, manages, administers and collects any Receivables of Designated Customers that have been sold by PDVSA Petróleo to PDVSA Finance. 

  
Duties of the Collection Agent. Each Collection Agent is required to transfer amounts corresponding to PDVSA Finance’s interest in each Collection to PDVSA Finance, and any amounts 
corresponding to PDVSA Petróleo’s interest in each Collection to PDVSA Petróleo. No distribution in respect of Collections will be deemed definitive until the Servicer, relying on information 
supplied by PDVSA Petróleo, the relevant Collection Agent and the Designated Customers, determines the proper allocation of each Collection. PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA Finance have 
agreed to reverse any over-payments. Each Collection Agent will deliver a daily report to the Servicer indicating the amount of Collections deposited in its Collection Account. Each Collection 
Agent will transfer funds corresponding to PDVSA Finance’s interest in any Collection Account maintained with it by PDVSA Finance and PDVSA Petróleo in accordance with, and not later 
than one Business Day after, receiving payment instructions from the Servicer unless the Collection Agent has been instructed to transfer funds to the Retention Account as contemplated under 
“Description of the Fiscal Agency Agreement - Funding and Administration of Retention Account.” Amounts remaining in a Collection Account overnight shall be invested on behalf of PDVSA 
Finance as instructed by the Investment Manager. Collection Agents shall be under no obligation to any party to inquire as to the performance of any party under the Receivables Purchase 
Agreement and the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, nor to inspect the books, properties or records of PDVSA Petróleo or the Servicer. A Collection Agent may resign by giving at 
least 90 days’ notice. A Collection Agent may be removed following the failure to perform its duties or if it ceases to meet the qualifications specified in the Servicing and Collection Agency 
Agreement. PDVSA Finance will pay the Collection Agents reasonable and documented fees and reimburse the Collection Agents for their reasonable and documented expenses in connection 
with the performance of their obligations. Each Collection Agent shall be a bank organized under the laws of the United States or any State thereof or the branch of a foreign bank, in each case 
having an office located in New York City and meeting certain financial standards specified in the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. 

  
Duties of the Servicer. The Servicer has full power and authority to do all things necessary to service, manage, administer and collect any Receivable of a Designated Customer that has been 
sold by PDVSA Petróleo to PDVSA Finance, including the defense of the right, title and interest of PDVSA Finance (and, if applicable, PDVSA Petróleo), to the Receivables and Collections in 
respect thereto. The Servicer shall take all commercially reasonable steps to collect, and hold any Collections it may receive in trust, for the benefit of PDVSA Finance (and, if applicable, PDVSA 
Petróleo). The Servicer has covenanted (a) not to discharge any Purchased Receivable sold to PDVSA Finance nor to release any Designated Customer from its obligations with respect to any 
such Receivable without the consent of PDVSA Finance; (b) not to take any action or cause any person to take any action that would impair the rights of PDVSA Finance in any Purchased 
Receivable; (c) not to create, incur or assume any Lien upon or with respect to any Purchased Receivable (except as permitted by the Receivables Purchase Agreement); and (d) to furnish 
PDVSA Finance and the Collection Agent with an annual report prepared by an internationally recognized independent certified public accountant stating that the Servicer is in compliance, and 
that all related accounts, records and computer systems are properly prepared and maintained in accordance with the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. PDVSA Finance will pay the 
Servicer reasonable and documented fees and reimburse the Servicer for its reasonable and documented expenses in connection with the performance of its obligations. The Servicer has 
additionally covenanted that it will not resign so long as the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement remains in effect or Receivables are required to be Generated. PDVSA Finance may 
remove (a) PDVSA Petróleo as Servicer at any time following a failure to perform its material servicing obligations and such failure is continuing for 30 days following notice by PDVSA Finance, 
or willful breach by PDVSA Petróleo of any provision of the Receivables Purchase Agreement that restricts or prohibits the Sale of Receivables of any Designated Customer or results in 
Collections in respect of Purchased Receivables not being paid to the Collection Account, or (b) any successor Servicer at any time that a subsequent successor has been appointed. 
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Representations and Warranties of PDVSA Petróleo. PDVSA Petróleo has represented, among other things, that neither the execution, delivery nor performance by it of the Servicing and 
Collection Agency Agreement (a) contravenes any law or decree of any governmental authority of the United States, the Cayman Islands or Venezuela, (b) breaches any term of, constitutes a 
default under or results in the creation of a Lien upon any of its property or assets under any indenture, credit agreement or contract, or (c) violates any provision of its bylaws. PDVSA Petróleo 
has agreed to (w) invoice the Designated Customer receiving a shipment and instruct such Designated Customer to deposit all Collections in respect of Purchased Receivables into a Collection 
Account; and (x) maintain at its offices a file of all relevant documents relating to the Receivables for the benefit of PDVSA Finance and the Servicer. PDVSA Petróleo also indemnifies and holds 
harmless PDVSA Finance, each Collection Agent and any successor Servicer from all liabilities and losses resulting from any failure of PDVSA Petróleo to perform its obligations under the 
Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement.

  
Immunity. PDVSA Petróleo has agreed to waive, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any right of immunity, on the grounds of sovereignty or otherwise, from any legal action, arising out of or 
in connection with the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement; provided, however, PDVSA Petróleo has expressly reserved any rights it may have or obtain to claim immunity from 
attachment in aid of jurisdiction or from prejudgment attachment.

  
Submission to Jurisdiction. Each of the parties to the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement has agreed that any action, suit or proceeding brought by or against it with respect to any 
matter under or arising out of or in any way connected with the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement or any document delivered pursuant to such agreement or for recognition or 
enforcement of any judgment rendered in such action, suit or proceeding may be brought in, and to irrevocably accept and submit in person, generally and unconditionally to the jurisdiction of, 
the federal courts of the United States for the Southern District of New York (and the courts of appeal thereto), and if they cannot or will not hear such action, then to the jurisdiction of the state 
courts of the County and State of New York (and the courts of appeal thereto), with respect to such action, suit or proceeding for itself and in respect of such party’s property, assets and 
revenues.

  
The Indenture

  
PDVSA Finance has entered into a Senior Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998 (the “Indenture”), between PDVSA Finance and J.P. Morgan Chase Bank (formerly, “The Chase Manhattan Bank”), 

as Trustee (the “Trustee”). The Indenture provides for the issuance of debt securities from time to time in one or more series, denominated and payable in U.S. dollars or other currencies or units based on 
or relating to one or more currencies. The 6.45% Notes due 2004, 6.65% Notes due 2006, 6.80% Notes due 2008, 7.40% Notes due 2016 and 7.50% Notes due 2028 (collectively, the “1998 Senior Notes”) 
were issued under the Indenture, as supplemented by the First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998, between PDVSA Finance and the Trustee. On April 8, 1999, PDVSA Finance issued its 
8.750% Notes due 2004, 9.375% Notes due 2007, 9.750% Notes due 2010, 9.950% Notes due 2020 and 6.250% Notes due 2006 (collectively, the “1999 Senior Notes”) under the Indenture, as supplemented 
by the Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 8, 1999, between PDVSA Finance and the Trustee. On November 16, 2001, PDVSA Finance issued 8.50% Notes due 2012 under the Indenture, as 
supplemented by the Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2001, between PDVSA Finance and the Trustee (the “2001 Senior Notes; together with the 1999 Senior Notes and the 1998 
Senior Notes, the “Notes”). Effective August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance and the Trustee executed the Fourth Supplemental Indenture to amend certain sections of the Indenture and the supplemental 
indentures regarding reports to be provided by PDVSA Finance to the Trustee.
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The following summaries of certain provisions of the Indenture do not purport to be complete and are subject to the detailed provisions of the Indenture to which reference is hereby made for a 

full description of such provisions, including the definition of certain terms used herein, and for other information regarding the Notes. Furthermore, such provisions may be amended or supplemented for 
any series of notes issued under the Indenture pursuant to the terms of one or more supplemental indentures relating to such series of notes. Wherever particular sections or defined terms of the 
Indenture are referred to, such sections or defined terms are incorporated herein by reference as part of the statement made, and the statement is qualified in its entirety by such reference. 
  

General. All notes issued under the Indenture are or will be the direct, unconditional, senior, unsecured, general obligations of PDVSA Finance. The notes do or will rank equally in right of 
payment with all existing and future unsecured and unsubordinated Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance and will rank senior in right of payment to all existing and future subordinated Indebtedness 
of PDVSA Finance. None of the Liquidity Facility, the Retention Account or any other asset of PDVSA Finance will be pledged or subject to any lien, encumbrance or security interest in favor of 
the holders of the notes. The Indenture will permit PDVSA Finance to Incur additional Indebtedness subject to certain limitations. 

  
Covenants. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees that, so long as any amount payable under any note remains unpaid, it shall observe and perform each of the covenants set forth in the Fiscal 
Agency Agreement, which covenants are incorporated by reference in the Indenture as if fully set forth therein, in accordance with their terms. See “Item 10.C Material contracts - The Fiscal 
Agency Agreement - Certain Covenants.” PDVSA Finance also covenants under the Indenture to deliver periodically to the Trustee certain reports relating to the generation of Eligible 
Receivables by PDVSA Petróleo, the purchase of Receivables by PDVSA Finance and the receipt of Collections on such Purchased Receivables. In addition, PDVSA Finance agrees to deliver to 
the Trustee unaudited quarterly financial statements within 90 days after the last day of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year, beginning with the quarter ended June 30, 2004, and 
annual audited financial statements within six months after the last day of each fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, together with a certificate of an Authorized 
Officer of PDVSA Finance stating that no Event of Default has occurred and is then continuing or, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, stating such fact and including a 
description of the nature of such Event of Default and the actions that PDVSA Finance or any other Person proposes to take with respect thereto. The company has 60 additional days to file the 
required information with the Trustee before there is an Event of Default under the Indenture.

  
Events of Default. The Indenture incorporates by reference the events of default set forth in the Fiscal Agency Agreement and, in addition, provides that the occurrence of any of the following 
events shall all constitute an “Event of Default” with respect to each series of notes: 
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  (a) default in the payment of all or any part of the principal of any of the notes of such series when such becomes due and payable, whether at maturity, upon redemption, by 
declaration or otherwise;

  (b) default in the payment of any installment of interest upon or other amount in respect of any notes of such series (other than principal) and such default shall continue for 5 days 
or more;

  (c) the occurrence of any “Event of Default” set forth in the Fiscal Agency Agreement (see “Item 10.C Material contracts — The Fiscal Agency Agreement — Events of Default”); 

  (d) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or reorganization relating to PDVSA Finance, PDVSA Petróleo or Petróleos de Venezuela; or 

  (e) any other Event of Default provided in the supplemental indenture under which such series of notes is issued or in the form of note for such series. 
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The Indenture provides that following the occurrence and during the continuation of an Event of Default with respect to any series of notes, the Trustee, at the direction of the Holders of more 
than 50% (in the case of an Event of Default described under (a) or (b) under “— Events of Default” above) or 66 2/3% (in the case of any other Event of Default other than under (d) under “— 
Events of Default” above) of the Outstanding aggregate principal amount of the notes of such series, shall declare that all principal and interest due from PDVSA Finance under such series of 
notes shall become due and payable; provided that, upon certain conditions being met, such declaration may be annulled and past Events of Default may be waived (except a continuing Event of 
Default in payment of principal of (or premium, if any) or interest on such notes) by the Holders of the relevant percentage specified above of principal amount of the notes of all such affected 
series then Outstanding. In the case of an Event of Default described under (d) under “—Events of Default” above, the Trustee shall declare that all principal and interest due from PDVSA 
Finance under such series of notes shall become due and payable as soon as such Event of Default occurs.

  
The Indenture also provides that each holder of notes, upon becoming a holder of notes, shall be deemed to agree that such holder shall only be entitled to receive payment of accelerated 
amounts in respect of such notes and not claim or seek payment of such amounts other than subject to the limitations and provisions described under the caption “The Fiscal Agency 
Agreement — Payment of Accelerated Debt Service.” 

  
Modification of the Indenture. The Indenture provides that PDVSA Finance and the Trustee may enter into supplemental indentures without the consent of the holders of notes to: (a) secure 
any notes, (b) evidence the assumption by a successor corporation of the obligations of PDVSA Finance in accordance with the requirements of the Indenture, (c) add covenants for the 
protection of the Holders of notes, (d) cure any ambiguity or correct any inconsistency in the Indenture, (e) establish the forms or terms of notes of any series and (f) evidence the acceptance of 
appointment by a successor trustee.

  
The Indenture also contains provisions permitting PDVSA Finance and the Trustee, with the consent of the Holders of not less than a majority in aggregate principal amount of notes of all series 
then Outstanding and affected (voting as one class), to add any provisions to, or change in any manner or eliminate any of the provisions of, the Indenture (including any provision of the Fiscal 
Agency Agreement incorporated by reference in the Indenture) or modify in any manner the rights of the Holders of the notes of each series so affected; provided that PDVSA Finance and the 
Trustee may not, without the consent of the Holder of each Outstanding Note affected thereby, (a) extend the stated maturity of the principal of any Note, or reduce the principal amount thereof 
or reduce the rate or extend the time of payment of interest thereon, or reduce any amount payable on redemption thereof or change the currency in which the principal thereof (including any 
amount in respect of original issue discount), premium, if any, or interest thereon is payable or reduce the amount of any original issue discount security payable upon acceleration or provable in 
bankruptcy, alter the judgment currency section or alter certain provisions of the Indenture relating to the notes issued thereunder not denominated in U.S. dollars or impair the right to institute 
suit for the enforcement of any payment on any note when due or (b) reduce the aforesaid percentage in principal amount of notes of any series, the consent of the Holders of which is required 
for any such modification.

  
Redemption. The notes of any series may be redeemable, at the option of PDVSA Finance, and in accordance with the terms of the relevant supplemental indenture. 

  
The Fiscal Agency Agreement

  
PDVSA Finance has entered into a fiscal and paying agency agreement dated as of May 14, 1998 (as amended from time to time, the “Fiscal Agency Agreement”) between PDVSA Finance and 

The Chase Manhattan Bank, as fiscal and paying agent (together with its successors in such capacity, the “Fiscal Agent”) and Chase Manhattan Bank Luxembourg, S.A., as paying agent, as amended, 
effective August 2, 2004. The Fiscal Agent acts as the principal paying agent of PDVSA Finance for the payment of Debt Service in respect of all Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance. 
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The following are summaries of the material provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement. Such summaries are subject to the detailed provisions of the Fiscal Agency Agreement to which 

reference is hereby made for a full description of such provisions and for other information regarding the Fiscal Agency Agreement. No amendment to or waiver of any provision of the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement shall be binding upon any holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance unless such amendment or waiver is permitted by or approved in accordance with the terms of the Debt Agreement 
pursuant to which such Indebtedness is issued and outstanding.

  
Certain Covenants. The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains the following covenants made for the benefit of the holders of all Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance and with which PDVSA Finance 
shall comply for so long as any Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is issued and outstanding or any commitment to purchase or extend Indebtedness from or to PDVSA Finance is in effect, unless 
and to the extent excused as provided in the next following sentence. Individual Debt Agreements may require compliance with covenants in addition to, or may excuse PDVSA Finance from 
compliance with, the covenants set forth in the Fiscal Agency Agreement. However, such variations shall apply only to the Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance issued and outstanding under such 
Debt Agreements.

  
Negative Pledge. PDVSA Finance will not directly or indirectly Incur any Lien (other than a Permitted Lien) on or with respect to any Property of PDVSA Finance to secure Indebtedness unless 
all issued and outstanding Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is secured equally and ratably with any and all other Indebtedness secured by such Lien. 

  
Use of Proceeds. PDVSA Finance will apply the net proceeds of all Indebtedness Incurred by it to purchase Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers, whether existing at the time or 
Generated thereafter, from PDVSA Petróleo in accordance with the Receivables Purchase Agreement, to service or refinance existing Indebtedness or for general corporate purposes as permitted 
by the “Business of PDVSA Finance” covenant described below. 

  
Financial Covenants. PDVSA Finance may not Incur Indebtedness unless at the time of such Incurrence and after giving effect to the application of the proceeds thereof, the Total Liabilities to 
Equity Ratio shall not be greater than 7 to 1. PDVSA Finance will not permit the Debt Service Coverage Ratio to be less than 4 to 1 on any Date of Determination. 

  
Compliance with Receivables Documents. PDVSA Finance will perform and comply with each and every obligation, covenant and agreement required to be performed or observed by it in or 
pursuant to any Receivables Document. To the extent that any provision in any such Receivables Document permits PDVSA Finance to waive compliance with such provision or requires that a 
document, opinion or other instrument or any event or condition be acceptable or satisfactory to PDVSA Finance, for purposes of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, such provision shall be 
complied with only if such waiver is permitted or approved in accordance with the terms of each Debt Agreement pursuant to which any Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is issued and 
outstanding or pursuant to which any commitment to purchase or extend Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is in effect and such document, opinion or other instrument and such event or 
condition shall be so permitted or approved. No amendment to, or waiver of, such obligations, covenants and agreements or defined terms made pursuant to any of the Receivables Documents 
shall be effective unless so permitted or approved in accordance with the terms of each such Debt Agreement.

  
Payment of Obligations; Compliance with Obligations. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees to duly pay, discharge or otherwise satisfy at or before maturity or before they become 
delinquent, as the case may be, all its obligations of whatever nature, except where the amount or validity thereof is currently being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and 
reserves in conformity with IFRS with respect thereto have been provided on the books of PDVSA Finance or where the failure to pay, discharge or otherwise satisfy such obligation would not 
have a Material Adverse Effect. PDVSA Finance shall defend or, in accordance with the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, cause the Servicer to defend, all of its right, title and 
interest in, to and under the Purchased Receivables, present and future, whether now existing or hereafter Generated, against all claims of third parties claiming through or under Petróleos de 
Venezuela, PDVSA Petróleo or any of Petróleos de Venezuela’s other Subsidiaries, the Collection Agent, the Servicer or any other Person. PDVSA Finance will duly fulfill all material obligations 
on its part to be fulfilled under or in connection with each Eligible Receivable and will do nothing to impair its rights in such Eligible Receivable. 
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Books and Records. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees in all material respects to keep proper books of records and account in which full, true and correct entries in conformity with IFRS and 
all Requirements of Law shall be made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities.

  
Compliance with Law and Contractual Obligations. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees to comply in all material respects with all Requirements of Law, the provisions of the Transaction 
Documents and all other material Contractual Obligations applicable to PDVSA Finance.

  
Delivery of Collections. In the event that PDVSA Finance receives Collections directly, PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees to duly transfer or deposit such Collections into the Collection 
Account as soon as practicable.

  
Separate Corporate Existence. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees (a) to maintain its own deposit account or accounts to which none of its Affiliates (other than the Servicer or the 
Investment Manager, in their respective capacities and in accordance with the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement and the Investment Management Agreement) has independent 
access, and PDVSA Finance will not commingle its funds with the funds of Petróleos de Venezuela or any Affiliate of PDVSA; (b) that, to the extent it shares the same officers or other employees 
with any of its stockholders or Affiliates, the salaries of and the expenses related to providing benefits to such officers and other employees shall be fairly allocated among such entities, and 
each such entity shall bear its fair share of the salary and benefit costs associated with all such common officers and employees; (c) that, to the extent it jointly contracts with any of its 
stockholders or Affiliates to do business with vendors or service providers or to share overhead expenses, the costs incurred in so doing shall be allocated fairly among other entities, and each 
such entity shall bear its fair share of such costs; (d) that, to the extent it contracts or does business with vendors or service providers where the goods and services provided are partially for the 
benefit of any of its stockholders or Affiliates, the costs incurred in so doing shall be fairly allocated to or among such entities for whose benefit the goods or services are provided, and each 
such entity shall bear its fair share of such costs; (e) that all business transactions between PDVSA Finance and any of its Affiliates, whether currently existing or hereafter entered into, shall be 
only on terms no less favorable to PDVSA Finance than the terms that would be obtainable by PDVSA Finance if such transactions were entered into with non-affiliates; (f) to maintain office 
space separate from the office space of PDVSA Petróleo and its Affiliates (but which may be located at the same address as PDVSA Petróleo or one of the Affiliates); (g) that, to the extent it and 
any of its stockholders or Affiliates have offices in the same location, there shall be a fair and appropriate allocation of overhead costs among them, and each such entity shall bear its fair share 
of such expenses; (h) to issue separate financial statements prepared not less frequently than quarterly and prepared in accordance with IFRS; and (i) to conduct its affairs strictly in accordance 
with its Memorandum of Association and to observe all necessary, appropriate and customary corporate formalities, including, but not limited to, holding all regular stockholders’ and directors’ 
meetings, maintaining current minute books, and maintaining financial reports, corporate records and books of account separate from those of any other Person. 

  
Preservation of Corporate Existence. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees (i) to preserve and maintain its corporate existence, rights, franchises and privileges in the jurisdiction of its 
incorporation and (ii) to qualify and remain qualified in good standing as a foreign corporation in each jurisdiction where such qualification is required other than any jurisdiction where the 
failure so to qualify would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

  
Assessments. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees to duly pay and discharge all taxes, assessments, levies and other governmental charges imposed on it except such taxes, assessments, 
levies and other governmental charges that (i) are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which PDVSA Finance shall have set aside on its books adequate reserves in 
accordance with IFRS and (ii) the failure to pay, satisfy or discharge would not, in any event, have a Material Adverse Effect. 
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Limitation on Transfers of Receivables; Investments. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees not to, at any time, (i) sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of any of the Purchased Receivables, 
Collections or the proceeds thereof other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement or by way of Liens permitted to exist under the “Negative Pledge” covenant described above or 
as permitted by the “Restricted Payments” covenant described below or (ii) make any Investment (other than Permitted Investments) unless, after giving effect to such Investment, (x) PDVSA 
Finance would be in compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant, (y) PDVSA Finance could Incur an additional $1.00 of Indebtedness and be in compliance with the Total 
Liabilities to Equity Ratio covenant and (z) no Event of Default (as defined below) (or event that with the giving of notice or passage of time (or both) would constitute an Event of Default) shall 
have occurred and be continuing.

  
Business of PDVSA Finance. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees to not engage at any time in any business or business activity other than the acquisition of Eligible Receivables pursuant to 
the Receivables Purchase Agreement, the assignments and transfers hereunder, the other transactions contemplated by the Transaction Documents, and any activity incidental to the foregoing 
and necessary or convenient to accomplish the foregoing, or to enter into or be a party to any agreement or instrument other than in connection with the foregoing. 

  
Agreements. PDVSA Finance shall not (a) become a party to any indenture, mortgage, instrument, contract, agreement, lease or other undertaking, except (i) the Transaction Documents, (ii) 
leases of office space, equipment or other facilities for use by PDVSA Finance in its ordinary course of business, (iii) employment agreements, service agreements and agreements relating to 
shared employees and (iv) agreements necessary to perform its obligations or otherwise permitted under the Transaction Documents, (b) issue any power of attorney (except to any Collection 
Agent or the Servicer or except for the purpose of permitting any Person to perform any functions on behalf of PDVSA Finance that are not prohibited by, or inconsistent with, the terms of the 
Transaction Documents), or (c) amend, supplement, modify or waive any of the provisions of any Receivables Document or request, consent or agree to or suffer to exist or permit any such 
amendment, supplement, modification or waiver or exercise any consent rights granted to it thereunder unless such amendment, supplement, modification or waiver or such exercise of consent 
rights would not have an adverse effect on the interests, rights or remedies of the holders of any outstanding Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance under or with respect to the Transaction 
Documents.

  
Offices. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees not to move the location of its chief executive office or of any of the offices where it keeps its records with respect to the Purchased Receivables, 
or its legal head office, to a new location within or outside the Cayman Islands, without (i) 30 days’ prior written notice to the holders of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance given in accordance 
with the related Debt Agreement and (ii) taking all actions reasonably requested by any holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance pursuant to an Issuer Notice (including but not limited to all 
filings and other acts necessary under the UCC or similar statute of each relevant jurisdiction) in order to continue the perfection and priority of PDVSA Finance ownership or security interest in 
all Purchased Receivables then owned or thereafter created.

  
Charter. PDVSA Finance covenants and agrees it shall not amend or make any change or modification to its Memorandum and Articles of Association (other than an amendment, change or 
modification made pursuant to changes in law of the jurisdiction of its incorporation or amendments to change PDVSA Finance’s name, registered agent or address of registered office) unless 
such amendment, change or modification would not have an adverse effect on the interests, rights or remedies of the holders of the outstanding Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance under or with 
respect to the Transaction Documents.

  
Limitation on Restricted Payments. PDVSA Finance shall not (a) declare or pay any dividend on, or make any payment on account of, or set apart assets for a sinking or other analogous fund 
for, the purchase, redemption, defeasance, retirement or other acquisition of, any shares of any class of capital stock of PDVSA Finance, whether now or hereafter outstanding, or make any other 
distribution in respect thereof, or (b) make any payment of Debt Service other than payments of Accelerated Debt Service or payments of Scheduled Debt Service that had been included in the 
Debt Service Requirement in the calculation of the Debt Service Coverage Ratio on the most recent Date of Determination prior to the date of such payment, in any such case either directly or 
indirectly, whether in cash or property or in obligations of PDVSA Finance (such declarations, payments, setting apart, purchases, redemptions, defeasances, retirements, acquisitions and 
distributions referred to in clauses (a) and (b) being herein called “Restricted Payments”; unless, after giving effect to such Restricted Payment, (i) in the case of (a) and (b), PDVSA Finance 
would be in compliance with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant and no Event of Default (or event that with the giving of notice or passage of time (or both) would constitute an Event of 
Default) shall have occurred and be continuing, and (ii) in the case of (a), PDVSA Finance could Incur an additional $1.00 of Indebtedness and be in compliance with the Total Liabilities to Equity 
Ratio covenant.
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Events of Default. Under the terms of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the following shall constitute an “Event of Default”: 
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  (a) failure by PDVSA Finance to comply with its obligations (i) to maintain and fund the Retention Account as described below under “- Funding and Administration of Retention Account” 
or (ii) to maintain and fund the Liquidity Facility as described below under “- Liquidity Facility,” which failure shall continue for seven Business Days; 

  (b) failure by PDVSA Finance to remedy a breach of (i) the Total Liabilities to Equity Ratio covenant or the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant or (ii) any covenant under the Fiscal 
Agency Agreement in any material respect (other than those covenants referred to in paragraphs (a) and (b)(i) above), (A) in the case of (i), by obtaining contributions to the Equity of 
PDVSA Finance to the extent necessary to restore compliance on a pro forma basis with the applicable covenant after giving effect thereto within 60 days after PDVSA Finance became 
aware or should have become aware (including on any Date of Determination) of such breach; and (B) in the case of (ii), within 60 days after PDVSA Finance became aware or should have 
become aware of such breach;

  (c) certain events of bankruptcy, insolvency, liquidation, dissolution or reorganization relating to PDVSA Finance, PDVSA Petróleo or Petróleos de Venezuela; 

  (d) the occurrence of a Change of Control Triggering Event;

  (e) failure by PDVSA Finance to make any payment of principal in respect of Indebtedness at maturity, including any applicable grace period, in an amount in excess of $10,000,000 (or the 
equivalent thereof in any other currency or composite currencies) and continuation of such failure for a period of 30 days after receipt by PDVSA Finance of notice thereof pursuant to an 
Issuer Notice;

  (f) default by PDVSA Finance with respect to any Indebtedness, which default results in the acceleration of Indebtedness in an amount in excess of $10,000,000 (or the equivalent thereof in 
any other currency or composite currencies) without such Indebtedness having been discharged or such acceleration having been cured, waived, rescinded or annulled for a period of 30 
days after receipt by PDVSA Finance of notice thereof pursuant to an Issuer Notice; provided, however, that if any such failure, default or acceleration referred to in this clause (f) or 
clause (e) above shall cease or be cured, waived, rescinded or annulled, then any Event of Default arising by reason thereof shall be deemed likewise to have been thereupon cured; 

  (g) PDVSA Finance ceasing to have, at any time and for a period of five Business Days, (i) a valid unencumbered ownership interest in Purchased Receivables Sold under the Receivables 
Purchase Agreement (valued for purposes of this Event of Default at the Purchase Price paid therefor), whether existing as of such date or to be Generated thereafter, and (ii) a valid 
unencumbered ownership interest in cash, cash equivalents and Permitted Investments (including amounts held in the Liquidity Facility) having an aggregate value of at least equal to 
100% of the outstanding principal amount of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance as of the date of determination;

  (h) failure by PDVSA Petróleo to deliver, or cause to be delivered to the relevant Collection Agent for deposit in its Collection Account any payment with respect to Purchased Receivables 
made to or for the account of Petróleos de Venezuela, PDVSA Petróleo or any other Subsidiary of PDVSA, directly or indirectly, by any Designated Customer which is an Affiliate of 
PDVSA and such failure shall continue for 7 Business days after such payment being made to or for the account of PDVSA Petróleo or such other Subsidiary of PDVSA; 

55



 

  

  

  

  

  
For purposes of determining whether a failure to comply with the Debt Service Coverage Ratio covenant has been cured, any capital contributions obtained after PDVSA Finance became aware 
of such failure shall be deemed to constitute payments (without duplication) made to PDVSA Finance by obligors during any of the three months immediately prior to such failure. 
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  (i) failure of PDVSA Petróleo to comply in any material respect with its obligation under the Receivables Purchase Agreement, as amended effective on August 2, 2004, as a result of 
PDVSA’s offer to purchase and consent solicitation, to cause the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers Generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any 
consecutive twelve-month period that are not subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement to represent at least the lesser of (x) 4.5 million 
barrels of crude oil of less than 30° API gravity and (y) 40% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total Eligible Receivables Generated from Sales of crude oil of less than 30° API gravity, and PDVSA 
Petróleo directly or indirectly sells, in any month after such failure, crude oil of less than 30° API gravity representing more than 30% of PDVSA Petróleo’s average monthly exports of 
such crude oil during the consecutive twelve-month period prior to the date of determination to any third party that is not required to make all payments in respect of any Receivable 
owing to PDVSA Petróleo to a Collection Account under circumstances in which PDVSA Petróleo would oblige such third party to resell such crude oil to one or more third parties that are 
required to make all payments in respect of any Receivable owing to PDVSA Petróleo to a Collection Account. For purposes of determining whether or not an Event of Default has 
occurred under this clause (i), for any period ending on or prior to December 31, 1998, the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers will be determined 
solely by reference to months commencing on or after January 1, 1998;

  (j) except with respect to the case described in clause (h) or (i) above, failure on the part of PDVSA Petróleo or Petróleos de Venezuela to remedy a material breach of any of PDVSA 
Petróleo’s obligations under the Receivables Purchase Agreement and continuation of such failure for a period of 60 days; 

  (k) any of the representations or warranties of Petróleos de Venezuela or PDVSA Petróleo made pursuant to (i) Sections 3.01 (Conduct of Business), 3.02 (Organization; Powers), 3.05 
(Litigation; Compliance with Laws) and 3.06 (Consideration Received) or (ii) Section 3.03 (Authorization) or 3.04 (Enforceability) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement prove to have 
been false or incorrect in any material respect when made, and such representation or warranty continues to be false or incorrect in any material respect for 60 days; 

  (l) the Venezuelan Government takes action that prevents PDVSA Petróleo (or any entity that has assumed the obligations of PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Documents) from 
carrying on all or substantially all of its business and operations relating to the Generation of Receivables, and such action is not withdrawn, rescinded or reversed within 30 days; or 

  (m) either PDVSA Petróleo or PDVSA Finance (or any entity that has assumed the obligations of either company thereunder) revokes or terminates the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the 
Receivables Purchase Agreement or the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement or any such agreement ceases to be in full force and effect other than pursuant to its terms or is 
repudiated by PDVSA Petróleo or PDVSA Finance, as the case may be (unless such revocation, termination, cessation or repudiation could not reasonably be expected to result in a 
Material Adverse Effect).
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Individual Debt Agreements may include some but not all of the foregoing Events of Default or may include additional or different events of default. However, such variations shall only apply to 
the Indebtedness issued under such Debt Agreement.

  
Liquidity Facility. PDVSA Finance has established pursuant to the Fiscal Agency Agreement and at all times shall maintain an account with the Fiscal Agent designated as the “Liquidity 
Account” (together with any Acceptable Letters of Credit delivered to the Fiscal Agent as described below, the “Liquidity Facility”). Pursuant to the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the balance of 
cash and cash equivalents standing to the credit of such account at any date shall be at least equal to the aggregate amount of Scheduled Debt Service scheduled to be paid within the 30-day 
period following such date, or, if no Scheduled Debt Service is scheduled to be paid within such period, then the aggregate amount of Scheduled Debt Service scheduled to be paid on the first 
day after such date on which any Scheduled Debt Service is payable.

  
PDVSA Finance shall deposit, or shall cause to be deposited, with the Fiscal Agent no later than 10 a.m. (New York time) on any Business Day such amounts as are necessary so that the amount 
on deposit is sufficient to pay Debt Service in respect of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance on such Business Day. If by 10 a.m. (New York time) on any Business Day funds on deposit with the 
Fiscal Agent are insufficient to pay Debt Service in respect of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance that is due and payable on such Business Day, then the Fiscal Agent shall, on such Business 
Day, transfer to the Fiscal Agent from the Liquidity Account, to the extent available therein, an amount equal to the amount of such insufficiency. 

  
In lieu of holding cash or cash equivalents in the Liquidity Account, one or more Acceptable Letters of Credit which by their terms require that any drawing thereunder be deposited in the 
Liquidity Account may be delivered to the Fiscal Agent. Upon delivery of an Acceptable Letter of Credit or Acceptable Letters of Credit, the Fiscal Agent shall release to PDVSA Finance an 
aggregate amount of cash (and, if necessary, liquidate investments held in the Liquidity Account) from the Liquidity Account equal to the aggregate amount available to be drawn by the Fiscal 
Agent under such Acceptable Letter of Credit or Acceptable Letters of Credit for deposit in the Liquidity Account. The Fiscal Agent shall return any such Acceptable Letter of Credit to PDVSA 
Finance or as it shall direct upon the deposit by any Person (other than PDVSA Finance) of cash or cash equivalents into the Liquidity Account equal to the amount available to be drawn by the 
Fiscal Agent under such Acceptable Letter of Credit for deposit in the Liquidity Account. Unless the Fiscal Agent receives written notice from PDVSA Finance of any Acceptable Letter of Credit 
deposited with the Fiscal Agent at least 20 days prior to the date of expiration thereof that such Acceptable Letter of Credit has been renewed, the Fiscal Agent shall draw the full amount 
available thereunder and deposit the amount paid pursuant to such drawing in the Liquidity Account.

  
Payment of Accelerated Debt Service. Each Debt Agreement shall expressly provide, and each holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance upon becoming such a holder shall be deemed to 
agree, that such holder shall only be entitled to receive payment of Accelerated Debt Service in respect of such Indebtedness, and that such holder shall not ask, demand, sue for, take or receive 
from PDVSA Finance, by set-off or in any other manner, or retain, payment (in whole or in part) of Accelerated Debt Service other than such holder’s ratable share of amounts, if any, on deposit 
in the “Retention Account” established and maintained with the Fiscal Agent; provided that such agreement shall automatically cease to have any force and effect upon the occurrence and 
during the continuance of any Event of Default of the type referred to in clause (a), (c), (d), (g), (h), (i), (k)(ii), (l) or (m) above under “Events of Default.” The foregoing shall not limit the right of 
any Person to enforce the Receivables Documents against any party thereto or to exercise any right thereunder.

  
Funding and Administration of Retention Account. PDVSA Finance has established pursuant to the Fiscal Agency Agreement and at all times shall maintain an account with the Fiscal Agent 
designated as the “Retention Account.” 

  
On each Business Day during a period when a Specified Event Notice and/or an Acceleration Notice is in effect, PDVSA Finance, or the Fiscal Agent (on behalf of PDVSA Finance) has agreed to 
instruct the Collection Agent (or the Collection Agents, if more than one) to transfer, to the extent available in the Collection Account, to the Retention Account an amount equal to 25% of the 
amount, if any, by which (a) the aggregate amount of all Collections in respect of Purchased Receivables paid into the Collection Account on the immediately preceding Business Day exceeds (b) 
the aggregate amount of Debt Service (other than Accelerated Debt Service) paid on such immediately preceding Business Day; provided that during any period that an Acceleration Notice is in 
effect and if an Issuer Notice or Acceleration Notice shall have been received specifying that an Event of Default of the type referred to in clause (a), (c), (d), (g), (h), (i), (k)(ii), (l) or (m) under 
“Events of Default” above shall have occurred and be continuing, then PDVSA Finance, or the Fiscal Agent (on behalf of PDVSA Finance) has agreed to instruct each (or cause the Fiscal Agent 
to instruct) Collection Agent to transfer to the Retention Account 100% of all Collections in respect of Purchased Receivables paid into the Collection Account. 
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Amounts on deposit in the Retention Account, if any, on any Business Day shall be applied to pay Accelerated Debt Service, if any, that is due and payable on such Day. While a Specified 
Event Notice is in effect but no Acceleration Notice is in effect, PDVSA Finance agrees to maintain in the Retention Account at all times an amount at least equal to the aggregate amount of 
funds required to be transferred from all Collection Accounts to the Retention Account following the delivery of such Specified Event Notice. All such payments shall be paid to holders of 
Indebtedness ratably without priority of one over the other based on amounts of Accelerated Debt Service due and unpaid to them. Pending such use, amounts held in the Retention Account 
shall be invested by the Fiscal Agent in Permitted Investments as directed by PDVSA Finance or its designee.

  

  
There are no governmental laws, decrees, regulations or other legislation of the Cayman Islands that restrict the export or import of capital, or that affect the remittance of dividends or other 

payments to non-residents of the Cayman Islands who hold our shares. In addition, there are no limitations imposed by the laws of the Cayman Islands or our memorandum and articles of association 
with respect to the right of non-residents of the Cayman Islands to hold or vote our shares. 

  
Cayman Islands Taxation

  
The 1998 Senior Notes, 1999 Senior Notes and 2001 Senior Notes are not subject to taxation in the Cayman Islands, and no withholding is required on payments in respect of the 1998 Senior 

Notes, 1999 Senior Notes and 2001 Senior Notes by us to United States holders of these Notes under the laws of the Cayman Islands. There is no tax treaty regarding withholding between the Cayman 
Islands and the United States.

  
On May 5, 1998, we received an Undertaking as to Tax Concessions pursuant to the Tax Concessions Law (1995 Revision, as amended) which provides that, for a period of 20 years from the date 

of issue of the undertaking, no law enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing any taxes or duty to be levied on income or capital assets, gains or appreciation will apply to any of our income or property. 
  
United States Federal Income Taxation

  
The following is a summary of the material United States federal income tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the 1998 Senior Notes, the 1999 Senior Notes and the 

2001 Senior Notes (collectively the “Notes” or individually a “Note”) to holders that hold the Notes as capital assets (i.e., generally, for investment). This summary provides general information only and 
does not purport to address all of the United States federal income tax consequences that may be applicable to a holder of a Note. It also does not address all of the tax consequences that may be relevant 
to certain types of holders subject to special treatment under the United States federal income tax law, such as individual retirement and other tax-deferred accounts, dealers in notes or currencies, 
insurance companies, tax-exempt organizations, investors in partnerships or other pass-through entities, persons liable for the alternative minimum tax, financial institutions, persons holding Notes as a 
hedge or hedged against currency risk, as a position in a straddle for tax purposes, as part of a “synthetic security,” “conversion transaction” or other integrated investment comprised of a Note and one 
or more other investments, or a U.S. Holder (as defined below) whose functional currency is other than the United States dollar. The summary is based upon federal income tax laws of the United States as 
in effect on the date hereof, which are subject to change (possibly with retroactive effect) and different interpretations. This summary does not discuss any tax consequences arising under the laws of 
any state, local or non-U.S. tax jurisdictions and does not consider any aspect of United States federal taxation other than income taxation. This discussion also assumes that the cash tender described in 
the offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation dated June 28, 2004 did not result in “significant modification” of the 1998 Senior Notes, the 1999 Senior Notes or the 2001 Senior Notes. As stated in the 
offer to Purchase and Consent Solicitation, we are taking the position that a “significant modification” did not occur. 
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For purposes of the following discussion, a “U.S. Holder” is any beneficial owner of a Note who is, for United States federal income tax purposes, (i) an individual who is a citizen or resident of 

the United States, (ii) a corporation created or organized in or under the laws of the United States (or any political subdivision thereof) or (iii) an estate the income of which is subject to United States 
federal income taxation regardless of its source or (iv) a trust that (x) is subject to the primary supervision of a U.S. court and the control of one or more U.S. persons or (y) has a valid election in effect 
under applicable Treasury regulations to be treated as a U.S. person. A “non-U.S. Holder” is any beneficial owner of a Note who is neither a U.S. Holder nor a partnership. The United States federal 
income tax treatment of a partner in a partnership that holds Notes generally would depend on such partner’s particular circumstances and on the activities of the partnership. Partners in such 
partnerships should consult their own tax advisors.

  
PDVSA Finance believes that the Notes constitute indebtedness for United States federal income tax purposes. However, the determination of whether the Notes should be characterized as 

indebtedness or equity under United States federal income tax law depends on an analysis of the facts and circumstances relating to the notes and PDVSA Finance. If the Notes were determined to 
represent equity interests in PDVSA Finance for United States federal income tax purposes, then holders of the Notes could have United States federal income tax consequences that are different from 
and potentially less favorable than those described below.

  
Holders of the Notes should consult their own tax advisors with regard to the application of United States federal income tax laws to their particular situations as well as the application of any 

state, local, non-U.S. or other tax laws, including gift and estate tax laws. 
  

U.S. Holders

  
Interest

  
Interest paid on the Notes (including any foreign withholding taxes and Additional Amounts, if any) will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as ordinary interest income at the time it is accrued or 

received, in accordance with the U.S. Holder’s regular method of tax accounting for United States federal income tax purposes. Interest paid by PDVSA Finance on the Notes will constitute foreign source 
income for United States foreign tax credit purposes and generally will be treated as passive income or, in the case of certain U.S. Holders, as financial services income under the foreign tax credit 
limitations of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). However, if the interest on the Notes becomes subject to a withholding tax of five percent or more, the interest will be “high 
withholding tax interest,” for purposes of such limitations. U.S. Holders should note, however, that recently enacted legislation eliminates the “financial services income” and “high withholding tax 
interest” categories with respect to taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006. Under this legislation, the foreign tax credit limitation categories will be limited to “passive category income” and 
“general category income.” 
  

Disposition of Notes

  
Upon the sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition of a Note, a U.S. Holder generally will recognize gain or loss equal to the difference (if any) between (i) the amount realized on 

such sale, exchange, retirement or other taxable disposition (except to the extent such amount is attributable to accrued but unpaid interest, which should be taxable as ordinary interest income) and (ii) 
the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in the Note. A U.S. Holder’s tax basis in a Note generally will be the dollar cost of the Note to such U.S. Holder, which is subject to adjustment if the Note is acquired at a 
premium or a market discount, as discussed below. Except as discussed below, under “Market Discount” gain or loss so recognized will be capital gain or loss. Capital gains realized by certain non-
corporate U.S. Holders may be taxed at reduced rates if a U.S. Holder has a holding period for the Note that is more than one year. The ability of a U.S. Holder to deduct a capital loss could be subject to 
limitations under the Code. Any capital gain or loss recognized on a sale or other disposition of a Note by a U.S. Holder generally will be treated as United States source income for United States foreign 
tax credit purposes.
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Market Discount

  
If a U.S. Holder purchases a Note for an amount that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity, the amount of the difference will be treated as “market discount,” unless such difference 

is less than a specified de minimis amount. If a Note is acquired at a market discount, unless a U.S. Holder has elected to include market discount in gross income as it accrues, any gain realized on any 
subsequent disposition of such Note (including in connection with certain non-recognition transactions), payment at maturity or partial principal payment with respect to such Note will be treated as 
ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that is treated as having accrued during the period such Note was held. If a U.S. Holder makes a gift of a Note, accrued market discount, if any, will be 
recognized as if such U.S. Holder had sold such Note for a price equal to its fair market value. In addition, the U.S. Holder may be required to defer, until the maturity of the Note or the earlier disposition 
of the Note in a taxable transaction, the deduction of a portion of the interest expense on any indebtedness incurred or continued to purchase or carry such Note. 
  

The amount of market discount treated as having accrued is determined either (i) on a ratable basis, by multiplying the market discount by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of 
days the Note was held by a U.S. Holder, and the denominator of which is the total number of days after the date such U.S. Holder acquired the Note up to and including the date of its maturity, or (ii) if 
the U.S. Holder so elects, on a constant yield method. An election by a U.S. Holder to use the constant yield method is irrevocable, unless such holder obtains the consent of the Internal Revenue Service 
(the “IRS”). 
  

In lieu of recharacterizing gain as ordinary income to the extent of accrued market discount at the time of disposition, a U.S. Holder of a Note acquired at a market discount may elect to include 
market discount in gross income currently, using either the ratable inclusion method or the elective constant yield method. An election to include market discount in income currently would apply to all 
Notes and other market discount obligations held by the U.S. Holder during the taxable year for which the election is made and to all subsequent taxable years of the U.S. Holder, unless the IRS consents 
to a revocation of the election.

  
Amortizable Bond Premium

  
In general, if a U.S. Holder purchases a Note for an amount that is greater than its stated redemption price at maturity (or, under certain circumstances, the amount payable on an earlier date), 

such U.S. Holder will be considered to have purchased such Note with “bond premium” equal in amount to such excess, and may elect (in accordance with applicable Code provisions) to amortize such 
premium (with a corresponding decrease in tax basis) using a constant yield method over the remaining term of the Note as an offset to interest otherwise required to be included in gross income in 
respect of such Note during any taxable year. However, if such Note may be optionally redeemed after the U.S. Holder acquires the Note at a price in excess of its principal amount, special rules would 
apply which could result in a deferral of the amortization of some bond premium until later in the term of the Note. An election to amortize bond premium, once made, would apply to all Notes and other 
debt obligations held by the U.S. Holder during the taxable year for which the election is made and to subsequent years, unless the IRS consents to a revocation of such election. If an election to amortize 
bond premium is not made, a U.S. Holder must include the full amount of each interest payment on a Note in gross income in accordance with its regular method of accounting and will receive a tax benefit 
from the premium only in computing its gain or loss upon the sale or other disposition of the principal amount of the Note. 
  

Foreign Tax Credits

  
If any foreign income taxes are withheld or paid in respect of payments on, or proceeds from the sale or exchange of, the Notes, a U.S. Holder may be eligible, subject to a number of complex 

limitations under United States federal income tax law, for a foreign tax credit. Alternatively, in lieu of claiming a credit, a U.S. Holder may elect to claim a deduction from its taxable income for all such 
foreign income taxes paid or accrued in computing their U.S. federal income for the relevant taxable year. The foreign tax credit rules are complex. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors 
regarding the application of foreign tax credit rules to their particular circumstances.
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Non-U.S. Holders 

  
Subject to the discussion of backup withholding below, payments of interest (and premium, if any) on the Notes by PDVSA Finance or its agent (in its capacity as such) to a non-U.S. Holder will 

not be subject to United States federal income or withholding tax, provided that such amounts are not effectively connected with the conduct by the non-U.S. Holder of a trade or business in the United 
States.

  
Subject to the discussion of backup withholding below, any gain realized upon the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of a Note by a non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to United 

States federal income or withholding taxes unless (i) such gain is effectively connected with a United States trade or business of such non-U.S. Holder, or (ii) in the case of an individual, such holder is 
present in the United States for 183 days or more in the taxable year of the disposition and certain other conditions are met. 
  

Non-U.S. Holders who are entitled to benefits under an income tax treaty with the United States may be subject to different rules than those summarized above and should consult with their own 
tax advisors.

  
Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

  
Backup withholding and information reporting requirements may apply to payments of principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on a Note and to certain payments of proceeds from the sale 

or retirement of a Note. PDVSA Finance, its agent or a broker will be required to withhold tax from any payment that is subject to backup withholding if the holder fails to furnish its taxpayer identification 
number (social security number or employer identification number), furnishes an incorrect taxpayer identification number, fails to certify that such holder is not subject to backup withholding, is notified 
by the IRS that it has failed to properly report payments of interest or dividends, or fails to otherwise comply with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Certain holders (including, 
among others, all corporations and persons who are not United States persons and who furnish an IRS Form W-8BEN) are not currently subject to the backup withholding and information reporting 
requirements, but may be required to comply with applicable certification procedures to prove such exception. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules from a payment to a holder may 
be claimed as a credit against such holder’s United States federal income tax liability, or the holder may claim a refund, if such holder provides certain information to the IRS. 
  

Backup withholding and information reporting will not apply to payments made by PDVSA Finance or its paying agents, in their capacities as such, to a non-U.S. Holder of a Note if the holder 
has provided the required certification that it is not a United States person as described above, provided that neither we nor our paying agent has actual knowledge, or reason to know, that the holder is a 
United States person. Payments of the proceeds from a disposition by a non-U.S. Holder of a Note made to or though a foreign office of a broker will not be subject to information reporting or backup 
withholding, except that information reporting (but generally not backup withholding) may apply to those payments if the broker is: 
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  ·  a United States person,

  ·  a controlled foreign corporation for United States federal income tax purposes,

  ·  a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross income is effectively connected with a United States trade or business for a specified three-year period, or 

  ·  a foreign partnership if, at any time during its tax year, one or more of its partners are United States persons, as defined in Treasury regulations, who in the aggregate hold more than 50% 
of the income or capital interest in the partnership or if, at any time during its tax year, the foreign partnership is engaged in a United States trade or business. 
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Payments of the proceeds from a disposition by a non-U.S. Holder of a note made to or through the United States office of a broker is generally subject to information reporting and backup 

withholding unless the holder or beneficial owner certifies as to its taxpayer identification number or otherwise establishes an exemption from information reporting and backup withholding. 
  

Non-U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding application of backup withholding in their particular circumstances and the availability of and procedure for obtaining an 
exemption from backup withholding under current Treasury regulations.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
The documents that are exhibits to or incorporated by reference in this annual report can be read at the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s public reference facilities at Room 1580, 100 F 

Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information about the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains 
information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
We are exposed to market risk principally resulting from foreign exchange movements associated with Euro debt amounting to Euro 200 million at December 31, 2004, which matures between 2002 

and 2006. The foreign currency exposure related to this debt is being managed using a cross-currency swap that, although it does not qualify for hedge accounting, reduces the risk of currency and 
interest rate changes. The agreement contains a knock-in provision, which eliminate protection to us in respect of principal payments above a $1.09/Euro exchange rate if during the term of the agreement 
the US dollar/Euro exchange rate reaches or exceeds 1.2. As of November 28, 2003 the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reached 1.20 and at December 31, 2003 was 1.26. Due to the knock-in provision in the 
cross-currency swap agreement the effect on the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2003 was to reduce net income by approximately $19 million representing the unrealized exchange 
loss on the Euro debt for the difference between the exchange rate of 1.26 and 1.09. We do not enter into instruments to manage market risk for trading purposes. 
  

On August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance redeemed approximately 98.92% of the Euro 6.25% Notes Due 2006 that remained outstanding upon completion of its tender offer for any and all of its 
outstanding notes, which it launched on June 28, 2004. Upon consummation of the tender offer and redemption of the notes, after which an aggregate principal amount of Euro 950,742 of the Euro 6.25% 
Notes Due 2006 remained outstanding.

  
Because substantially all of PDVSA Finance’s Euro notes were either repaid by the Company in connection with the tender offer, PDVSA Finance unwound its cross-currency swap agreement in 

respect of the Euro notes, effective July 28, 2004 (the “Cancellation Date”). As a result, PDVSA Finance currently is no longer a party to any cross-currency swap agreement in respect of outstanding 
Euro notes.

  
Based on the value of the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate on the Cancellation Date of 1.20, the swap had a fair value of $2.4 million resulting in PDVSA Finance recognizing a holding loss during 

the period of $1.9 million. Because PDVSA Finance currently owns no Euro notes the Company has not entered, nor does it plan to enter, into another cross-currency swap to cover such risk in respect of 
the Euro notes.
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We are not exposed to interest rate risk as the weighted average yield of our debt is factored into the discount rate applied to the accounts receivable in accordance with the Receivables 

Purchase Agreement.

  
The table below sets forth the amounts and related weighted average interest rates by expected maturity dates of our long-term debt obligations at December 31, 2004: 

  
Total Debt at December 31, 2004

  

  
On April 11, 2006 the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 

2016, 9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. 
  

The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83.1 million which was redeemed for $95.7 million, and the redemption premium of $12.6 million was paid by 
PDVSA Petróleo.

  

  
Not applicable.

  
PART II

  

  
None. 

  

  
Not applicable.

  

  
Our President and Principal Executive Officer and our Principal Financial Officer have evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of the our disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined under Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2004. 
  

Based upon that evaluation, our President and Principal Director and our Principal Director and Financial Manager observed that there were certain weaknesses in our disclosure controls and 
procedures and our internal controls that temporarily impacted the timely processing of PDVSA Finance operational and financial data. The company’s financial reporting systems continue to suffer 
delays in the generation and preparation of financial statements. In particular, there were delays in closing the year-end accounting records and in the analysis of accounts. However, PDVSA Finance has 
commenced a project to meet the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, regarding the evaluation and improvement of its Financial Internal Control Process. 
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Expected Maturities
 

Fixed Rate Debt  
Weighted Average
Fixed Interest Rate  

    ($ in millions)      
2005     8    8.97%

2006     3    8.98%

2007     4    8.99%

2008     13    8.99%

2009     64    8.99%
Thereafter     299    9.02%

Total     391    8.94%

Fair Value     395      
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During 2006 we were made aware that two of our private sector contractors in Venezuela had disclosed to the SEC that they were involved in making improper payments to certain of our 

employees. As a result, PDVSA began an internal audit review and retained outside counsel to assist it.

  
In the first matter, the Company has substantially concluded its internal audit review and determined that the kick back scheme disclosed by this contractor implemented by overcharges for 

certain field services, was limited to falsification of certain procurement records by three field level personnel of the Company. 
  

In the second matter the contractor has stated that it made payments during 2003 and 2004, through third parties to a senior official of the Company, who has subsequently left in January 2005. 
The contractor has told the Company that the payments were intended to influence the outcome of contract renewals for three drilling rigs. The renewal of the most important of these contracts was made 
by the unanimous decision of senior management, in which decision this senior official participated, but who did not have sole power to make the decision. 
  

The Company has reviewed the record backing up the decision extending that contract and has concluded that standard procedures were followed in the decision, including a unanimous 
decision of the Company’s senior management. Nevertheless, although the Company is unable to determine whether the senior official was able to exert informal influence on the final decision, it has 
definitively concluded that this senior official had no formal authority to influence the contracting of this service and was not a party to the internal administrative procedures that were followed to 
approve the contract. 

  
The two smaller contracts were renewed during this period pursuant to alternative contracting procedures that were adopted by the Company due to the work stoppages that the Company 

suffered during 2003. These procedures resulted in special procedures for contracts below a certain value. Nevertheless, the Company has found no evidence that the senior official was involved in the 
decisions with respect to renewals of these two contracts but has not been able to determine whether in fact he had any kind of informal influence with respect to these decisions. Subsequent to the 
reinstitution of normal procedures and the departure of the senior official from the Company, these contracts were renewed in the ordinary course.  
  

The second contractor also stated that it made payments to a mid-level official of the Company in order to expedite the payment of invoices that were long overdue. The Company has confirmed 
the existence and payment of the invoices, whose processing had been affected by the disruption in the Company’s systems due to the work stoppages, but has not been able to determine whether there 
was any influence exerted in connection with these payments, because they were overdue invoices.

  
Based on the information made available to the Company by the contractor to date and the results of the Company’s internal audit review related to such information, which is substantially 

complete, we have concluded that there were no significant deficiencies in the internal controls for the Company’s contracting processes. Further, management of the Company and the Company’s Audit 
Committee have concluded that these matters are not material to the Company’s business and do not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 
  

Therefore, as of the date of this annual report, our management, including our President and Principal Director and our Principal Director and Financial Manager, have evaluated our disclosure 
controls and procedures related to the recording, processing, summarization and reporting of information in our periodic reports that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and 
concluded that such controls are effective. These disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to ensure that (a) material information relating to PDVSA Finance is made known to our 
management, including these officers, by other employees of PDVSA Finance, and (b) this information is recorded, processed, summarized, evaluated and reported, as applicable, within the time periods 
specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Due to the inherent limitations of control systems, not all misstatements may be detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-
making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more 
people, or by management override of the control. Our controls and procedures can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the above objectives have been met. 
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Also, PDVSA does not control or manage certain of its unconsolidated entities and, as such, the disclosure controls and procedures with respect to such entities are more limited than those it 

maintains with respect to its consolidated subsidiaries.

  
PDVSA Finance, aware of its responsibility with the Securities and Exchange Commission concerning compliance with the Sarbanes Oxley Act, has decided to begin the evaluation of the Internal 

Control System of its Financial Reporting. 

  
We intend to complete this project in order to enhance even further our Internal Control System and thus, improve the reliability of our financial data available to investors worldwide. 

Additionally, we consider it an excellent opportunity to upgrade our financial management systems as has been done with other world class corporations. 
  

  

  
Mr. Jesús Villanueva, Vice President of the Audit Committee, additionally serves as the Audit Committee Financial Expert. Mr. Villanueva is not “independent” as that term is defined in section 

303 A.02 of the corporate governance rules of the New York stock exchange. See “Item 6.A Directors and Senior Manangment.” 
  

  
As of May 31, 2006, PDVSA, our parent company, had completed updating the final drafts of its code of ethics, the responsibilities of governance committee and its hotline procedures. As of the 

date of this annual report, such drafts are under revision by the Human Resource Committee and they will be submitted in the first quarter of the year 2007 to the Audit Committee and Board of Directors 
for final approval and implementation.

  

  
The following table details all the fees billed for professional services rendered by Alcaraz Cabrera Vázquez (a member firm of KPMG International), which refer to the audit of the company’s 

financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

  

  

  
None.
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16.A. Audit Committee financial expert
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16.C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

    Year ended December 31,  
    2004   2003  
    ($ in thousands)  
Audit Fees     204.8    110.1 
Audit-Related Fees     —     —  
Tax Fees     —     —  
All Other Fees     —     —  
Total     204.8    110.1 

16.D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees

16.E. Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers
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PART III

  

  
We have responded to Item 18 in lieu of this item.

  

  
See pages F-1 through F-19 incorporated herein by reference. 

  
The following financial statements, together with the report of Alcaraz Cabrera Vázquez (a member firm of KPMG International), is filed as a part of this annual report on Form 20-F: 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  
To the Board of Directors and Shareholder of 
PDVSA Finance Ltd.: 
  
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of PDVSA Finance Ltd. (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related 
statements of income, changes in shareholder’s equity and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the 
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. 
We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
  
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of PDVSA Finance Ltd. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
  
International Financial Reporting Standards vary in certain significant respects from accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Information relating to the nature and effect 
of such differences is presented in note 2(i) to the financial statements. 
  
ALCARAZ CABRERA VÁZQUEZ 
  
David Arismendi N. 
Public Accountant 
C.P.C. N° 3424 
  
Caracas, Venezuela 
June 20, 2005, except for note 12 which is dated April 11, 2006 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petroleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
  

Balance Sheets

  
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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    December 31  
Assets   2004   2003  

Current assets:        
Cash and cash equivalents     52,069    218,949 
Liquidity account (note 3)     12,920    166,246 
Current purchased accounts receivable, net of unamortized  discounts of 1,748 in 2004 and 3,770 in 2003 (includes 131,393 and 715,238 due 

from affiliates at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) (notes 4 and 11)
 

  371,972    924,225 
Rights to future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable (notes 4, 5 and 11)     1,008,953    2,707,250 
Cross-currency swap (note 5)     -    4,346 

Total assets     1,445,914    4,021,016 

             
Liabilities and Shareholder’s Equity            

Current liabilities:            
Current portion of long-term debt (note 6)     7,984    225,887 
Accrued interest payable     4,266    31,449 
Accruals and accounts payable (note 7)     18,325    6,733 
Current income tax payable (note 8)     14,217    19,208 

Deferred income tax (note 8)     634    3020 
Total current liabilities     45,426    286,297 

Long-term liabilities:            
Long-term debt (note 6)     383,054    2,792,496 

Total liabilities     428,480    3,078,793 
Shareholder’s equity:            

Capital stock (note 9)     200,000    200,000 
Additional paid-in capital     300,000    300,000 
Retained earnings     517,434    442,223 

Total shareholder’s equity     1,017,434    942,223 

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity     1,445,914    4,021,016  
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petroleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

  
Statements of Income

  
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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    Years ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
Revenues:              

Income from discount on purchased accounts receivable (note 11)     238,996    376,089    382,826 
Other income     1,289    3,422    3,680 

Total revenues     240,285    379,511    386,506 
Interest expense (note 6)     (151,128)   (254,424)   (276,050)

Foreign exchange gain (loss)     8,979    (12,843)   (26,591)

Gain (loss) on cross-currency swap (note 5)     (1,877)   13,088    28,838 
General and administrative expenses (note 7)     (9,218)   (7,601)   (8,266)

Income before income tax     87,041    117,731    104,437 
Income tax expense (note 8)     (11,830)   (18,616)   (18,950)

Net income     75,211    99,115    85,487 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petroleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

  
Statements of Changes in Shareholder’s Equity 

  
Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

  
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Capital stock  

Additional paid-in 
capital   Retained earnings   Total  

Balances at December 31, 2001     200,000    300,000    257,621    757,621 
Net income     -    -    85,487    85,487 
Balances at December 31, 2002     200,000    300,000    343,108    843,108 
Net income     -    -    99,115    99,115 
Balances at December 31, 2003     200,000    300,000    442,223    942,223 
Net income     -    -    75,211    75,211 
Balances at December 31, 2004     200,000    300,000    517,434    1,017,434 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petroleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
  

Statements of Cash Flows

  
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Table of Contents

    Years ended December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
Cash flows from operating activities:              

Net income     75,211    99,115    85,487 
Items not requiring cash:                 

Deferred income tax     (2,387)   (592)   (572)

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss     (4,749)   19,762    26,156 
Loss (gain) on cross-currency swap     4,346    (13,088)   (28,838)

Change in assets and liabilities:                 
Uncollected discount on purchased accounts receivable     (9,540)   (61,023)   (72,969)

Accrued interest payable     (27,183)   (1,487)   (2,647)

Accruals and accounts payable     11,593    4,471    982 
Current income tax payable     (4,991)   (314)   3,760 

Net cash provided by operating activities     42,300    46,844    11,359 
                  
Cash flows from investing activities:                 

Liquidity account     153,059    (1,325)   (63,217)

Collection of accounts receivable, net of discounts collected     11,144,611    8,701,410    9,313,556 
Purchases of accounts receivable     (8,886,093)   (8,627,689)   (8,560,608)

Net cash provided by investing activities     2,411,577    72,396    689,731 
                  
Cash flows from financing activities:                 

Debt repayments     (2,620,757)   (351,265)   (285,122)

Net cash used in financing activities     (2,620,757)   (351,265)   (285,122)

                  
Cash and cash equivalents:                 

Net change for the year     (166,880)   (232,025)   415,968 
At beginning of year     218,949    450,974    35,006 
At end of year     52,069    218,949    450,974 

                  
Supplemental disclosure:                 

Cash paid during the year for                 
Interest     178,295    255,102    278,697 

Income tax     14,026    14,082    12,799 

F-5



PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  
PDVSA Finance Ltd. (the Company) was incorporated on March 18, 1998 (inception), under the laws of the Cayman Islands, and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. 
(PDVSA), the national oil company of the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela. 

  
PDVSA Finance is the principal vehicle for corporate financing of PDVSA. The Company raises capital through transactions in selected financing activities outside the Cayman Islands. The 
Company’s business is limited to the issuance of unsecured debt and the acquisition from PDVSA Petróleo, S. A., together with its predecessor PDVSA Petróleo y Gas, S. A., (“PDVSA 
Petróleo”), a wholly owned subsidiary of PDVSA, of certain accounts receivable under the Receivables Purchase Agreement (the RPA) dated April 27, 1998 among the Company, PDVSA and 
PDVSA Petróleo. 

  
Pursuant to the terms of the RPA, the Company has the right to purchase from PDVSA Petróleo certain current and future accounts receivable (Eligible Receivables) generated or to be generated 
from the export from Venezuela of crude oil and refined petroleum products to certain designated customers (Designated Customers). Any Eligible Receivable (including future Eligible 
Receivables) that is not due and payable when purchased (at the time the purchase price is paid) will be purchased at a discount. The amount of the discount will be determined for each 
purchased Eligible Receivable by discounting the invoice amount of such Eligible Receivable by a rate equal to the weighted average of the yield of the Company’s outstanding indebtedness on 
the day the price for such Eligible Receivable is paid to PDVSA Petróleo (as adjusted to reflect certain costs and expenses (including taxes) incurred by the Company in connection with the 
issuance of debt and the purchase of Eligible Receivables), plus 50 basis points for the period from the date on which the purchase price for such Eligible Receivable was paid to PDVSA Petróleo 
to the day on which the purchased Eligible Receivable is due from the Designated Customer. PDVSA will guarantee the performance of PDVSA Petróleo of its obligations under the RPA but not 
payment of any Eligible Receivable purchased by the Company. 

  
All proceeds received or to be received by the Company from Designated Customers or from any issuance of unsecured debt, including amounts contributed as capital, have been or will be used 
to purchase current or future Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo to service or refinance its existing indebtedness, for general corporate purposes or to pay 
dividends. 

  

  
The following is a summary of the significant accounting policies followed by the Company in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements: 

  

  
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) (formerly International Accounting Standards or IAS) adopted by the 
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 

  

Table of Contents

(1) Incorporation and Operations 

(2) Significant Accounting Policies 

  (a) Statement of Compliance 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  
The financial statements are presented in U.S. dollars. They are prepared on the historical cost basis except for the cross-currency swap which is carried at fair value. Accounting policies 
are consistent with those used in the previous years. 

  

  
Revenue from the discount on purchased accounts receivable is recorded as income when earned as described below: 

  

  

  

  

  
The Company accrues a deferred tax liability for income tax related to revenue earned but which has not been collected. 

 

Table of Contents

  (b) Basis of Presentation 

  (c) Revenue Recognition 

  § Discounts on future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable, Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers that have not yet been generated by PDVSA Petróleo, are 
determined by applying the relevant discount rate to the average daily balance of future Eligible Receivables. Such discounts are recorded as income from discount on purchased 
accounts receivable and future Eligible Receivables. 

  § Discounts on current purchased accounts receivable, Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers that have been generated by PDVSA Petróleo, are determined by applying the 
relevant discount rate to the invoice amount of the generated Eligible Receivable based on the number of days from generation until such current Eligible Receivable becomes due 
and payable from the Designated Customer. The discount relating to the period from generation until such current Eligible Receivable becomes due and payable from the 
Designated Customer is recorded as income when earned during this period, using the interest method. Any unearned discount at the date of the financial statements is recorded as 
a reduction from current purchased accounts receivable. 

  § The total amount of the discount on each purchased Eligible Receivable (i.e. the total revenue generated by each purchased Eligible Receivable) is determined by discounting the 
invoice amount of such Eligible Receivable for the period from the day on which the purchased Eligible Receivable is due from the Designated Customer to the date on which the 
purchase price for such Eligible Receivable was paid to PDVSA Petróleo. The discount rate is equal in each case to the weighted average of the yield of PDVSA Finance’s 
outstanding indebtedness on the day the price for such Eligible Receivable was paid to PDVSA Petróleo (as adjusted to reflect certain costs and expenses (including taxes) incurred 
by PDVSA Finance in connection with the issuance of debt and the purchase of Eligible Receivables) plus 50 basis points. At December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, the 
discount rate was 9.43%, and 8.68%, respectively. 

  (d) Deferred Income Tax 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

  

  
Cash equivalents amounted to US$51,839 and US$218,810 at December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively. For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the Company considers as cash 
equivalents all deposits and other cash placements available with original maturities of three months or less. 

  

  
Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in dollars at the rate of exchange at the dates of the transactions. All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated 
into dollars at the period-end rates of exchange. Gains or losses from translation of assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are included in the statement of income. 

  

  
The Company operates in one reportable segment of acquiring accounts receivable, which are subject to similar risks and rewards. 

  

  
The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the following 
differences exist between IFRS and accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as follows, as they relate to the Company’s financial statements: 

  

  

Table of Contents

  (e) Use of Estimates 

  (f) Cash Flows 

  (g) Foreign Currency Transactions 

  (h) Segment Reporting 

  (i) Reconciliation to Accounting Principles Generally Accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) 

 
 

As of December 31, 2004  

Year ended
December 31, 

2004  

   
Additional 

paid-in capital  
Retained
earnings   Net income  

Reported under IFRS     300,000    517,434    75,211 
Debt issuance costs     53,000    (53,000)   (26,000)
Debt redemption premium and costs     71,563    (71,563)   (71,563)

Under US GAAP     424,563    392,871    (22,352)
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 

 
 

Debt issuance costs 
  

All proceeds from issuance of debts, net of issuance cost, are transferred to PDVSA Petróleo for the purchase of eligible accounts receivable under the RPA. Pursuant to the RPA, the cost 
of such debt issuance is borne by PDVSA through adjusting the formula for receivables allocable to the Company in exchange for the net proceeds for debt issuance. Under U.S. GAAP, 
such amounts would be reported as an adjustment to borrowing costs. 

  
Debt redemption premium and costs 

  
In accordance with PDVSA’s policy, debt redemption premiums and costs are to be borne by PDVSA and therefore are not recognized in the financial statements of PDVSA Finance. 

  
In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, such costs are recorded as an expense in the income statement and as a shareholder 
contribution of PDVSA Finance. 

  

  
Certain reclassifications have been made to the 2002 financial statements to conform with the classifications used in 2004 and 2003. 

  

  
Under the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement (the Fiscal Agency Agreement), dated May 14, 1998, among the Company, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Fiscal Agent, and The Chase 
Manhattan Bank Luxembourg S. A., as Paying Agent, the Company is required to maintain an account with the Fiscal Agent designated as the “Liquidity Account”. Under the terms of the 
Company’s indebtedness, the cash balance and permitted investments standing to the credit of such account at any time shall be at least equal to the sum of the amount of the first payment of 
scheduled debt service in respect of each and every debt instrument outstanding, provided that if there is more than one payment of debt service scheduled on any given debt instrument within 
the 30 days immediately succeeding the date of determination, cash and permitted investments equal to the sum of all such amounts scheduled to become due on such debt instrument within 
such period shall stand to the credit of such account. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the balance in the Liquidity Account represents cash and time deposits that are permitted investments 
standing to the credit of such account, including interest earned on such amounts. 
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As of December 31, 2003  

Year ended
December 31, 

2003  

   
Additional 

paid-in capital  
Retained
earnings   Net income  

Reported under IFRS     300,000    442,223    99,115 
Debt issuance costs     27,000    (27,000)   (4,645)

Under US GAAP     327,000    415,223    94,470 

 
 

As of December 31, 2002  

Year ended
December 31, 

2002  

   
Additional 

paid-in capital  
Retained
earnings   Net income  

Reported under IFRS     300,000    343,108    85,487 
Debt issuance costs     22,355    (22,355)   (4,645)

Under US GAAP     322,355    320,753    80,842 

  (j) Reclassifications 

(3) Liquidity Account 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 

  
Under the RPA, the Company purchases Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo. Rights to future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable represent the 
purchase price paid to PDVSA Petróleo for such receivables plus accrued discounts and debt offering costs. The Company’s rights to such future (ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable 
represent a lending arrangement between the Company and PDVSA Petróleo, which arrangement would terminate upon delivery in the future by PDVSA Petróleo of such accounts receivable. 
Other than in limited circumstances, the Company has no recourse to or claim against PDVSA Petróleo for funds advanced toward payments of Eligible Receivables (see notes 5 and 11). PDVSA 
Petróleo satisfies its obligations under the RPA by delivering Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers to the Company in the order in which they are first generated by PDVSA Petróleo 
without regard to any concentration limit by Designated Customers. 

  

  
The Company is exposed to concentrations of credit risk primarily as a result of holding current and future purchased accounts receivable and cash equivalents. The Company’s cash 
equivalents are held in money market funds and time deposits currently placed with two financial institutions. Current purchased receivables are dispersed among a broad Designated Customer 
base primarily in the United States and Canada, and future purchased accounts receivable (to be delivered by PDVSA Petróleo upon generation) represent amounts paid to PDVSA Petróleo on 
account of future accounts receivable. Amounts paid on account of future (ungenerated) Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers (to be generated by PDVSA Petróleo after receipt of the 
purchase price) constitute purchases of future (ungenerated) accounts receivable which are satisfied only upon the generation of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers by PDVSA 
Petróleo, which without further action are transferred to, and become the property of, the Company. Under certain circumstances, upon PDVSA Petróleo’s failure to perform certain of its 
covenants under the RPA, the Company may choose to require PDVSA Petróleo to repurchase all or any of the outstanding accounts receivable (whether current or future). PDVSA Petróleo’s 
performance of its obligations under the RPA is guaranteed by PDVSA. Accordingly, the Company is exposed to PDVSA Petróleo’s generation risk, namely its ability to generate the appropriate 
volume of accounts receivable of Designated Customers, which, in turn, is dependent on numerous factors, including the price of Venezuelan crude oil and refined products, and the demand for 
and production of Venezuelan crude oil and refined products, and PDVSA’s credit risk, insofar as the Company, under certain circumstances, may seek to resell purchased receivables to PDVSA 
Petróleo. Under the terms of the RPA, absent a failure by PDVSA Petróleo to comply with its covenants, the Company has no recourse against PDVSA Petróleo in the event that a current 
purchased receivable that was properly generated and meets the eligibility criteria set forth in the RPA, becomes uncollectible. There are no delinquent receivables, and the Company incurred no 
charge-offs during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002. At December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company did not consider it necessary to establish or maintain any allowance for 
potentially uncollectible receivables. 
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(4) Current and Future Purchased Accounts Receivable 

(5) Financial Instruments 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 
On January 28, 2000, the Company entered into a cross-currency swap agreement in respect of its Euro 200 million 6.250% notes due 2002 through 2006 issued on April 8, 1999. The agreement 
provided protection to the Company in respect of interest and principal payments from a possible appreciation of the Euro relative to the U.S. dollar during the terms of the notes. The agreement 
contained a knock-in provision, which eliminated protection to the Company, in respect of principal payments, above a 1.09 U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate if during the term of the agreement the 
U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reached or exceeded 1.20. 

  
As of November 28, 2003 the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate reached 1.20, and at December 31, 2003 was 1.26. 

  
On August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance repaid approximately 98.92% of the Euro 6.25% notes due 2006 that remained outstanding upon completion of a tender offer (see note 6), after which an 
aggregate principal amount of Euro 950,742 of such notes remained outstanding. 

  
Because substantially all of PDVSA Finance’s Euro notes were repaid by the Company in connection with the tender offer, PDVSA Finance unwound its cross-currency swap agreement in 
respect of the Euro notes, effective July 28, 2004 (the “Cancellation Date”). As a result, PDVSA Finance currently is no longer a party to any cross-currency swap agreement in respect of its 
outstanding Euro notes. 

  
Based on the value of the U.S. dollar/Euro exchange rate on the Cancellation Date of 1.20, PDVSA Finance made a one-time gain on the transaction of US$2,469, which was collected in cash. 
Because PDVSA Finance considers the amount of Euro notes that currently remain outstanding to be immaterial from a currency-risk standpoint, the Company has not entered, nor does it plan to 
enter, into another cross-currency swap to cover such risk in respect of the Euro notes. 

  
The cross-currency swap was recorded at its fair value until the Cancellation Date. The cross-currency swap did not qualify for hedge accounting treatment under IAS 39 or SFAS N° 133, as 
amended. As a result the Company did not account for this derivative as a hedge contract and changes in the fair value of this derivative were recorded in the statement of income. The fair value 
of the cross-currency swap at December 31, 2003 and 2002 was US$4,346 and US$(8,742), respectively, and the change in the fair value resulted in an unrealized gain of US$13,088 and US$28,838 
for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively, which was recorded in the statement of income. 

  
During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Company recorded a loss on the cross-currency swap of US$1,877, representing an unrealized loss of US$4,346 less a realized gain on unwinding 
the swap agreement of US$2,469. 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 

  
Long-term debt is summarized as follows: 

  

 
Future maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2004 are as follows: 

  

 
On May 14, 1998, the Company issued US$1,800,000 of unsecured notes, with interest rates ranging from 6.45% to 7.50% and due dates ranging from 2002 to 2028. Interest is payable quarterly for 
each series of such notes. 

  
On November 10, 1998, the Company incurred US$260,000 of indebtedness through the issuance of its 8.558% fixed rate notes, payable in 20 equal quarterly installments of US$13,000, 
commencing February 2009. Interest is payable in arrears. The fixed rate notes are redeemable in whole or in part at any time by the Company, at 100% of the principal amount redeemed plus 
interest accrued through the date of redemption plus a make-whole premium. The notes were purchased at par value by PDV America, Inc. (PDV America), an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of 
PDVSA. 
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(6) Long-Term Debt 

    December 31,  
    2004   2003  
6.450% Notes due 2002 through 2004     -      50,000  
6.650% Notes due 2004 through 2006     6,920     300,000  
6.800% Notes due 2007 through 2008     6,141     300,000  
7.400% Notes due 2014 through 2016     12,665     400,000  
7.500% Notes due 2027 through 2028     5,210     400,000  
8.558% Notes due 2009 through 2013     260,000     260,000  
8.750% Notes due 2000 through 2004     -      28,000  
9.375% Notes due 2004 through 2007     5,165     250,000  
9.750% Notes due 2008 through 2010     24,190     250,000  
9.950% Notes due 2018 through 2020     2,950     100,000  
6.250% Euro denominated Notes due 2002 through 2006     930     142,383  
10.395% Notes due 2012 through 2014     38,000     38,000  
8.500% Notes due 2010 through 2012     28,867     500,000  
      391,038     3,018,383  
Less current portion of long-term debt     (7,984)   (225,887)

Total long-term debt     383,054     2,792,496  

Year      
2006     3,285  
2007     3,797  
2008     13,161  
2009 and thereafter     362,811  
      383,054  
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  
On April 8, 1999, the Company issued US$1,000,000 of unsecured notes, with interest rates ranging from 8.750% to 9.950% and due dates ranging from 2000 to 2020, and Euro 200 million (US$930 
and US$142,383 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively) of unsecured notes with an interest rate of 6.250% due 2002 through 2006. 

  
The US$1,000,000 notes issued on April 8, 1999 were exempt from, or were issued in transactions not subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act and applicable state securities 
laws. On March 15, 2000, the Company exchanged US$1,000,000 aggregate principal amount of the new notes for an equal aggregate principal amount of old notes. The form and terms of the new 
notes are the same as the form and terms of the old notes, except that the new notes, because they have been registered under the Securities Act, are not subject to transfer restrictions and will, 
therefore, not bear legends restricting their transfer. In addition, none of the new notes are entitled to the contingent increase in the interest rate and other rights provided by the registration 
rights agreement. 

  
On July 2, 1999, the Company incurred US$38,000 of additional indebtedness through the issuance of a 10.395% fixed rate note to PDV America, payable in eight equal quarterly installments of 
US$4,750, commencing August 2012. Interest is payable in arrears. The fixed rate note is redeemable in whole or in part at any time by the Company, at 100% of the principal amount redeemed 
plus interest accrued through the date of redemption plus a make-whole premium. The note was purchased at par value by PDV America. 

  
On November 16, 2001, the Company issued US$500,000 8.50% unsecured notes, maturing on November 16, 2012. Interest is payable quarterly on February 16, May 16, August 16 and November 
16, of each year. The principal is due in equal quarterly installments equal to 11 1/9% of the original principal amount of the notes, beginning November 16, 2010. 

  
On June 28, 2004, PDVSA Finance launched a cash tender offer for any and all of its outstanding notes. Concurrently with the tender offer, the Company solicited from noteholders consents to 
amendments to certain provisions of the Senior Indenture, as supplemented, under which each series of notes were issued, and waivers of certain provisions of related transaction documents. 
Adoption of the proposed amendments required the consent of a majority in aggregate principal amount of all series then outstanding, voting as a single class. 

  
PDVSA Finance commenced the tender offer and consent solicitation to reduce its overall indebtedness, and to modify certain covenants and waive certain provisions under the Senior 
Indenture, as supplemented, and under the related transaction documents. The modifications were intended to provide PDVSA with greater financing flexibility by removing certain affiliates of 
PDVSA as Designated Customers, thereby reducing the receivables dedicated to PDVSA Finance. The proposed amendments modified certain covenants in the Senior Indenture, as 
supplemented, and the related transaction documents primarily to reflect such reduction. 

  
Holders of an aggregate of approximately 96.34% in principal amount of the notes tendered and delivered their consents pursuant to the terms of the tender offer and consent solicitation. On 
August 2, 2004, PDVSA Finance purchased all notes validly tendered in the tender offer. Amendments to certain provisions of the Senior Indenture, as supplemented, under which each series of 
notes were issued, and related transaction documents also were executed on this date. After the settlement of the tender offer and consent solicitation on August 2, 2004, the following notes 
remained outstanding: 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

  

 
PDVSA Finance funded its purchase of the tendered notes, and fees and expenses related to the tender offer and consent solicitation, by selling to PDVSA Petróleo its rights to future 
(ungenerated) purchased accounts receivable. PDVSA Petróleo paid the debt holders on behalf of PDVSA Finance in consideration for the acquisition of PDVSA Finance’s rights to future 
(ungenerated) accounts receivable. 

  
Deutsche Bank Securities Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities Inc. served as dealer managers and consent solicitation agents for the tender offer. The Luxembourg Agent for the offer was JPMorgan 
Bank Luxembourg S. A. 

  
The estimated fair value of the Company’s long-term debt, including current portion, at December 31, 2004 and 2003 was US$395,221 and US$2,802,991, respectively. Fair values were based on a 
broker quote. 

  
The Company is subject to covenants that establish, among other things, that the Company will not incur indebtedness unless at the time of such incurrence and after application of the 
proceeds, the total liabilities to equity ratio shall not be greater than 7 to 1 and that, as of certain dates of determination, the Company will maintain a debt service coverage ratio of at least 4 to 1, 
and the net proceeds will be applied to fund the Liquidity Account and to purchase additional Eligible Receivables under the RPA. 

  

Table of Contents

 

 

   

Outstanding 
principal 

amount before 
tender offer      

Principal 
amount validly 

tendered  

Outstanding 
principal 

amount after 
tender offer  

6.250% Euro Notes due 2006     Euro     88,400,000          87,449,258     950,742  
6.650% Notes due 2006     US$     300,000          291,693     8,307  
9.375% Notes due 2007     US$     250,000          243,980     6,020  
6.800% Notes due 2008     US$     300,000          293,859     6,141  
9.750% Notes due 2010     US$     250,000          225,810     24,190  
8.500% Notes due 2012     US$     500,000          471,133     28,867  
7.400% Notes due 2016     US$     400,000          387,335     12,665  
9.950% Notes due 2020     US$     100,000          97,050     2,950  
7.500% Notes due 2028     US$     400,000          394,790     5,210  

                            
Total outstanding principal amount of notes     US$     2,607,326     (1)            
Total principal amount of notes tendered     US$     2,511,822     (1)            
Percentage of notes tendered, considered as a single class          96.34%  (1)            

(1) Using the US dollar/Euro exchange rate of 1.2141 as of 5:00 p.m., New York City time, on July 26, 2004 (the expiration date of the tender offer). 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.
(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 

 
Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 
The Company is also subject to the following covenants: 

  

  

  

  
The Company has 60 additional days to file the required information with the Trustee before there is an Event of Default under the Indenture. 

  

  
PDVSA and certain of its subsidiaries render services to the Company and charge the Company for such services. 

  
PDVSA Finance purchased Eligible Receivables of US$6,965,805, US$7,384,657 and US$5,717,425 from affiliated companies during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

  
Eligible Receivables purchased by the Company under the RPA are serviced, managed, administered and collected by PDVSA Petróleo, acting as Servicer pursuant to the Servicing and 
Collection Agency Agreement dated as of April 27, 1998 among the Company, PDVSA Petróleo (the Servicer), PDVSA (solely, as Investment Manager) and Citibank, N.A. (the Servicing and 
Collection Agency Agreement). During the years ended December 31, 2004 2003 and 2002, the Company incurred US$9,099, US$7,212 and US$7,699, respectively, of fees payable to the Servicer 
under the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. Such amounts are recorded under general and administrative expenses. In addition, during these respective periods the Company 
incurred US$14, US$19 and US$27 of investment management fees payable to PDVSA acting as Investment Manager pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated as of April 27, 
1998, between the Company and PDVSA (the “Investment Manager”). 

  
At December 31, 2004 and 2003 the Company accrued expenses of US$18,472 and US$6,520 due to PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA, respectively, under the terms of the Servicing and Collection 
Agency Agreement and the Investment Management Agreement. 

  

  
The Company is exempt from taxes under the law of the Cayman Islands. As a foreign qualified financial institution, the Company is subject to income tax in Venezuela equivalent to 4.95% of the 
revenues generated as a result of the purchase of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers at a discount under the RPA, to the extent such income is deemed to have Venezuelan origin. 
Income tax expense on revenues earned from discounts on purchased Eligible Receivables (whether already generated or future) which have not been collected are accrued as a deferred tax 
liability. The deferred income tax liability at December 31, 2004 and 2003 relates exclusively to such discounts. 
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§ To deliver periodically to the JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly the Chase Manhattan Bank) (the Trustee) certain reports relating to the generation of Eligible Receivables by PDVSA Petróleo, 
the purchase of Receivables by PDVSA Finance and the receipt of Collections on such Purchased Receivables. 

§ To deliver to the Trustee unaudited quarterly financial statements within 90 days after the last day of the first three quarters of each fiscal year as amended on August 2, 2004, and 

§ To deliver to the Trustee annual audited financial statements within 180 days after the last day of each fiscal year as amended on August 2, 2004. 

(7) Transactions with Shareholder and Affiliated Companies 

(8) Income Taxes 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 
Income tax expense/(benefit) comprises the following: 

  

 

  
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of 200 million ordinary shares of US$1.00 par value each, all of which have been issued and fully paid. All outstanding shares are owned by 
PDVSA. 

  

  
In addition to the covenants and the events of defaults described in the RPA, there are certain risks and contingencies related to the Company. The ability of the Company to meet its obligations 
in respect of its indebtedness is dependent on: (1) the ability of PDVSA, operating through PDVSA Petróleo, to generate sufficient Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers, which is in turn 
dependent upon the existence of demand for PDVSA Petróleo’s crude oil and refined petroleum products, (2) any adverse change in the business or financial condition of a Designated Customer 
that could affect its ability to make timely payments with respect to purchased Eligible Receivables and (3) the continuing ability of the Designated Customers to purchase crude oil and refined 
petroleum products from PDVSA Petróleo. Neither the Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, PDVSA and PDVSA Petróleo, nor any of PDVSA’s other subsidiaries in any way guarantees payment of 
the purchased Eligible Receivables. 

  

  
The following is a summary of material provisions of the RPA and the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement: 

  

  
Pursuant to the RPA, the Company purchases Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers from PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA Petróleo sells, without recourse (except as expressly 
provided therein), to the Company, all its present and future right, title and interest in, to and under Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers generated and to be generated by 
PDVSA Petróleo, subject in each case to the payment by the Company of the purchase price for such Receivables. Eligible Receivables are purchased in the order in which they are 
generated. Under the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Company is required to apply the net proceeds of any indebtedness incurred by it to pay the purchase price for Eligible Receivables 
purchased under the RPA, service or refinance existing debt or for general corporate purposes (including the funding of the Liquidity Account) as permitted by the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement. The purchase price of Eligible Receivables is determined by discounting the face value of the purchased Eligible Receivable by the number of days between the purchase date 
and the day on which the purchased Eligible Receivable is due and payable according to its terms at a rate equal to the weighted average of the yield of the Company’s outstanding 
indebtedness on the day the Company pays the purchase price for the Eligible Receivable to PDVSA Petróleo (as adjusted) plus 50 basis points (see note 2(c)). 
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Years ended 

December 31,  
    2004   2003   2002  
Current     14,217     19,208     19,522  
Deferred     (2,387)   (592)   (572)

      11,830     18,616     18,950  

(9) Shareholder’s Equity 

(10) Commitments and Contingencies 

(11) Significant Agreements 

(a) The Receivables Purchase Agreement 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 
Covenants 

  
PDVSA Petróleo has agreed, for the benefit of the Company, to cause the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers generated by PDVSA Petróleo during 
any consecutive twelve-month period (except as provided below) and that are not subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the RPA to represent at least the lesser of (x) 27 
million barrels of oil of less than 30° API gravity and (y) 80% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total Eligible Receivables generated from sales of oil of less than 30° API gravity. For purposes of 
determining compliance with this covenant for any period ending on or prior to December 31, 1998, the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers will be 
determined solely by reference to months commencing on or after January 1, 1998, as if such customers would have been Designated Customers in each of those months. 

  
On August 2, 2004 as a result of the offer to purchase and consent solicitation, the Company made amendments to Section 6.02 of the RPA by replacing “27 million barrels of oil” in sub-
clause (x) with “4.5 million barrels of oil” and replacing “80%” in sub-clause (y) with “40%” so that, as amended, Section 6.02 of the RPA will provide that PDVSA Petróleo shall agree to 
cause the monthly average amount of eligible receivables of Designated Customers generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive twelve-month period that are not subject to any 
encumbrance other than pursuant to the RPA to represent the lesser of (x) 4.5 million barrels of oil of less than 30° API gravity and (y) 40% of PDVSA Petróleo’s total eligible receivables 
generated from sales of oil of less than 30° API gravity. 

  
Guarantees 

  
PDVSA has guaranteed the performance by PDVSA Petróleo of its obligations under the RPA. 

  
Repurchase of Receivables 

  
PDVSA Petróleo shall not have any (i) right, title or interest in or to the purchased Receivables, (ii) obligation to repurchase the purchased Receivables, or (iii) right or obligation to 
substitute other Receivables for the purchased Receivables, except that PDVSA Petróleo may at any time elect to repurchase from the Company purchased Receivables that are 
Receivables that were not Eligible Receivables when transferred (Affected Receivables). If at any time PDVSA Petróleo shall become aware that an Affected Receivable has become a 
delinquent Receivable, that a purchased Receivable has become a disputed Receivable, or shall receive notice from or on behalf of the Company that the Company ceases to have a 
perfected first priority ownership interest in any purchased Receivable as a result of any act or failure to act by PDVSA Petróleo, then the sale of such purchased receivable will be 
rescinded and the Company shall return such purchased Receivable to PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA Petróleo will, in consideration therefore, transfer to the Company an amount equal to 
the net invoice amount of the Receivable being returned plus rescission adjustment. Upon becoming aware of a failure by PDVSA Petróleo to comply with certain covenants under the 
RPA, the Company may give notice thereof to PDVSA Petróleo and upon receipt of such notice all sales of any or all purchased Receivables (other than purchased Receivables which 
have become delinquent Receivables) sold to the Company prior to such date with respect to which no collections have been received by the Collection Agent (as defined below), shall be 
rescinded and the Company will return such purchased Receivables to PDVSA Petróleo and PDVSA Petróleo will, in consideration therefore, transfer to the Company an amount equal to 
the net invoice amount of the Receivables being returned plus a rescission adjustment. 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

 
Termination 

  
The RPA may be terminated by the parties at any time, after 90 days following notification by the Fiscal Agent that the Company has satisfied and discharged all of its obligations under 
any of its indebtedness and that such indebtedness has ceased to be of further effect. 

  

  
Under the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, Citibank, N.A. has been appointed to act as the initial Collection Agent and PDVSA Petróleo has been appointed to act as the 
Servicer. 
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(b) The Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement 
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PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

(A wholly owned subsidiary of Petróleos de Venezuela, S. A. - PDVSA) 
 

Notes to the Financial Statements

 
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

 
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

Duties of the Collection Agent 
  

Under the RPA, Designated Customers have been instructed to make all payments in respect of receivables owed to PDVSA Petróleo as a result of the purchase of crude oil and refined 
petroleum products to an account held by a Collection Agent. Each Collection Agent is required to transfer amounts corresponding to the Company’s interest in each collection in respect of 
purchased Eligible Receivables to the Company. 

  
Duties of the Servicer 

  
The Servicer has full power and authority to do all things necessary to service, manage, administer and collect any receivable of Designated Customer that has been sold by PDVSA Petróleo to 
the Company, including the defense of the right, title and interest of the Company (and, if applicable, PDVSA Petróleo), to the Receivables and collections in respect thereto. The Servicer shall 
take all commercially reasonable steps to collect, and hold any collections in respect of purchased Eligible Receivables it may receive in trust, for the benefit of the Company (and, if applicable, 
PDVSA Petróleo). 

  

  
On April 11, 2006, the Company redeemed all amounts outstanding under its 9.375% bonds due 2007, 6.80% bonds due 2008, 9.75% bonds due 2010, 8.50% bonds due 2012, 7.40% bonds due 
2016, 9.95% bonds due 2020 and 7.50% bonds due 2028. As a result the Company no longer has any securities registered with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission and the bonds are no 
longer rated by the Credit Rating Agencies. 

  
The carrying value of the above mentioned debt prior to redemption amounted to $83,051, which was redeemed for $95, 701, and the redemption premium of $12,650 was paid by PDVSA Petróleo. 
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(12) Subsequent Event 
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Item 19. Exhibits

Exhibit No:   Description

     
Exhibit 1.1

 

Memorandum and Articles of Association of PDVSA Finance (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registration 
Statement of Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on 
November 27, 1998).

     
Exhibit 2.1

 

Senior Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998, between PDVSA Finance and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee (incorporated herein 
by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registration Statement of Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 1998).

     
Exhibit 2.2

 

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 14, 1998, between PDVSA Finance and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Registration Statement of Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form 
F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 1998). 

     
Exhibit 2.3

 

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 8, 1999, between PDVSA Finance and The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Trustee 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance filed with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission on June 11, 1999).

     
Exhibit 2.4

 

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 16, 2001, between PDVSA Finance and JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly, The 
Chase Manhattan Bank), as Trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 6-K of PDVSA 
Finance filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 20, 2001).

     
Exhibit 2.5

 

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of July 12, 2004, between PDVSA Finance and JPMorgan Chase Bank (formerly, The Chase 
Manhattan Bank), as Trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.5 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance 
filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October 7, 2005)

     
Exhibit 4.1

 

Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of May 14, 1998, among PDVSA Finance, The Chase Manhattan Bank, as Fiscal 
Agent, and The Chase Manhattan Bank, Luxembourg, S.A., as paying agent (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the 
Registration Statement of Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 
Commission on November 27, 1998).

     
Exhibit 4.2

 

Amendment No. 1 to the Fiscal and Paying Agency Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2004, among PDVSA Finance, JPMorgan Chase 
Bank (formerly, The Chase Manhattan Bank), as Fiscal Agent, and J.P. Morgan Bank, Luxembourg, S.A., as Paying Agent Trustee 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance filed with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission on October 7, 2005)
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Exhibit No:   Description

     
Exhibit 4.3

 
Receivables Purchase Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registration Statement of Petróleos de 
Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 1998). 

     
Exhibit 4.4

 

Amendment No. 1 to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 12, 2004, among PDVSA Finance, PDVSA and PDVSA 
Petróleo Trustee (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on October 7, 2005)

     
Exhibit 4.5

 

Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registration Statement of 
Petróleos de Venezuela and PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 
1998).

     
Exhibit 4.6

 
Separateness Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registration Statement of Petróleos de Venezuela and 
PDVSA Finance on Form F-4 filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on November 27, 1998). 

     
Exhibit 4.7

 

Senior Loan dated November 10, 1998, consisting of the issuance by PDVSA Finance of promissory notes to PDV America, Inc. 
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 2.7 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance filed with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission on June 11, 1999).

     
Exhibit 4.8

 

Senior Loan dated July 2, 1999, consisting of a promissory note issued to PDV America, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 10.23 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of PDV America, Inc. filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on 
March 30, 2000).

     
Exhibit 4.9

 

PDVSA Finance/Credit Suisse Financial Products Currency SWAP, dated January 28, 2000, (incorporated herein by reference to 
Exhibit 2.9 to the Annual Report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on June 26, 
2000).

     
Exhibit 12.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
     
Exhibit 12.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
     
Exhibit 13.1*

 
Certification of Principal Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

     
Exhibit 13.2*

 
Certification of Principal Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

     
Exhibit 14.1

 
Annual Report on Form 20-F of Petróleos de Venezuela, S.A., for the year ended December 31, 2004, as first filed with the U.S. 
Securities and Exchange Commission (Commission File No. 001-12142) on November 17, 2006 (incorporated herein by reference). 

* Filed herewith.
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Exhibit No:   Description

     
Exhibit 14.2   The consolidated financial statements of CITGO Petroleum Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2004 (incorporated herein by 

reference to the respective part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission 
(Commission File No. 001-14380) on March 31, 2005). 

     
Exhibit 14.3*   U.S. Market Analysis of Venezuelan Crude Oil and Refined Products by Purvin & Gertz, Inc., dated December 2005.

* Filed herewith.
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SIGNATURES 
  

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf. 
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  PDVSA FINANCE LTD.

   
   
  By: /s/ Eudomario Carruyo

     Name: Eudomario Carruyo

     Title: Principal Director and President

     
Date: November 17, 2006    



Annex A

  
GLOSSARY OF CERTAIN DEFINED TERMS USED PRIMARILY UNDER 

“ITEM 10.C MATERIAL CONTRACTS” 
  

This Glossary sets forth the definitions of certain terms used under “Item 10.C Material contracts.” Terms not defined herein are used as defined in such captions. 
  

“Accelerated Debt Service” means any Debt Service which has been declared to be immediately due and payable following the occurrence of a default or event of default pursuant to the terms 
of any Debt Agreement.

  
“Acceleration Notice” means a written notice to PDVSA Finance and the Fiscal Agent from any holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance (or any trustee for or agent or other representative of 

such holder) stating that the stated maturity date of such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance has been accelerated, the basis for such acceleration and that such notice constitutes an “Acceleration Notice” 
for purposes of the Fiscal Agency Agreement; provided that if the Debt Agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is issued and outstanding contains specific procedures, 
conditions or requirements (including procedures for voting) for the giving of an “Acceleration Notice” thereunder, then no such notice shall constitute an “Acceleration Notice” unless such procedures, 
conditions or requirements have been complied with.

  
“Acceptable LC Issuer” shall mean an office located in the United States of a bank or trust company which is organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof that has both a 

short-term deposit rating of at least P-1 and long-term deposit rating of at least A or its equivalent by Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group (“S&P”) and if rated by any of Duff & Phelps or 
Fitch, by any such rating agency.

  
“Acceptable Letter of Credit” means an irrevocable letter of credit issued to and for the benefit of the Fiscal Agent for the account of a Person other than PDVSA Finance. In order to be an 

“Acceptable Letter of Credit,” a Letter of Credit must be issued by an Acceptable LC Issuer and must by its terms have an initial expiration date at least one year beyond its date of issuance and provide 
that (1) such letter of credit will be automatically renewed for a period of at least one year beyond its then current expiration date unless PDVSA Finance thereof provides written notice (a “Termination 
Notice”) to the Fiscal Agent at least 20 Business Days prior to its then current expiration date that such letter of credit shall expire on such current expiration date and (2) if PDVSA Finance shall have 
delivered a Termination Notice, the Fiscal Agent shall be entitled, at an office located in the Borough of Manhattan, The City of New York, to draw the full amount available to be drawn under such letter 
of credit at any time after its receipt of such Termination Notice and prior to the expiration of such letter of credit. If at any time PDVSA Finance of such letter of credit shall cease to be an Acceptable LC 
Issuer, then such letter of credit shall cease to be an “Acceptable Letter of Credit.” 
  

“Additional Amounts” means additional amounts as may be necessary in order that the net amounts receivable by each Holder after any withholding or deduction in respect of any Taxes shall 
equal the amounts which would have been receivable in respect of any series of Notes in the absence of such withholding or deduction. 
  

“Affected Receivable” shall mean a Purchased Receivable of a Designated Customer (i) with respect to which a representation or warranty set forth in Section 3.07 of the Receivables Purchase 
Agreement was inaccurate at the time such representation or warranty was made or deemed made or (ii) which was owing by a Designated Customer that was not an Eligible Customer as of the 
Determination Date.

  
“Affiliate” of a Person means a Person that, directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by, or is under Common Control with, the Person specified. 

  
“Affiliated Customer” shall mean any Customer directly or indirectly controlled by PDVSA. For purposes of this definition, “control” shall mean (i) the possession of the power (whether directly 

or indirectly and whether by the ownership of share capital, the possession of voting power, contract or otherwise) to appoint and/or remove the majority of the members of the board of directors or other 
governing body or (ii) the ownership of 35% or more of the share capital.
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“API gravity” means an indication of density of crude oil or other liquid hydrocarbons as measured by a system recommended by The American Petroleum Institute (API) in degrees; the lower 

the API gravity, the heavier the compound.

  
“Business Day” shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or any day on which banking institutions are authorized or required to close in Caracas or The City of New York, and with 

respect to any Note, a day that in the city (or in any of the cities, if more than one) in which amounts are payable, as specified in the form of such Note, is not a day on which banking institutions are 
authorized or required by law or regulation to close.

  
“Canadian Person” shall mean each Person organized under the laws of Canada or any province thereof. 

  
“Capital Lease Obligation” of any Person means the obligation to pay rent or other payment amounts under a lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal 

property of such Person which is required to be classified and accounted for as a capital lease or a liability on the face of a balance sheet of such Person in accordance with the applicable accounting 
standard. For purposes of the covenant described under “Negative Pledge,” a Capital Lease Obligation shall be deemed to be secured by a Lien on the property being leased. 
  

“Cayman Islands” shall mean the Cayman Islands. 
  

“Change of Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events: 
  

None of PDVSA, PDVSA Petróleo or their respective successors remains the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act, except that a Person shall 
be deemed to have “beneficial ownership” of all securities that such Person has the right to acquire, whether such right is exercisable immediately or only after the passage of time), directly or 
indirectly, of 100% of the issued and outstanding capital stock of PDVSA Finance;

  
PDVSA Finance consolidates with, or merges into or with, another Person, or PDVSA Finance sells, assigns, conveys, transfers, leases or otherwise disposes of all or substantially all of 

its assets;

  
PDVSA or its successor ceases to be the “beneficial owner” (as defined herein), directly or indirectly, of at least a majority of the issued and outstanding voting shares of PDVSA 

Petróleo; or

  
PDVSA Petróleo shall sell, assign, convey, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its oil producing assets (directly or indirectly, by way of merger, transfer of 

assets or shares of capital stock, or otherwise) to an entity other than PDVSA or its successor, or an Affiliate controlled, directly or indirectly, by PDVSA or its successor, which assumes all of 
the obligations of PDVSA Petróleo under the Receivables Documents.

  
“Change of Control Triggering Event” means the occurrence of both a Change of Control and a Rating Decline. 

  
“Collection Account” shall mean an account bearing such designation and established pursuant to Section 4.02(a) of the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement. 

  
“Collection Agent” shall mean Citibank, N.A., as collection agent under the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement, and any successor thereto or other Collection Agent appointed in 

accordance with the terms of the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement.

  
“Collections” shall mean all collections and all amounts received in respect of Receivables, including Penalty Interest, together with all collections received in respect of the Related Property, in 

the form of cash, checks, wire transfers or any other form of cash payment, and all proceeds of Receivables and collections thereof (including, without limitation, collections evidenced by an account, 
note, instrument, letter of credit, contract, security agreement, chattel paper, general intangible or other evidence of indebtedness or security, whatever is received upon the Sale, exchange, collection or 
other disposition of, or any indemnity, warranty or guaranty payable in respect of, the foregoing and all “proceeds” as defined in Section 9-306 of the UCC as in effect in the State of New York). 
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“Contract” shall mean a contract pursuant to which PDVSA Petróleo has agreed or in the future agrees to Sell Products to a Customer. 

  
“Contractual Obligation” shall mean, as to any Person, any material provision of any security issued by such Person or of any agreement, instrument or other undertaking to which such Person 

is a party or by which it or any of its property is bound, providing for the Incurrence of indebtedness by such Person.

  
“Control” (including, with correlative meanings the terms “Controlling,” “Controlled by” and “under Common Control with”), as applied to any Person, means the possession by another Person 

(whether directly or indirectly and whether by the ownership of share capital, the possession of voting power, by contract or otherwise) of the power to appoint and/or remove the majority of the 
members of the board of directors or other governing body of such Person or otherwise to direct or cause the direction of the affairs and policies of such Person. 
  

“Customer” shall mean a Person that purchases Products from PDVSA Petróleo. 
  

“Customer Inclusion” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.03(a) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement. 
  

“Date of Determination” means any of the first day of any calendar month, any date on which PDVSA Finance Incurs any Indebtedness, any date on which any Restricted Payment is made or 
any date on which PDVSA Finance makes any Investment other than a Permitted Investment.

  
“Debt Agreement” means any indenture, loan agreement, credit agreement, reimbursement agreement, promissory note or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing Indebtedness 

of PDVSA Finance.

  
“Debt Service” means all interim and final (at scheduled maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise) payments of principal (including any amount in respect of original issue discount) of, and 

premium, if any, and interest on (including additional amounts or similar gross-ups in respect of taxes), and other amounts (including fees and commissions) in respect of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance, 
including, without limitation, scheduled and unscheduled optional and mandatory payments, prepayments, redemptions and repurchases of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance. 
  

“Debt Service Coverage Ratio” means, on any Date of Determination, (x) (i) the aggregate amount of payments made to PDVSA Finance by obligors with respect to Purchased Receivables plus 
(ii) capital contributions in the form of cash or Permitted Investments (net of Restricted Payments during such period) obtained by PDVSA Finance, in each case during the 90-day period preceding the 
Date of Determination (or, in the case that the Date of Determination is less than 90 days after the date on which the Receivables Purchase Agreement came into force, for the period from such date to the 
Date of Determination (the “Phase-In Period”) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which is 90 days and the denominator of which is the number of days in the Phase-In Period) divided by (y) the 
Debt Service Requirement.

  
“Debt Service Requirement” means, on any Date of Determination, the aggregate amount of Scheduled Debt Service for the period of 90 consecutive days immediately following the Date of 

Determination.

  
“Delinquent Receivable” shall mean a Purchased Receivable of a Designated Customer that has not been paid by no later than five Business Days after such Receivable became due. 

  
“Designated Customer” shall mean, a Customer that is: 

  
(i)       listed on Schedule I to the Receivables Purchase Agreement on the date of the Receivables Purchase Agreement and as to which PDVSA Petróleo has delivered to PDVSA 

Finance a fully executed copy of a Designated Customer Notice together with a fully executed acknowledgment of receipt thereof by such Person; or 
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(ii)       listed on Schedule I pursuant to a Customer Inclusion and as to which PDVSA Petróleo has satisfied the conditions and requirements set forth in Sections 6.13(c)(ii) and 4.03 of 

the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

  
“Designated Customer Notice” shall mean, with respect to any Designated Customer, a notice in the form of Exhibit A to the Receivables Purchase Agreement with blanks appropriately 

completed and duly executed by the parties to the Receivables Purchase Agreement on or prior to the date of the first Sale to PDVSA Finance of Receivables of such Designated Customer. 
  

“Determination Date” shall mean, with respect to each Receivable, the date on which such Receivable is Generated, unless such Receivable has been Generated prior to its Purchase Date, in 
which case it shall be the Purchase Date.

  
“Discount Rate” shall mean, with respect to any Purchased Receivable, the weighted average of the yield of PDVSA Finance’s outstanding Indebtedness on the Purchase Date on which such 

Purchased Receivable is Sold to PDVSA Finance pursuant to Section 2.01 plus 50 basis points. For purposes of this definition, the weighted average yield of PDVSA Finance’s Indebtedness outstanding 
on any Purchase Date shall be determined by (i) summing the products of the principal amount of each Indebtedness multiplied by the interest rate applicable thereto on such Purchase Date (including, 
for purposes of determining such interest rate, any additional amounts that would be payable by PDVSA Finance as of the date of determination in connection with any payment of principal, premium or 
interest on such Indebtedness pursuant to the terms of such Indebtedness) and (ii) dividing such sum by the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness outstanding as of such Purchase Date. For 
purposes of this calculation, PDVSA Finance’s costs and expenses incurred in connection with the issuance of any Indebtedness shall be treated as interest payable on such Indebtedness during the 
first interest period and the interest rate applicable to such Indebtedness during such period will therefore be calculated on a pro forma basis after giving effect to such costs and expenses. In the event 
of Indebtedness issued at a discount, for purposes of this calculation (i) the principal amount of Indebtedness will be the nominal principal amount thereof discounted to the Purchase Date and (ii) the 
interest rate will be the effective yield to maturity. In the event that PDVSA Finance has no Indebtedness outstanding on a Purchase Date, Discount Rate shall mean, with respect to any Purchased 
Receivables purchased on such Purchase Date, the discount rate agreed between PDVSA Finance and PDVSA Petróleo for such Purchase Date.

  
“Disputed Receivable” shall mean the portion of a Receivable that has become subject to a credit memorandum or any other setoff, reduction or other form of negative adjustment. 

  
“Eligible Customer” shall mean a Customer that is (a) a United States Person or a Canadian Person or (b) any other Customer identified by PDVSA Petróleo to PDVSA Finance and reasonably 

acceptable to PDVSA Finance, provided that an opinion of counsel substantially to the effect of the form of opinion set forth in Exhibit B to the Receivables Purchase Agreement is delivered to PDVSA 
Finance at the time such Customer is so identified.

  
“Eligible Receivable” shall mean any Receivable (a) (i) for purposes of the definition of Purchased Receivable, of a Customer that, on the Determination Date corresponding to such Receivable, 

was an Eligible Customer and (ii) for purposes of Section 6.02 of the Receivables Purchase Agreement, of a Customer that, on the day such Receivable was Generated, was an Eligible Customer, and (b) 
that (i) upon delivery of a final invoice to the Customer, which shall occur by no later than two days prior to the date on which such Receivable shall be due and payable, shall be an obligation to pay a 
sum certain and not subject to a credit memorandum or any other setoff, reduction or other form of negative adjustment and (ii) is required to be paid in full no later than sixty (60) days (or any longer 
period of up to 90 days that becomes the prevailing practice in the international oil business) after the date of the bill of lading with respect to the shipment to which such receivable relate, whether or not 
such Receivable is actually paid during such period.
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“Equity” means the total paid-in capital, retained earnings and reserves of PDVSA Finance and the outstanding principal amount of any capital provided to PDVSA Finance by Petróleos de 

Venezuela in the form of subordinated debt which is subordinated on the terms set forth in the Fiscal Agency Agreement.

  
“Fitch” means Fitch-IBCA Inc. 

  
“Generation” shall mean, with respect to any Receivable, the act and moment on which such Receivable first becomes an obligation of the Customer to pay PDVSA Petróleo. “Generate,” 

“Generated” and “Ungenerated” shall have correlative meanings. 
  

“Governmental Authority” shall mean the government of Venezuela, the Cayman Islands or the United States, or of any state or other political subdivision therein or agency or instrumentality 
thereof.

  
“Guarantee” means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, by any Person guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness of any other Person (the “primary 

obligor”) in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including, without limitation, any Lien on the assets of such Person securing obligations of the primary obligor and any obligation of such 
Person (i) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or to purchase (or advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the 
payment of such Indebtedness, (ii) to purchase Property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the holder of such Indebtedness of the payment of such Indebtedness or (iii) to maintain 
working capital, equity capital or other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness (and “Guaranteed,” “Guaranteeing” 
and “Guarantor” shall have meanings correlative to the foregoing); provided, however, that a Guarantee by any Person shall not include endorsements by such Person for collection or deposit, in either 
case, in the ordinary course of business.

  
“Holder,” “Holder of Notes,” “Noteholder” or other similar terms mean the person in whose name such Note is registered in the security register kept by PDVSA Finance for that purpose in 

accordance with the terms of the Indenture.

  
“IAS” shall mean the accounting standards promulgated by the International Accounting Standards Committee as in effect from time to time. 

  
“IFRS” shall mean International Financial Reporting Standards (formerly International Accounting Standards or (IAS) adopted by the International Accounting Board (IASB) 

  
“Incur” means, with respect to any Indebtedness or other obligation of any Person, to create, issue, incur (by conversion, exchange or otherwise), extend, assume, Guarantee or otherwise 

become liable in respect of such Indebtedness or other obligation or the recording, as required pursuant to IAS or otherwise, of any such Indebtedness or obligation on the balance sheet of such Person 
(and “Incurrence,” “Incurred,” “Incurrable” and “Incurring” shall have meanings correlative to the foregoing); provided, however, that a change in IAS that results in an obligation of such Person that 
exists at such time becoming Indebtedness shall not be deemed an Incurrence of such Indebtedness.

  
“Indebtedness” means at any time (without duplication), with respect to any Person, whether recourse is to all or a portion of the assets of such Person, and whether or not contingent, (i) any 

obligation of such Person for borrowed money, (ii) any obligation of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes, Guarantees or other similar instruments, including, without limitation, any such 
obligations Incurred in connection with the acquisition of Property, assets or businesses, (iii) any reimbursement obligation of such Person with respect to letters of credit, bankers’ acceptances or similar 
facilities issued for the account of such Person, (iv) any obligation of such Person issued or assumed as the deferred purchase price of Property or services (but excluding trade accounts payable or 
accrued liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business), (v) any Capital Lease Obligation of such Person, (vi) the maximum fixed redemption or repurchase price of Redeemable Stock of such Person 
at the time of determination, (vii) any payment obligation of such Person under interest rate protection agreements or exchange rate contracts at the time of determination, (viii) any obligation to pay rent 
or other payment amounts of such Person with respect to any direct or indirect arrangement (excluding, however, any such arrangement between such Person and a wholly owned Subsidiary of such 
Person or between one or more wholly owned Subsidiaries of such Person) pursuant to which Property is sold or transferred by such Person or a wholly owned Subsidiary of such Person and is 
thereafter leased back from the purchaser or transferee thereof by such Person or one of its wholly owned Subsidiaries to which such Person is a party and (ix) any obligation of the type referred to in 
clauses (i) through (viii) of this paragraph of another Person (other than endorsements of negotiable instruments for deposit or collection in the ordinary course of business) and all dividends of another 
Person the payment of which, in either case, such Person has Guaranteed or is responsible or liable, directly or indirectly, as obligor, Guarantor or otherwise. For purposes of this definition, the maximum 
fixed repurchase price of any Redeemable Stock that does not have a fixed repurchase price shall be calculated in accordance with the terms of such Redeemable Stock as if such Redeemable Stock were 
repurchased on any date on which Indebtedness shall be required to be determined pursuant to the Fiscal Agency Agreement or any Debt Agreement; provided, however, that, if such Redeemable Stock 
is not then permitted to be repurchased, the repurchase price shall be the book value of such Redeemable Stock. The amount of Indebtedness of any Person at any date shall be the outstanding balance 
at such date of all unconditional obligations as described above and the maximum liability of any contingent obligations in respect thereof at such date. Subordinated debt owed to PDVSA which 
constitutes Equity shall not be treated as “Indebtedness.” 
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“Investment” means, directly or indirectly, any advance, loan or capital contribution to, the purchase of any stock, bonds, notes, debentures or other securities of, the acquisition, by purchase or 

otherwise, of all or substantially all of the business or assets or stock or other evidence of beneficial ownership of, any Person or the making of any investment in any Person; provided, however, that 
investments shall not include extensions of trade credit on commercially reasonable terms in accordance with normal trade practices and any increase in the equity ownership in any Person resulting from 
retained earnings of such Person. The purchase of Eligible Receivables by PDVSA Finance from PDVSA Petróleo pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement shall not be considered an Investment.

  
“Issuer Notice” means a written notice to PDVSA Finance from any holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance (or any trustee for or agent or the representative of such holder) stating that such 

notice constitutes an “Issuer Notice” for purposes of the Fiscal Agency Agreement; provided that, if the Debt Agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is issued and 
outstanding contains specific procedures, conditions or requirements (including voting procedures) for the giving of an “Issuer Notice” thereunder, then no such notice shall constitute an “Issuer 
Notice” unless such procedures, conditions or requirements have been complied with. 
  

“Lien” means, with respect to any Property, any mortgage or deed of trust, pledge, hypothecation, assignment, security interest, or other security or similar agreement of any kind or nature 
whatsoever on or with respect to such Property (including, without limitation, any conditional sale or other title retention agreement having substantially the same economic effect as any of the 
foregoing).

  
“Material Adverse Effect” shall mean (a) as used in the Receivables Documents, (i) any material impairment of PDVSA Petróleo’s ability to perform any of its material obligations or to comply 

with or conduct any of its business in accordance with any of its material representations, warranties, covenants or agreements under any Transaction Document or (ii) any material impairment of the 
interests, rights or remedies of PDVSA Finance or the Collection Agent under any Transaction Document and (b) as used in the Fiscal Agency Agreement and the Indenture, (i) any material impairment of 
PDVSA Finance’s ability to perform any of its material obligations or to comply with or conduct its business in accordance with any of its material representations, warranties, covenants or agreements 
under any Transaction Document or (ii) any material impairment of the ability of PDVSA Finance to perform any of its payment obligations or other obligations under any Debt Agreement. 
  

“MBPD” means thousands of barrels per day. 
  

“Moody’s” means Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. 
  

“Net Invoice Amount” shall mean, with respect to any Receivable due from any Customer, the amount billed by PDVSA Petróleo to such Customer on account of Products lifted by, or delivered 
to, such Customer, as the case may be, net of any setoff, reduction or negative adjustment of such amount, whether pursuant to a credit memorandum or otherwise. 
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“Oil” shall mean crude oil. 

  
“Penalty Interest” shall mean any late payment or default, interest or finance charges assessed against or payable by any Customer by reason of such Customer’s failure to pay the full Net 

Invoice Amount of any Receivable on or prior to the due date of the Receivables Purchase Agreement.

  
“Permitted Investments” means (i) securities issued or unconditionally and fully guaranteed or insured by the full faith and credit of the government of the United States or any agency or 

instrumentality thereof having maturities of not more than one year from the date of acquisition, (ii) obligations issued or fully guaranteed by the government of Canada, Switzerland or any member 
country of the European Union or any state of the United States of America or of any of such other governments or any political subdivision of any such state or any agency or public instrumentality 
thereof maturing within one year from the date of acquisition thereof and, at the time of acquisition, having one of the two highest ratings obtainable from Moody’s and S&P and, if rated by Duff & 
Phelps or Fitch, from any such rating agency, (iii) certificates of deposit and eurodollar time deposits with maturities of one year or less from the date of acquisition, banker’s acceptances with maturities 
not exceeding one year and overnight bank deposits, in each case with any commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of $250 million and rated at least A or its equivalent by Moody’s and 
S&P and, if rated by Duff & Phelps or Fitch, by any such rating agency, (iv) repurchase obligations with a term of not more than seven days for underlying securities of the type described in clauses (i), 
(ii) and (iii) above, entered into with any financial institution meeting the qualifications specified in clause (iii) above, (v) commercial paper or other debt instruments having one of the two highest ratings 
obtainable from Moody’s and S&P and, if rated by Duff & Phelps or Fitch, from any such rating agency, and in each case maturing within one year after the date of acquisition and (vi) investments in 
money market funds (including, without limitation, deposits in the VISTA Money Market Funds and any other fund for which the Fiscal Agent or any affiliate of the Fiscal Agent serves as an 
administrator, shareholder servicing agent and/or custodian or subcustodian), so long as such have one of the two highest ratings from Moody’s and S&P and, if rated by any of Duff & Phelps or Fitch, 
from any such rating agency and invest exclusively in investments of the types described in clauses (i) through (v) above. 
  

“Permitted Liens” means Liens to secure the purchase price of Property or assets acquired by PDVSA Finance after the date of the Fiscal Agency Agreement, or to secure Indebtedness 
incurred solely to finance the acquisition of property or assets acquired by PDVSA Finance after the date of the Fiscal Agency Agreement (in each case other than Property or assets consisting of 
Purchased Receivables under the Receivables Purchase Agreement); provided, however, that such Lien is limited to the property or assets financed, secures Indebtedness in an amount not in excess of 
the purchase price of such property or assets, and is created within 180 days of the acquisition of such property or assets and that aggregate amount of Indebtedness outstanding at any time secured by 
such Liens shall not exceed $1,000,000.

  
“Person” shall mean any individual, partnership, joint venture, firm, corporation, association, trust or other enterprise or any government or political subdivision or any agency, department or 

instrumentality thereof.

  
“Products” shall mean Oil and refined petroleum products. 

  
“Property” means, with respect to any Person, any interest of such Person in any kind of property or asset, whether real, personal or mixed, or tangible or intangible, including, without limitation, 

capital stock in any other Person.

  
“Purchase Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement. 

  
“Purchase Price” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(b) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement. 

  
“Purchased Receivables” shall mean those Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers which have been Sold to PDVSA Finance pursuant to Section 2.01 of the Receivables Purchase 

Agreement, provided that, from and after the date on which PDVSA Petróleo repurchases or PDVSA Finance returns, pursuant to Section 4.04 of the Receivables Purchase Agreement, any Purchased 
Receivable previously Sold to PDVSA Finance, such Receivable shall cease to be a Purchased Receivable.
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“Rating Agency” shall mean, with respect to any outstanding Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance, any rating agency or agencies that has rated such Indebtedness at the request of PDVSA 

Finance.

  
“Rating Category” means (i) with respect to Moody’s, any of the following categories: Aaa, Aa, A, Baa, Ba, B, Caa, Ca, C and D (or equivalent successor categories); and (ii) the equivalent of 

any such category of Moody’s used by Duff & Phelps or Fitch, or any other Rating Agency. In determining whether the Rating Category of any series of Notes has decreased by one or more gradations, 
gradations within Rating Categories (1, 2 and 3 for Moody’s or the equivalent gradations for another Rating Agency) shall be taken into account (e.g., with respect to Moody’s, a decline in a rating from 
Aa2 to Aa3, will constitute a decrease of one gradation). A Rating Category is “Investment Grade” if it is Baa3 or above with respect to Moody’s. 
  

“Rating Date” means that date on which Change of Control occurs. 
  

“Rating Decline” means the occurrence on, or within three months after, the date of the occurrence of a Change of Control of any of the following events: (a) in the event any Indebtedness of 
PDVSA Finance is rated by any Rating Agency on the Rating Date as Investment Grade, the Rating Category of such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance by any Rating Agency shall be decreased below 
Investment Grade as a result of such Change of Control, (b) in the event any Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is rated by any, but not all, of the Rating Agencies on the Rating Date as Investment Grade, 
the Rating Category of such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance by such Rating Agency shall be decreased below Investment Grade as a result of such Change of Control, or (c) in the event any 
Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance is rated below Investment Grade by all Rating Agencies on the Rating Date, the Rating Category of such Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance by any Rating Agency shall 
be decreased by one or more gradations as a result of such Change of Control.

  
“Receivables” shall mean, with respect to any Customer, the indebtedness, payment obligation and accounts receivable owed or to be owed by such Customer to PDVSA Petróleo arising from 

the Sale from time to time of Products to such Customer by PDVSA Petróleo in the ordinary course of business and in respect of which a bill of lading or an invoice has been issued to such Customer, 
together with (i) all of the rights and benefits (including, without limitation, Penalty Interest and all rights of rescission, replevin or reclamation and other remedies and damages) of PDVSA Petróleo which 
may arise from any of the foregoing, and all accounts (as defined under the UCC as in effect in the jurisdiction of the chief executive offices of such Customer), general intangibles (as defined under the 
UCC as in effect in the jurisdiction of the chief executive offices of such Customer) and contract rights associated with any of the foregoing, (ii) any Related Property and (iii) all Collections arising out of 
any of the foregoing.

  
“Receivables Documents” shall mean the collective reference to the Receivables Purchase Agreement, the Servicing and Collection Agency Agreement and each Designated Customer Notice. 

  
“Redeemable Stock” of any Person means any equity security of such Person that by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible or for which it is exchangeable), or 

otherwise (including on the happening of an event), is required to be redeemed or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or part, or is exchangeable for debt at any time, in whole or in 
part, on or prior to the maturity date of any outstanding Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance.

  
“Related Property” shall mean, with respect to each Receivable: 

  
(a)       all of PDVSA Petróleo’s interest in the Products the Sale of which gave rise to such Receivable; 

  
(b)       all Liens and property subject thereto from time to time securing payment of such Receivable, whether pursuant to the contract related to such Receivable or otherwise; and 
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(c)       all guarantees, insurance, letters of credit and other agreements or arrangements of whatever character from time to time supporting or securing payment of such Receivable 

whether pursuant to the contract related to such Receivable or otherwise;

  
including in the case of clauses (b) and (c), without limitation, pursuant to any obligations evidenced by an account, note, instrument, contract, security agreement, chattel paper, general intangible or 
other evidence of indebtedness or security but excluding any amounts due to third parties for services rendered in connection with the Generation of such Receivable. 
  

“Republic” shall have the meaning set forth in the introductory paragraph of the Receivables Purchase Agreement. 
  

“Repurchase Adjustment” for any Receivables repurchased pursuant to Section 4.04 of the Receivables Purchase Agreement shall mean the Net Invoice Amount of such Receivable multiplied 
by (a) the Discount Rate multiplied by (b) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days from and including the Purchase Date to but excluding the Repurchase Date of such Receivable and the 
denominator of which is 360.

  
“Repurchase Date” shall have the meaning set forth in Section 4.04(a) of the Receivables Purchase Agreement. 

  
“Requirements of Law” shall mean, as to any Person, the certificate of incorporation and bylaws or other organizational or governing documents of such Person, and any law, treaty, rule or 

regulation or a final determination of a court or other Governmental Authority, in each case applicable to or binding upon such Person or any of its Property or to which such Person or any of its Property 
is subject except for any provision of such certificate of incorporation, bylaws, other organizational or governing documents, law, treaty, rule, regulation or final determination the violation of which will 
not have a Material Adverse Effect.

  
“Rescission Adjustment” for any sale of a Purchased Receivable rescinded pursuant to Section 4.04 of the Receivables Purchase Agreement shall mean the Net Invoice Amount of such 

Receivable multiplied by (a) the Discount Rate multiplied by (b) a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days from and including the Purchase Date to but excluding the Rescission Date of such 
sale, and the denominator of which is 360.

  
“Scheduled Debt Service” means, on any date, payments of principal of, and premium, if any, and interest on, and other amounts (including fees and commissions), in respect of, Indebtedness 

of PDVSA Finance that are scheduled to become due and payable on or after such date in amounts that are determinable as of such date. 
  

“Sell” shall mean sell, grant, transfer, convey and assign and “Sale” and “Sold” shall have correlative meanings. 
  

“Specified Event” means either of the following events: (i) upon notification to PDVSA Finance pursuant to a Specified Event Notice, (A) failure of PDVSA Finance to comply with any covenant 
referred to in clause (b)(i) under “Events of Default” and the continuation of such failure or (B) failure of PDVSA Petróleo to comply in any material respect with its obligation under the Receivables 
Purchase Agreement to cause the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers Generated by PDVSA Petróleo during any consecutive twelve-month period that are not 
subject to any encumbrance other than pursuant to the Receivables Purchase Agreement to represent at least the lesser of (x) 4.5 million barrels of crude oil of less than 30°API gravity and (y) 40% of 
PDVSA Petróleo’s total Eligible Receivables Generated from sales of crude oil of less than 30°API gravity (for purposes of determining compliance with such obligation for any period ending on or prior 
to December 31, 1998, the monthly average amount of Eligible Receivables of Designated Customers will be determined solely by reference to months commencing on or after January 1, 1998), and, in 
either case, the continuation of such failure, or (ii) an Event of Default in paragraph (g) under Item 10.C “Material contracts - The Fiscal Agency Agreement -Events of Default” shall have occurred and be 
continuing.

  
“Specified Event Notice” means a written notice to PDVSA Finance and the Fiscal Agent from any holder of Indebtedness of PDVSA Finance (or any trustee for or agent or other representative 

of such holder) stating that a Specified Event has occurred and is continuing, identifying such Specified Event and stating that such notice constitutes a “Specified Event Notice” for purposes of the 
Fiscal Agency Agreement; provided that, if the Debt Agreement pursuant to which such Indebtedness is issued and outstanding contains specific procedures, conditions or requirements (including 
voting procedures) for the giving of a Specified Event Notice thereunder then no such notice shall constitute a “Specified Event Notice” unless such procedures, conditions or requirements have been 
complied with.
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“Subsidiary” shall mean, as to any Person, (i) any corporation more than 50% of whose stock of any class or classes having by the terms thereof ordinary voting power to elect a majority of the 

directors of such corporation (irrespective of whether or not at the time stock of any class or classes of such corporation shall have or might have voting power by reason of the happening of any 
contingency) is at the time owned by such Person and/or one or more Subsidiaries of such Person and (ii) any partnership, association, joint venture or other entity in which such Person and/ or one or 
more Subsidiaries of such Person has more than a 50% equity interest at the time.

  
“Swap” shall mean the transaction between two parties to sell each other a currency with commitment to re-exchange the principal amount at the maturity of the deal. 

  
“Tax” shall mean any tax, duty, levy impost, assessment or other governmental charge (including penalties, interest and any other liabilities related thereto) imposed by Venezuela or the Cayman 

Islands.

  
“Total Liabilities to Equity Ratio” means (x) the aggregate outstanding principal amount of all Indebtedness Incurred by PDVSA Finance divided by (y) PDVSA Finance’s Equity, in each case 

as of the date of determination.

  
“Transaction Documents” means the collective reference to the Fiscal Agency Agreement, each Debt Agreement, the Receivables Documents and any other documents delivered pursuant to or 

in connection with the foregoing.

  
“UCC” shall mean the Uniform Commercial Code as from time to time in effect in the relevant jurisdiction. “United States” or “U.S.” shall mean the United States of America. 

  
“United States” or “U.S.” shall mean the United States of America. 

  
“United States Person” shall mean each Person organized under the laws of the United States or any state thereof. 
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EXHIBIT 12.1

  
CERTIFICATION

  
I, Eudomario Carruyo, certify that:

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

 

  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance Ltd.; 

  2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

  4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a - 15(e) and 15d - 
15(e)) for the company and have:

  (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information 
relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 
prepared;

  (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

  (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit 
committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: November 17, 2006

 
/s/ Eudomario Carruyo  
Eudomario Carruyo  
Principal Director and President  



EXHIBIT 12.2

  
CERTIFICATION

  
I, Antonio Simancas Cardozo, certify that:

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
 

 

  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of PDVSA Finance Ltd.; 

  2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the 
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations 
and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

  4. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a - 15(e) and 15d - 
15(e)) for the company and have:

  (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision to ensure that material information 
relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being 
prepared;

  (b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure 
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

  (c) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by the annual report that has materially 
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

  5. The company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit 
committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

  (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the 
company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

  (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: November 17, 2006

 
/s/ Antonio Simancas Cardozo  
Antonio Simancas Cardozo  
Chief Financial Officer  



EXHIBIT 13.1

  
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, 

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO 
SECTION 906 OF THE U.S. SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  
In connection with the annual report of PDVSA Finance Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Eudomario Carruyo, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the U.S. Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that: 
  

Date: November 17, 2006

 
  

 

  (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Eudomario Carruyo  
Eudomario Carruyo  
Principal Director and President  



EXHIBIT 13.2

  
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE U.S. SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

  
In connection with the annual report of PDVSA Finance Ltd. (the “Company”) on Form 20-F for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Antonio Simancas Cardozo, Chief Financial Officer, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the U.S. Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

  

Date: November 17, 2006

 
  

 

  (i) the Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  (ii) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company. 

/s/ Antonio Simancas Cardozo  
Antonio Simancas Cardozo  
Chief Financial Officer  
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Purvin & Gertz, Inc. ("Purvin & Gertz") was engaged by PDVSA Finance Ltd. (“PDVSA Finance”) to assess the markets for Venezuelan type crude oils and Venezuelan refined petroleum products relative 
to the present customer relationships and contracts of Petróleos de Venezuela S. A. and its subsidiaries ("PDVSA"), with a particular focus on the United States and the Designated Customers included in 
the PDVSA Finance Ltd. (“PDVSA Finance”) Annual Report, as filed on Form 20-F, for the 2004 fiscal year, to which this report is an annex. Purvin & Gertz has been retained on a continuous basis to 
provide an annual update of this report for inclusion in the annual report. Purvin & Gertz’ analysis is based to a large extent on information available from public sources, primarily sources such as the 
Energy Information Service (the "EIA") of the United States government and the United States Customs Service, and information available from the American Petroleum Institute (the "API"), as well as a 
variety of trade publications.

 
Throughout this report, the term “MB/D” and “MBPD” refers to thousand barrels per day. 
 
This report was prepared for the sole benefit of the client. The distribution and use of this report by ratings agencies, PDVSA and the current and potential owners of PDVSA Finance debt securities is 
permissible for the purposes described below. No further distribution is to be made without the written consent of Purvin & Gertz. Purvin & Gertz understands that this report will be included as an annex 
to the PDVSA Finance Annual Report, as filed on Form 20-F, for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004, and which may be used for purposes relating to the offer and sale of debt securities by PDVSA 
Finance. Purvin & Gertz consents to this report being included in such documents subject to the limitations expressed by PDVSA Finance for all information presented therein as well as those below. 
 
Purvin & Gertz conducted this analysis and prepared this report utilizing reasonable care and skill in applying methods of analysis consistent with normal industry practice. All results are based on 
information available at the time of review. Changes in factors upon which the review is based could affect the results. NO IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A 
PARTICULAR PURPOSE SHALL APPLY. Some of the information on which this report is based is from other sources, including public sector data. Purvin & Gertz has utilized such information without 
verification unless specifically noted otherwise. Purvin & Gertz accepts no liability for errors or inaccuracies in information provided by others. 
 
Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Offering Memorandum for the debt securities. 
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 I.       INTRODUCTION  



 

 

 
In recent years, PDVSA has been one of the largest suppliers of crude oil and refined petroleum products to the United States. As shown in the following table, PDVSA had an 18% share of imports of the 
sum of heavy sour crude oil, light sour crude oil and refined petroleum products into the combined U.S. East Coast, U.S. Midwest, and U.S. Gulf Coast regional markets in 2004. These markets together 
represent a significant portion of the overall U.S. sour crude oil import market.

The reductions in 2002 and 2003 in market share and total exports to the U.S. reflected a very significant reduction in production of crude and products in Venezuela in December 2002 caused by a strike 
affecting PDVSA operations as well as reduced OPEC production ceilings. The strike also impacted production in early 2003 but production levels recovered quickly to equilibrium levels beginning in 
March 2003. The increase in 2004 reflects a full recovery from the strike, especially in terms of refined petroleum products. 

Venezuelan crude oil production is generally characterized as heavy (meaning less than 30º API gravity) and sour (meaning greater than 0.7% sulfur content by weight). To economically process heavy 
sour crude oil into higher value petroleum products requires a high level of refining complexity. The United States, Venezuela, and the Caribbean possess most of the complex sour crude oil refining 
capacity in the Atlantic Basin. Capacity outside these areas to process heavy sour crude oil, mainly in Northwest Europe, is limited. 

PDVSA's substantial U.S. market share has been enhanced by acquisitions and joint ventures by PDVSA and an effective wholesale marketing strategy. Through its U.S. affiliates including CITGO and 
Hovensa in the U.S. Virgin Islands (USVI), PDVSA has acquired or entered into agreements involving refineries capable of efficiently processing sour crude oil. PDVSA currently owns or controls 
through joint venture arrangements more than 1,000,000 B/D of refinery capacity in the United States and the USVI. These refineries processed about 83% of PDVSA’s crude oil exports to Designated 
Customers in the United States and the USVI in 2004, equal to 1,044,000 B/D of sour crude oil imports (Refiners in bold type on Page 8 - Designated Customer Table). As a result of PDVSA’s acquisitions 
and marketing strategy, the Designated Customers of PDVSA Finance together represented more than 86% (Page 8 - Designated Customer Table) of sour crude oil imports into PADDs I, II, III and VI of 
the U.S. in 2004, leaving no other significant customers in these U.S. markets capable of processing large quantities of incremental sour crude oil. This concentration of 86% of the entire market for crude 
similar to Venezuela’s production among Designated Customers is, in itself, an effective economic barrier to PDVSA’s potential diversion of crude to alternative customers. 
 
The sour crude oil capacity utilization rate of the complex refineries in the United States processing sour crude oil was around 92% in 2004 (Table A2), leaving only about 617 MBPD of unutilized capacity. 
After excluding refineries capable of processing sour crude but which chose instead to process light sweet North Sea crude oil, inland refineries not capable of receiving foreign imports, and asphalt 
refineries where operating rate is seasonal, this equates to only about 8% of total available sour crude oil capacity in these markets. Sustained levels of over 95% utilization of capacity are difficult to 
maintain industry wide. Further expanding PDVSA's market for sour crude oil would likely require significant capital investment and/or crude oil price discounting to displace customary supplies. A 
significant portion of PDVSA's heavy sour crude oil production simply could not be diverted from the Designated Customers due to refinery processing limitations. 
 
In conclusion, based on Purvin & Gertz' study of the U.S. and Atlantic Basin markets for PDVSA's crude oil production and PDVSA's high degree of market penetration, realistically, PDVSA would not be 
able to divert large quantities of its crude oil supplies to customers outside the group of Designated Customers in the United States or elsewhere without severe financial consequences. 
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 II.       SUMMARY  

PDVSA IMPORT MARKET SHARE  
East Coast, Gulf Coast and Midwest Regions  
   
    2004   2003   2002  
    Total   PDVSA   Total   PDVSA   Total   PDVSA  
    MB/D   MB/D   %   MB/D   MB/D   %   MB/D   MB/D   %  
Heavy Sour Crude Oil     3,502     1,029     29%  3,452     893     26%  3,064     910     30%

Light Sour Crude Oil     2,055     161     8%  2,088     141     7%  2,379     164     7%
Refined Petroleum Products     2,106     203     10%  1,797     136     8%  1,658     128     8%

      7,663     1,392     18%  7,336     1,170     16%  7,101     1,202     17%



 

 

 
Venezuelan crude oil production is generally characterized as heavy (meaning less than 30º API gravity) and sour (meaning greater than 0.7% sulfur content by weight). In 2004, 86% of PDVSA's crude oil 
exports to the U.S. were sour crude oil, with the majority being of the heavy sour crude type. The United States, Venezuela and the Caribbean possess most of the heavy sour crude oil refining capability 
in the Atlantic Basin. In order to economically process Venezuelan heavy sour crude oil into higher value refined petroleum products generally requires a relatively high level of refining complexity. 
Venezuelan sour crude oil imported in 2004 into the combined U.S. East Coast, Midwest, and Gulf Coast regional markets had an average API gravity of 19.9° and a sulfur content of 2.22% by weight (from 
Purvin & Gertz import data base). As a point of comparison, the sour crude oil imported into the combined U.S. East Coast, Midwest and Gulf Coast regional markets had an average API gravity of 25.6° 
and a sulfur content of 2.44% by weight.

The PADD (Petroleum Administration for Defense District) designation is used by the DOE to report fuels statistics. The U.S East Coast is designated as PADD I, the U.S Midwest is designated as 
PADD II, and the U.S. Gulf Coast is designated as PADD III. In addition, the Rocky Mountain region is designated as PADD IV, the West Coast as PADD V, and the Caribbean region is PADD VI. 
 
In late 2002, a strike in Venezuela resulted in greatly reduced operating levels in PDVSA. Crude production was reduced from around 3 million B/D in November 2002 to about 600,000 B/D in January 2003. 
The production levels have risen significantly since, staying above 2.5 million B/D since April 2003.

 
As shown in the table of Sour Crude Imports by Source on Page 6, the share of heavy sour crude imports from PDVSA into the US PADD I-III region rebounded to 29% from a recent low of 26% in 2003. 
This change was due in part to the recovery of PDVSA production and exports to pre-strike levels. In contrast, Canada, Mexico and the Middle East have decreased their collective market share of heavy 
sour crude imports in 2004 after the increases experienced over the last several years. With respect to total sour crude imports, PDVSA’s market share increased to 21% in 2004 after declining to 19% in 
2003.

 
PDVSA continues to be one of the largest suppliers of sour crude oil and refined products to the U.S. with a 16% share of imports into the combined U.S. East Coast, Midwest and Gulf Coast markets 
(PADDs I-III) in 2004 (table below). If the Hovensa refinery in the USVI (PADD VI) were included, the PDVSA would represent about 18% of total imports. The Hovensa refinery exports most products 
produced to the U.S. East Coast and, therefore, essentially acts as an East Coast refinery. PDVSA is also one of the largest foreign suppliers of heavy sour crude oil to these markets. 

 
The U.S. Rocky Mountain (PADD IV) and West Coast (PADD V) regions are generally not considered competitive markets for Venezuelan crude oils. This is due to logistical and competitive advantages 
possessed by Canadian production (in the case of PADD IV), and by California, Alaska, Pacific Basin and Middle East production (in the case of PADD V). 
 
Venezuela’s crude exports to the U.S. were 89% sour in 2004, as shown in the table below. Of the sour crude, all of the imports in 2004 not allocated to PADD I-III were imported by Hovensa (PADD VI), 
except for a few thousand B/D shipped to the West Coast (PADD V) for specialty asphalt purposes (not included in table below). 
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 III.       CRUDE OIL IMPORTS  

PDVSA MARKET SHARE, 2004  
East Coast, Gulf Coast and Midwest Regions  
                   
    Sour Crude Oil   Products   Total Import   %  
PDVSA     1,190     203     1,392     18%

Saudi Arabia     1,228     20     1,249     16%

Mexico     1,345     6     1,351     18%

Canada     705     311     1,016     13%
Other     1,089     1,565     2,655     35%

Total     5,557     2,106     7,663     100.0%



 

 

The following table summarizes total PADD I, II, and Ill crude oil imports for 2000 through 2004. The table demonstrates that the Gulf Coast (PADD Ill) is the largest of the three U.S. sour crude oil import 
markets shown. The table also illustrates that PDVSA's market share for sour crude oil, and heavy sour crude oil in particular, is substantial, particularly in the East and Gulf Coast regions. In the Midwest 
region (PADD II), where Canadian crude oil has a significant transportation advantage over Venezuelan crude oil, PDVSA's market share is significantly lower than in the other two regions. 
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2004 TOTAL U.S. VENEZUELAN CRUDE IMPORTS  
PADDs I, II, III and VI      
    MB/D   %  
Light Sweet     180     11  
Light Sour     214     14  
Heavy Sour     1,180     75  
Total     1,574     100  
             
Total Sour     1,394     89  

SOUR CRUDE OIL IMPORTS BY SOURCE (MB/D)

    Total Sour Crude   Heavy Sour Crude  
        PADD I   PADD II   PADD III   Total   %   PADD I   PADD II   PADD III   Total   %  

2004     PDVSA     115     14     1,060     1,190     21%   115     3     911     1,029     29%

      Canada     73     631     1     705     13%   63     598     0     661     19%

      Mexico     42     7     1,296     1,345     24%   42     7     1,165     1,213     35%

      Mid East     174     239     1,497     1,910     34%   29     1     272     301     9%

      Other     94     6     307     408     7%   65     6     227     298     8%

      Total     499     897     4,161     5,557          313     614     2,574     3,502       
2003     PDVSA     77     15     942     1,034     19%   70     4     819     893     26%

      Canada     80     647     6     733     13%   65     630     1     696     20%

      Mexico     51     1     1,408     1,459     26%   51     0     1,286     1,337     39%

      Mid East     225     214     1,571     2,010     36%   44     2     317     363     11%

      Other     57     8     238     303     5%   37     2     125     164     5%

      Total     489     885     4,165     5,539          266     637     2,549     3,452       
2002     PDVSA     91     28     955     1,074     20%   74     13     823     910     30%

      Canada     84     631     1     716     13%   27     520     0     546     18%

      Mexico     47     10     1,372     1,429     26%   45     7     1,126     1,178     38%

      Mid East     217     245     1,431     1,894     35%   47     1     187     234     8%

      Other     92     26     212     330     6%   41     18     137     195     6%

      Total     532     940     3,971     5,443          234     557     2,273     3,064       
2001     PDVSA     136     44     1,010     1,189     21%   136     42     966     1,144     37%

      Canada     62     682     0     744     13%   51     505     0     556     18%

      Mexico     38     17     1,186     1,241     22%   38     1     960     1,000     32%

      Mid East     212     278     1,814     2,304     41%   30     15     229     274     9%

      Other     32     15     118     165     3%   30     11     95     135     4%

      Total     479     1,036     4,128     5,643          284     574     2,250     3,109       
2000     PDVSA     168     56     858     1,082     20%   164     48     748     960     35%

      Canada     64     738     16     817     15%   53     513     0     566     20%

      Mexico     34     41     1,072     1,148     22%   34     27     724     785     28%

      Mid East     178     265     1,703     2,145     40%   36     23     302     361     13%

      Other     24     8     91     123     2%   20     5     72     97     4%

      Total     469     1,107     3,739     5,315          308     615     1,883     2,769       



 

 
In PADD I, total sour crude oil imports have increased from 469 MB/D in 2000 to 499 MB/D in 2004. The Middle East (primarily Saudi Arabia) and Venezuela are typically the largest sour crude oil 
importers into PADD l. PDVSA market share increased in 2004 to 23% of total sour crude oil and 37% of heavy sour crude oil. In comparison, PDVSA 2003 imports represented 16% of total sour crude oil 
and 26% of heavy sour crude oil, while in 2002, PDVSA imports were 17% of total sour crude oil and 32% of heavy sour crude oil. The reduction between 2003 and 2002 is primarily due to the strike that 
began in late 2002. The increase in 2004 primarily reflects a recovery from the strike.

With respect to PADD II, Canada is the largest exporter to the region for all crude oil types. In 2004, Canada accounted for about 70% of the total sour crude oil imported into PADD II, down from 73% in 
2003. PDVSA had a total sour crude oil import share in PADD II that was practically non-existent in 2004, a continuation of the declining trend of the last several years. Heavy sour crude oil imports into 
PADD II are also dominated by Canada, which had a 97% share of the heavy sour crude oil market in 2004. If PDVSA were to attempt parity pricing in the U.S. Midwest to gain market share, it would result 
in lower netback values for its crude oil than could be received by incremental sales into the U.S. Gulf Coast. For this reason, there appears to be little incentive for PDVSA to seek a greater market share in 
PADD II and explains its loss in PADD II market share since 2000.

 
Middle Eastern producers retained their traditional position in PADD III as the largest sour crude oil exporters to the region with a 36% market share in 2004. PDVSA supplied 25% of total sour imports to 
PADD III in 2004, reversing the declining trend in recent years. In contrast, Mexican imports decreased after having increased substantially over the last several years, yielding a 2004 total sour crude 
market share of 31%. PDVSA’s market share of heavy sour crude oil had peaked in 2001 at 43%. It then declined to a 36% share in 2002 and a 32% share in 2003, before increasing to 35% in 2004. The 
decline had been caused by a combination of reduced OPEC quotas, increased Mexican heavy sour imports and the reduction in PDVSA production due to the Venezuelan strike. A recovery from the 
strike and a decline in imports from Mexico explain the increase in share of heavy sour crude to PADD III in 2004.

 
In PADD VI, sour crude oil imports to the Hovensa refinery in St. Croix, USVI increased from 179 MB/D in 2002 to 270 MB/D in 2004 of which 263 MB/D was sourced from PDVSA. PDVSA has a 50% 
interest in the St. Croix refinery along with Amerada Hess. The refinery includes a coker complex to enhance the economics of processing heavier sour Venezuelan crude oil. As noted, St. Croix is in 
PADD VI, which includes all of the U.S. Caribbean Territories. The St. Croix refinery exports substantially all of its product output into the U.S. market, primarily into PADD I. Although the Hovensa 
refinery is in PADD VI, because the refinery exports most of its product into the U.S. market, Hovensa is effectively a PADD I refinery as it affects product balances. 
 
DESIGNATED CUSTOMERS AND U.S. IMPORT MARKET

PDVSA's significant U.S. market share has been enhanced by acquisitions and joint ventures by PDVSA, and an effective wholesale marketing strategy. Through its U.S. affiliates, including CITGO and 
Hovensa in the USVI, PDVSA has acquired or entered into agreements with refineries capable of efficiently processing heavy sour crude oil. PDVSA currently owns or controls, through joint venture 
arrangements, more than 1,000,000 B/D of refinery capacity in the U.S. In 2004, approximately 1.04 million barrels per day or about 76% of total Venezuelan sour crude oil exports to all eligible U.S. refining 
customers went into these affiliated facilities. This fraction rises to 83%, when compared with PDVSA’s exports to Designated Customers only. 
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The following table lists the primary Designated Customers for PDVSA Finance ranked by total barrels of sour crude oil imported into PADDs I, II, III and VI in 2004 and the breakdown of supply for major 
sour crude oil sources. As the table illustrates, Designated Customers of PDVSA Finance together represented more than 86% of the sour crude oil imports into U.S. PADDs I, II, III and VI in 2004, leaving 
no other significant customers in these markets for sour crude oil. PDVSA's sour crude oil import market share among these customers is about 25%.
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U.S. ELIGIBLE CUSTOMER IMPORT SUMMARY (1) - PADDs I, II, III and VI  
    Sour Imports (MB/D)   2004 (MB/D)  
    2004%   2004   2003   2002   2001   PDVSA   Mexico   Middle East  Canada   Other  
                                          
ExxonMobil (3)     17.0%  1006    870     761     886     89    379    400    1    137 
Valero (5)     10.5%  618    601     416     479     94    169    313    10    32 
Equiva Trading International LLC (4)     9.1%  538    645     609     635     6    4    498    0    31 
ConocoPhillips(6)     8.6%  508    467               209    104    100    86    10 
Marathon Ashland     6.7%  399    374     361     378     3    90    243    53    9 
CITGO     6.3%  373    380     355     386     330    0    15    0    27 
ChevronTexaco (7)     5.3%  313    331     363     368     15    260    25    0    13 
Flint Hills (8)     5.1%  299    307     271     311     3    0    32    219    46 
BP     4.9%  292    334     259     307     1    42    119    99    31 
Hovensa LLC (9)     4.6%  270    256     179     186     263    0    0    0    7 
Lyondell CITGO     4.4%  261    251     244     241     242    0    4    0    16 
PDV Midwest     2.3%  138    146     65     75     0    0    0    138    0 
Murphy Oil     0.5%  30    63     101     127     2    0    3    21    5 
Hunt Refining     0.5%  30    29     24     27     0    15    15    0    0 
Ergon Refining     0.3%  18    16     18     19     0    0    0    0    18 
NCRA     0.1%  6    7     3     6     0    0    0    6    0 
Sinclair     0.0%  0    0     -      4     0    0    0    0    0 
Fina Oil & Chem     0.0%       30     -      3                           
Farmland Industries (Coffeyville Resources)     0.0%       2     16     25                           
Total Designated Customers     86.4%  5099    5,110     4,471     4,808     1,257     1,063     1,765     635     379  
                                                     
Premcor     5.0%  298    233     245     215     24    180    50    0    44 
United Refining     1.0%  58    62     58     61     0    0    0    58    0 
Shell     0.6%  34    272     295     188     0    25    0    0    9 
Lion     0.4%  24    26     34     34     0    0    24    0    0 
Other     6.7%  393     86     134     280     96     144     72     13     68  
TOTAL ELIGIBLE CUSTOMERS     100.0%  5,905     5,822     5,358     5,712     1,376     1,411     1,912     705     501  
                                                     
(1)   Due to rounding, the sum of 2004 imports for a particular customer may not equal the sum of the sources
(2)   Refineries in bold are PDVSA affiliates or joint venture partners.
(3)   ExxonMobil is the combined Exxon & Mobil
(4)   Equiva Trading International LLC is a trading company which operates for the benefit of Shell Oil Company and Motiva Enterprises (owned by Shell Oil Company and Saudi Refining Inc.) 
(5)   Valero is the combined Valero, Ultramar, and Diamond Shamrock
(6)   ConocoPhillips is the combined Conoco and Phillips
(7)   ChevronTexaco is the combined Chevron & Texaco
(8)   Flint Hills was formerly Koch
(9)   Hovensa LLC (formerly Amerada Hess) is located in St. Croix, USVI which is considered PADD VI.



 

 
STRUCTURAL IMPEDIMENTS TO INCREASE OR DIVERT CRUDE VOLUMES

PDVSA's equity ownership of more than 1,000,000 B/D of refining capacity in the U.S. and the USVI, its substantial import market share among existing third party refineries capable of processing 
Venezuelan type crude oil, and the discounts that would be needed to increase market share in existing complex refineries or through additions of new capacity effectively limit the possibility of a major 
shift by PDVSA away from supplying its Designated Customers. If PDVSA were to attempt such a shift, the resulting competition for the sale of heavy crude oil could result in a downward spiral of 
retaliatory price discounting, leading to even greater reductions in crude oil prices and total revenues.

 
Further market penetration by PDVSA is also constrained by logistical advantages of Canadian crude oil in the Midwest region, the various producer/refiner joint venture relationships in the U.S. East 
and Gulf Coast regions and the limited sour crude oil processing capacity in the United States.

 
FACTORS FURTHER LIMITING MARKET PENETRATION BY PDVSA

Refinery Complexity Requirement: The heavy sour crude oil that dominates PDVSA's production requires refineries with relatively high Nelson complexity factors to most efficiently produce higher 
value refined petroleum products. The Nelson complexity factor is determined by multiplying all reported unit capacities by their complexity factor and dividing by crude oil distillation capacity. A basic 
topping refinery, which essentially separates crude oil into its boiling point fractions, has a complexity factor of 1.0. A refinery with asphalt capacity, which typically includes a vacuum distillation unit, 
has a complexity factor of 1.1 to 3.0. A hydroskimming refinery, which is usually a topping refinery with a catalytic reformer to upgrade the naphtha, has a typical complexity of 4 to 6. A cracking refinery 
which includes a Fluid Catalytic Cracker (FCCU) and/or a Hydrocracker to upgrade gas oil into gasoline and distillates typically has a complexity factor range of 5 to 10. A coking refinery typically has a 
complexity factor of 7 to 12 and includes a delayed coker, which allows full conversion of the crude oil barrel to higher value refined products. 
 
Venezuelan crude oil is typically processed in coking refineries to realize the full value of the crude oil barrel. Refiners without coking capacity generally cannot typically process Venezuelan crude oil 
economically, except with specialty asphalt operations.

 
High Level of Sour Crude Oil Capacity Utilization of Existing Refineries: Approximately 93% of the 8.0 million barrels per day of sour crude oil capacity in PADDs I, II, and Ill was utilized in 2004 (Table 
A2), slightly higher than the 92% utilization seen in 2003 (Table A3). On an industry wide basis, 95% utilization capacity is near the upper limit of sustainable levels when required downtime is considered. 
Tables A2, A3, and A4 in the appendix show refinery design capacities and runs by type of crude for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. 
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Total available sour crude capacity in PADDs I, II, and III is the net refining capacity for processing sour crudes in these markets after excluding: 

It is noted that two refineries in PADD Ill capable of processing sour crude oil signed long term crude oil supply contracts in 2003 with Pemex and have started-up heavy upgrading units in the last few 
years. These refineries are ChevronTexaco Pascagoula, MS and Valero Texas City, TX. In the last 6 years, several heavy-upgrading projects have been completed which include the Premcor Port Arthur, 
TX refinery; the ExxonMobil Baytown, TX refinery; the ConocoPhillips Sweeny, TX refinery; and the MarathonAshland Garyville, LA refinery. 
 
In 2004, there was approximately 674 MBPD of under-utilized sour crude capacity, equivalent to roughly 8% of total sour capacity. Of the roughly 8.0 million barrels per day of sour crude oil refining 
capacity in PADDs I, II, and Ill (Table A2), PDVSA supplied refineries having a crude oil capacity of 7.4 million barrels per day, or 91% of the total capacity. However, 1.8 million barrels of sour crude 
refining capacity is located in PADD II, where Canadian crude oil is geographically and, therefore, economically advantaged. Therefore, PDVSA's effective sour crude oil refining capacity market 
penetration in PADDs I and III is about 93%. This includes refineries where PDVSA has structural arrangements via its wholly owned US affiliate CITGO as well as joint venture arrangements such as 
Lyondell-CITGO, ConocoPhillips Sweeny, and the PDVSA ExxonMobil refinery in Chalmette, LA. 
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  ·  Certain refineries capable of processing sour crude oil which instead chose to process light sweet North Sea or African crude oil 
  

  ·  Inland refineries not capable of receiving foreign imports

  
  ·  Asphalt refineries where operating rate is seasonal

   

UNDERUTILIZED SOUR CRUDE CAPACITY (MB/D)        

    2004   2003   2002   2001  
U.S. East Coast     122    189    46    80 
U.S. Midwest     0    48    69    93 
U.S. Gulf Coast     552    417    452    257 

Total Underutilized Sour Capacity     674    655    567    430 
                       
Total Sour Capacity     7,973    7,883    7,887    7,766 
% Underutilized     8%   8%   7%   6%



 

 
Capital Costs Required to Increase Refinery Complexity: To modify or construct facilities to process incremental quantities of Venezuelan sour crude oil, refiners would require an economic incentive to 
provide adequate return on capital investment, most likely in the form of long-term price discounts to current market pricing. Discounts in the magnitude of 50¢ to $1.00 per barrel would be required to 
provide economic returns sufficient to encourage refiners to construct or modify existing refining facilities to enable them to process heavy crude oil to light refined petroleum products. The resulting 
competition for the sale of heavy crude oil due to retaliatory discounting by Canada, Mexico and the Middle East could result in a downward price spiral resulting in a significant reduction in crude oil 
prices and total revenues from crude oil sales for producing countries. Producers have avoided this in the past by pursuing long-term contracts, joint ventures or acquisitions to place heavy sour crude 
oil production. This strategy is expected to continue in the future.

 
Strategic Affiliations of Competing Producers: Other competing producers are tying up refining capacity in these markets that might otherwise be available to process Venezuelan crude oil. The impact 
of known producer/refiner affiliations can be seen in the concentration of supply. For example, Saudi Arabia imported 1,228 MB/D of sour crude oil to PADDS I, II and III in 2004, a significant portion of 
which was processed by former Saudi Aramco partners ChevronTexaco, ExxonMobil and Saudi Aramco’s U.S. affiliate Motiva. In addition, PEMEX, Mexico’s national oil company, exported 1,345 MB/D 
of sour crude to these markets in 2004, a large portion of which was processed via commercial arrangements including its refinery joint venture with Shell Oil Company as well as long-term supply 
contracts with Premcor to supply 200 MBPD to its Port Arthur refinery and ExxonMobil to supply 65 MBPD to its Baytown refinery. These long-term commitments of customers to competing supplies 
limit expansion potential for PDVSA.

 
Venezuelan Extra Heavy Oil Projects: PDVSA is currently involved in four extra heavy oil production and upgrading projects in Venezuela's Orinoco Oil Belt. The Orinoco Belt projects produce synthetic 
crude, which is essentially upgraded or processed Orinoco Belt crude oil and which is suitable for further processing in traditional refineries. These projects impact the market for PDVSA's traditional 
production and imports into the United States to the extent they include partner refineries which could otherwise be outlets for traditional PDVSA heavy sour crude oil production. The affected refineries 
include the above-mentioned PDVSA ExxonMobil Chalmette refinery and the ConocoPhillips Lake Charles refinery. Conversely, the Orinoco Belt synthetic crudes could create some additional 
opportunity for PDVSA, which has a direct interest in each of the Orinoco Belt projects, to market a wider range of crude oils in the US markets as evident by the sale of sweet Sincor syncrude to Valero. 
 
The Junin (previously Zuata) project, which is one of four projects to be completed to date, can supply 60 MBPD of 23° API crude oil to the ConocoPhillips Lake Charles refinery in addition to supplying 
40 MBPD of syncrude to the Cardon refinery in Venezuela. The Junin project has been in operation since 2000.

 
The second project, Carabobo (previously Cerro Negro), came on-stream in August 2001 and is producing a 16° API syncrude that is being processed at the Chalmette refinery, which is now a 50/50 joint 
venture between PDVSA and ExxonMobil.

 
The third project, Sincor, came on-stream in early 2002 and produces a very sweet, bottomless syncrude stream. Sincor presently has a supply agreement with Valero to provide 45 MBPD of syncrude to 
the Valero refinery in Three Rivers, Texas and the Alon Big Springs, TX refinery. Because of its properties, synthetic crude produced from Sincor will not be extensively marketed to refineries capable of 
processing heavy sour crude oil.

 
Finally, the Ayacucho (previously Hamaca) project produces a 26° API crude oil and the project started-up in 2004. The Ayacucho project markets the synthetic crude on the USGC and to our knowledge 
does not have any supply arrangements at this time.
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Venezuelan product exports to the U.S. were severely impacted by the shutdown of much of Venezuela’s oil refining capacity from December 2002 to February 2003 due to the national strike. Product 
imports to the U.S. recovered in April 2003 and have since been maintained. The following table shows U.S. imports of Venezuelan product from September 2003 to December 2004 from U.S. Customs 
Service data.

 

Summary import data for refined petroleum products to PADD’s I-III in 2004 and 2003 are shown in the table below. Product imports from the U.S. Virgin Islands are not viewed as an independent source 
of foreign supply due to the fact that all such imports are from the Hovensa LLC St. Croix refinery and go primarily into the Amerada Hess and CITGO U.S. marketing operations, and this flow of products 
is unlikely to change or be severed. PDVSA has a 50% interest in the Hovensa St. Croix refinery. Therefore, the imports of refined petroleum products from the U.S. Virgin Islands are indirectly tied to 
PDVSA due to the crude oil supply arrangement and PDVSA's equity position in the refinery.

 
PDVSA's U.S. Virgin Islands affiliation reinforces PDVSA's position as the largest single supplier of refined petroleum products imports to PADDs I, II, and III, and particularly to PADDs I and III. 
 
Transportation costs to the U.S. generally provide PDVSA with an advantage over European-sourced refined petroleum products. However, the U.S. still remains the highest valued alternative market for 
surplus European gasoline production. Conversely, other products which are not in surplus to European regional demand, such as jet kerosene, are disadvantaged for PDVSA, due to freight costs and 
travel time differences to European markets for Venezuelan sourced products.
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 IV.       REFINED PETROLEUM PRODUCTS  

U.S. REFINED PRODUCTS IMPORTS  
(MB/D)  
    2004   2003  
Source   PADD I   PADD II   PADD III   Total   %   PADD I   PADD II   PADD III   Total   %  
PDVSA     159     -      43     203     10%   119     -      18     136     8%

Virgin Islands     284     -      10     293     14%   278     -      3     281     16%

Canada     295     15     2     311     15%   315     13     5     334     19%

Europe     453     -      146     598     28%   308     0     111     420     23%

Middle East     32     -      19     51     2%   19     -      12     31     2%

Other Western     403     -      219     622     30%   352     -      104     456     25%
Far East     15     -      12     27     1%   95     -      44     138     8%

Total     1,641     15     450     2,106         1,487     14     296     1,797      



 

 
Both directly and through its affiliates (not including Hovensa), PDVSA supplied about 11% of the refined petroleum products purchased by the companies that imported into the U.S. East Coast (PADD 
I) in 2004, slightly higher than its 2003 market share. In addition, Hovensa supplied about 17% of refined product imports to PADD I in 2004, a slight decrease versus its 2003 share of 19%. Tables A5 and 
A6 provide more detail on refined product imports by importer for years 2004 and 2003 respectively.

 
In summary, given the commodity nature of refined products, there is no realistic opportunity (without significant discounting) for PDVSA to substitute large quantities of its U.S. refined product 
purchasers with alternative purchasers, due to PDVSA's current broad penetration of the market.
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Detailed tables of the information summarized in the text of this report are included as an appendix to this report. 
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 V.       APPENDIX  

TABLE A1
SOUR CRUDE OIL IMPORTS BY SOURCE

(Heavy indicates less than 30 API; Sour is greater than 0.7% sulfur by weight)

    PADD I   PADD II   PADD III   TOTAL PADD I-III  

    Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

TOTAL
PADD I  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

TOTAL
PADD II  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

TOTAL
PADD III  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

GRAND
TOTAL  

                                                   
2000 - BPD                                                  
Mexico     0    34,380    34,380    14,740    26,746    41,486    347,672    723,978    1,071,650    362,413    785,104    1,147,516 
PDVSA     3,932    164,413    168,344    8,347    47,634    55,981    110,112    747,902    858,014    122,391    959,948    1,082,339 
Canada     10,710    52,825    63,536    224,568    513,038    737,607    15,669    0    15,669    250,948    565,863    816,811 
Mid East     141,656    36,464    178,120    242,085    22,530    264,615    1,400,653    302,090    1,702,743    1,784,393    361,085    2,145,478 
Other     4,246    20,052    24,298    2,784    4,814    7,598    19,041    72,093    91,134    26,071    96,959    123,030 
                                                               
TOTAL     160,544    308,134    468,678    492,525    614,762    1,107,287    1,893,148    1,846,063    3,739,210    2,546,216    2,768,959    5,315,175 
                                                               
                                                               
2001 - BPD                                                              
Mexico     0    37,814    37,814    15,614    1,433    17,047    225,586    960,367    1,185,953    241,200    999,614    1,240,814 
PDVSA     0    135,600    135,600    1,334    42,170    43,504    43,893    966,359    1,010,252    45,227    1,144,129    1,189,356 
Canada     10,641    50,975    61,616    177,466    504,959    682,425    0    0    0    188,107    555,934    744,041 
Mid East     181,682    29,934    211,616    263,359    15,068    278,427    1,584,907    229,019    1,813,926    2,029,948    274,022    2,303,970 
Other     2,370    29,849    32,219    4,093    10,710    14,803    23,688    94,540    118,227    30,151    135,099    165,249 
                                                               
TOTAL     194,693    284,173    478,866    461,866    574,340    1,036,205    1,878,074    2,250,285    4,128,359    2,534,633    3,108,797    5,643,430 
                                                               
                                                               
2002 - BPD                                                              
Mexico     1,433    45,367    46,800    2,753    6,811    9,564    246,263    1,126,233    1,372,496    250,449    1,178,411    1,428,860 
PDVSA     17,337    73,855    91,192    14,912    12,682    27,595    131,803    823,211    955,014    164,052    909,748    1,073,800 
Canada     57,019    26,729    83,748    111,586    519,707    631,293    1,444    0    1,444    170,049    546,436    716,485 
Mid East     170,482    46,910    217,392    244,699    523    245,222    1,243,923    187,005    1,430,929    1,659,104    234,438    1,893,542 
Other     51,200    41,170    92,370    8,833    17,641    26,474    74,978    136,559    211,537    135,011    195,370    330,381 
                                                               
TOTAL     297,471    234,030    531,501    382,784    557,364    940,148    1,698,411    2,273,008    3,971,419    2,378,666    3,064,403    5,443,068 
                                                               
                                                               
2003 - BPD                                                              
Mexico     0    50,526    50,526    833    0    833    121,830    1,286,123    1,407,953    122,663    1,336,649    1,459,312 
PDVSA     7,178    69,636    76,814    11,559    3,501    15,060    122,463    819,493    941,956    141,200    892,630    1,033,830 
Canada     15,063    64,786    79,849    17,844    629,512    647,356    4,422    1,258    5,679    37,329    695,556    732,885 
Mid East     180,658    43,921    224,578    212,145    2,255    214,400    1,254,479    316,800    1,571,279    1,647,282    362,975    2,010,258 
Other     20,447    36,732    57,178    6,184    1,614    7,797    112,575    125,447    238,022    139,205    163,792    302,997 
                                                               
TOTAL     223,345    265,600    488,945    248,564    636,882    885,447    1,615,770    2,549,121    4,164,890    2,087,679    3,451,603    5,539,282 
                                                               
                                                               
2004 - BPD                                                              
Mexico     0    42,038    42,038    0    6,648    6,648    131,508    1,164,661    1,296,169    131,508    1,213,347    1,344,855 
PDVSA     0    115,295    115,295    11,489    2,951    14,440    149,230    910,648    1,059,877    160,719    1,028,893    1,189,612 
Canada     10,423    62,768    73,191    32,298    598,467    630,765    893    0    893    43,615    661,235    704,850 
Mid East     145,407    28,609    174,016    238,760    650    239,410    1,225,279    271,590    1,496,869    1,609,445    300,850    1,910,295 
Other     29,432    64,607    94,038    404    5,694    6,098    80,153    227,306    307,459    109,989    297,607    407,596 
                                                               
TOTAL     185,262    313,317    498,579    282,951    614,410    897,361    1,587,063    2,574,205    4,161,268    2,055,276    3,501,932    5,557,208 
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TABLE A2  
2004 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION  

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  

Company
 

Notes  
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour   Dom.   Canada 

Off- 
shore   Total   Dom.  Canada 

Off- 
shore  Total   Dom.   Canada 

Off- 
shore   Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour   Total 

                                                                  
ChevronTexaco,Perth 
Amboy,NJ

        80     -      80     80     -      -      0     0     -      -      48     48     -      -      48     48     0%  60%  60%

CITGO,Savannah,GA     A     28     -      28     28     -      -      -      -      -      -      26     26     -      -      26     26     0%  93%  93%

CITGO,Thorofare,NJ         80     -      80     80     -      -      -      -      -      -      52     52     -      -      52     52     0%  66%  66%
Coastal Eagle Point (El 
Paso),Westville,NJ

        150     -      -      -      -      -      1     1     -      -      2     2     -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%

ConocoPhillips,Linden,NJ         250     50     -      50     -      -      -      -      -      -      9     9     -      -      9     9     0%  0%  18%
ConocoPhillips,Marcus 
Hook,PA

        185     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%
Giant Refining 
Co.,Yorktown,VA

        59     -      30     30     -      -      -      -      -      -      23     23     -      -      23     23     0%  77%  77%

Premcor,Delaware City,DE         175     53     122     175     -      -      75     75     -      -      84     84     -      -      158     158     141%  68%  90%

Petrowax,Smethport,PA         -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%
Sunoco Inc.,Philadelphia-
Girard Pt.,PA

    NS     330     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      9     9     -      -      9     9     0%  0%  0%
Sunoco Inc.,Marcus 
Hook,PA

    NS     175     -      -      -      -      -      2     2     -      -      2     2     -      -      4     4     0%  0%  0%
United Refining 
Co.,Warren,PA

        67     22     25     47     -      1     -      1     -      34     -      34     -      35     -      35     3%  136%  74%
Valero Energy 
Corp.,Paulsboro,NJ

        168     158     10     168     -      -      104     104     -      -      24     24     -      -      128     128     66%  241%  76%
Young Refining (Closed 
7/04),Douglasville,GA

    A     6     -      6     6     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

                                                                                                       
TOTAL PADD I         1,719     283     347     630     -      1     182     182     -      34     256     290     -      35     438     472     65%  84%  75%

                                                                                   
BP,Whiting,IN         410     140     140     280     147     3     4     154     -      84     1     85     147     87     5     239     110%  61%  85%

BP,Toledo,OH         152     -      -      -      -      -      1     1     -      50     0     51     -      50     2     52     0%  0%  0%

CITGO,Lemont,IL         159     59     100     159     10     61     11     82     -      78     -      78     10     139     11     160     140%  78%  101%
Coffeyville 
Resources,Coffeyville,KS

        110     25     -      25     35     -      8     43     -      -      15     15     35     -      23     58     170%  0%  230%
ConocoPhillips,Wood 
River,IL

        286     200     50     250     150     0     60     211     -      83     -      83     150     84     60     294     105%  167%  118%
ConocoPhillips,Ponca 
City,OK

        194     55     -      55     80     -      4     84     -      3     4     7     80     3     9     91     153%  0%  166%

Exxon Mobil,Joliet,IL         238     70     168     238     (0)   38     4     42     -      176     -      176     (0)   214     4     218     60%  105%  92%
Flint Hills 
Resources,Rosemount,MN

        271     -      271     271     -      -      8     8     -      221     1     222     -      221     9     230     0%  82%  85%
Frontier Oil & Ref.,El 
Dorado,KS

        110     80     10     90     84     -      1     85     -      -      -      -      84     -      1     85     107%  0%  95%
Marathon 
Ashland,Robinson,IL

        192     50     -      50     -      1     32     33     -      1     7     7     -      2     39     41     67%  0%  81%
Marathon 
Ashland,Catlettsburg,KY

        222     197     5     202     119     0     89     208     -      3     -      3     119     3     89     211     106%  59%  105%
Marathon Ashland,St. 
Paul Park,MN

        70     -      10     10     -      4     -      4     -      14     -      14     -      18     -      18     0%  139%  181%
Marathon 
Ashland,Canton,OH

        73     20     5     25     -      -      31     31     -      6     -      6     -      6     31     37     153%  121%  147%

Murphy Oil,Superior,WI         33     -      7     7     -      11     -      11     -      11     -      11     -      23     -      23     0%  161%  324%

NCRA,McPherson,KS         79     29     -      29     35     -      1     36     -      6     -      6     35     6     1     42     128%  0%  148%

Sinclair Oil,Tulsa,OK         70     15     -      15     10     -      2     12     -      0     -      0     10     0     2     12     77%  0%  78%

Sunoco Inc.,Toledo,OH         140     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Sunoco Inc.,Tulsa,OK         85     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%
Tesoro West 
Coast,Mandan,ND

        58     -      -      -      -      3     -      3     -      -      -      -      -      3     -      3     0%  0%  0%
Valero Energy 
Corp.,Ardmore,OK

        85     45     -      45     36     -      19     55     -      -      -      -      36     -      19     55     122%  0%  122%

                                                                                                       
TOTAL PADD II         3,037     984     766     1,750     706     122     276     1,104     -      737     28     765     706     859     304     1,869     112%  100%  107%

                                                                                   
Notes:    A   Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculations

      NS    North Sea sweet
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TABLE A2 (Continued)

2004 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 

Company
   

Notes 
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total  

                                                                                   
Alon USA,Big Spring,TX        62     62     -      62     54     -      -      54     -      -      -      -      54     -     -      54     87%  0%  87%
Atofina Petrochemicals, 
Inc.,Port Arthur,TX

       60     30     -      30     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%
Berry Petroleum Co.,Stevens 
(Closed 1999),AR

       -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%

BP,Texas City,TX        447     102     140     242     80     -      106     186     10     1     78     89     90     1    184     275     182%  64%  114%

ChevronTexaco,Pascagoula,MS       325     160     165     325     0     -      19     19     -      -      263     263     0     -     282     282     12%  159%  87%

CITGO,Lake Charles,LA        338     30     218     248     52     -      24     76     -      -      153     153     52     -     177     229     253%  70%  92%

CITGO,Corpus Christi,TX        156     56     100     156     -      -      9     9     -      -      115     115     -      -     124     124     16%  115%  80%
Coastal Ref. & Mkt.,Mobile 
Bay,AL

       20     -      20     20     -      -      -      -      -      -      2     2     -      -     2     2     0%  9%  9%
ConocoPhillips,Belle 
Chasse,LA

       250     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      14     14     -      -     14     14     0%  0%  0%
ConocoPhillips,Lake 
Charles/Westlake,LA

       255     60     145     205     21     -      2     23     -      -      166     166     21     -     168     188     38%  114%  92%

ConocoPhillips,Sweeny,TX        217     17     150     167     -      -      12     12     -      -      154     154     -      -     166     166     69%  103%  99%

ConocoPhillips,Borger,TX        146     136     -      136     113     -      32     144     -      -      -      -      113     -     32     144     106%  0%  106%

Cross Oil,Smackover,AR        7     -      7     7     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%

Crown Central,Houston,TX        100     20     -      20     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%

Ergon Refining,Vicksburg,MS        23     -      23     23     -      -      -      -      -      -      18     18     -      -     18     18     0%  78%  78%

Exxon Mobil,Baton Rouge,LA        494     185     109     294     105     -      178     282     -      -      36     36     105     -     214     318     153%  33%  108%

Exxon Mobil,Chalmette,LA        183     -      80     80     29     -      0     29     -      -      76     76     29     -     76     104     0%  95%  131%

Exxon Mobil,Baytown,TX        557     357     200     557     3     1     306     310     16     -      184     200     19     1    491     511     87%  100%  92%

Exxon Mobil,Beaumont,TX        349     179     90     269     0     -      190     190     -      -      106     106     0     -     296     296     106%  118%  110%
Flint Hills Resources,Corpus 
Christi,TX

       279     80     84     164     -      -      62     62     -      -      16     16     -      -     77     77     77%  19%  47%
Hunt Refining 
Co.,Tuscaloosa,AL

       43     -      43     43     -      -      1     1     12     -      29     41     12     -     30     42     0%  95%  98%

LaGloria Oil & Gas,Tyler,TX        60     12     -      12     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%

Lion Oil Co.,El Dorado,AR        68     60     8     68     27     -      24     51     5     -      -      5     32     -     24     56     85%  63%  83%

Lyondell-CITGO,Houston,TX        269     -      269     269     -      -      4     4     -      -      258     258     -      -     261     261     0%  96%  97%
Marathon 
Ashland,Garyville,LA

       232     182     50     232     53     -      75     128     -      -      109     109     53     -     183     236     70%  217%  102%
Motiva Enterprises 
LLC,Norco,LA

       242     26     16     42     -      -      5     5     -      -      1     1     -      -     6     6     18%  7%  14%
Motiva Enterprises 
LLC,Convent,LA

       235     225     10     235     (0)   -      225     225     -      -      -      -      (0)   -     225     225     100%  0%  96%
Motiva Enterprises LLC,Port 
Arthur,TX

       270     160     110     270     3     -      258     261     -      -      1     1     3     -     259     262     163%  1%  97%

Murphy Oil,Meraux,LA        125     120     -      120     18     -      9     27     -      -      -      -      18     -     9     27     23%  0%  23%

Navajo Refining,Artesia,NM     I    75     75     -      75     71     -      -      71     -      -      -      -      71     -     -      71     95%  0%  95%
Premcor Refining Group,Port 
Arthur,TX

       255     77     168     245     -      -      3     3     -      -      209     209     -      -     212     212     4%  124%  87%
Shell Deer Park Refining,Deer 
Park,TX

       334     109     210     319     2     -      31     33     -      -      261     261     2     -     292     294     30%  124%  92%

Southland Oil,Lumberton,MS        6     -      6     6     -      -      -      -      2     -      -      2     2     -     -      2     0%  34%  34%

Southland Oil,Sandersville,MS        11     -      11     11     -      -      -      -      4     -      -      4     4     -     -      4     0%  40%  40%

Total SA,Port Arthur,TX        179     129     -      129     26     -      33     58     -      -      6     6     26     -     39     64     45%  0%  50%

Trigeant Ltd.,Corpus Christi,TX       30     -      30     30     -      -      -      -      -      -      16     16     -      -     16     16     0%  55%  55%
Valero Energy Corp.,Krotz 
Springs,LA

       80     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      0%  0%  0%
Valero Energy 
Corp.,Sunray/McKee,TX

       160     50     -      50     29     -      -      29     -      -      -      -      29     -     -      29     58%  0%  58%
Valero Energy Corp.,Three 
Rivers,TX

       97     -      -      -      -      -      10     10     -      -      -      -      -      -     10     10     0%  0%  0%
Valero Energy 
Corp.,Houston,TX

       90     65     -      65     14     -      48     62     -      -      -      -      14     -     48     62     95%  0%  95%
Valero Energy Corp.,Texas 
City,TX

       210     165     45     210     0     -      113     113     -      -      87     87     0     -     200     200     69%  193%  95%
Valero Energy Corp.,Corpus 
Christi,TX

       140     100     25     125     -      -      75     75     -      -      49     49     -      -     124     124     75%  196%  99%
Valero Energy Corp.,St. Charles 
(Norco),LA

       157     -      157     157     -      -      -      -      -      -      128     128     -      -     128     128     0%  82%  82%

Western Refining,El Paso,TX     I    107     21     -      21     30     -      -      30     -      -      -      -      30     -     -      30     143%  0%  143%

                                                                                                     
TOTAL PADD III        7,559     2,952     2,641     5,594     628     1     1,852     2,480     44     1     2,517     2,562     671     2    4,369     5,042     84%  97%  90%

                                                                                 
TOTAL PADDs I - III        12,315     4,219     3,754     7,973     1,334     124     2,309     3,766     44     772     2,801     3,617     1,377     896    5,110     7,383     89%  96%  93%

                                                                                 
Notes:    A  Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculations 



 

      I   Inland refinery, not included in capacity calculations 

      S   Sweet crude runs, not included in capacity calculations
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TABLE A3
2003 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 
Company

   
Notes  

Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total 

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total 

                                                                                  
Chevron,Perth Amboy,NJ    A     80     -      80     80     -      -      -      -      -      -      45     45     -      -      45     45     0%  56%  56%

Citgo,Savannah,GA          28     -      28     28     -      -      -      -      -      -      21     21     -      -      21     21     0%  74%  74%

Citgo,Thorofare,NJ          80     -      80     80     -      -      -      -      -      -      41     41     -      -      41     41     0%  51%  51%
Coastal Eagle 
Pt,Westville,NJ

         150     -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      4     4     -      -      7     7     0%  0%  0%

ConocoPhillips,Linden,NJ         285     60     -      60     -      -      1     1     -      -      7     7     -      -      8     8     2%  0%  13%
ConocoPhillips,Marcus 
Hook,PA

         180     -      -      -      -      -      2     2     -      -      6     6     -      -      8     8     0%  0%  0%

Giant ,Yorktown,VA          59     -      30     30     -      -      -      -      -      -      17     17     -      -      17     17     0%  58%  58%
Motiva (Star),Delaware 
City,DE

         175     53     122     175     -      -      93     93     -      -      66     66     -      -      159     159     175%  54%  91%
Sunoco,Philadelphia - 
Girard Pt,PA

    NS     330     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Sunoco,Marcus Hook,PA    NS     175     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%
United Refining 
Co.,Warren,PA

         67     22     25     47     -      10     -      10     -      36     -      36     -      45     -      45     44%  144%  97%

Valero,Paulsboro,NJ     A     166     156     10     166     -      -      120     120     -      -      2     2     -      -      122     122     77%  20%  73%
Young 
Refining,Douglasville,GA

         6     -      6     6     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -                               
                                                                                                       
TOTAL PADD I          1,781     291     381     672     -      10     218     228     -      36     213     249     -      45     431     476     78%  65%  71%

                                                                                    
                                                                                    
BP Amoco,Whiting,IN          410     140     140     280     149     2     6     157     1     84     0     85     150     85     6     242     112%  61%  86%

BP Amoco,Toledo,OH          152     -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      51     4     55     -      51     7     58     0%  0%  0%

Citgo,Lemont,IL          159     59     100     159     19     48     11     79     -      81     2     83     19     130     13     162     135%  83%  102%
ConocoPhillips,Wood 
River,IL

         286     200     50     250     134     -      52     187     -      59     -      59     134     59     52     246     93%  119%  98%
ConocoPhillips,Ponca 
City,OK

         190     55     -      55     80     -      -      80     -      2     -      2     80     2     -      82     145%  0%  149%

Exxon Mobil,Joliet,IL          238     70     168     238     22     30     -      52     -      162     -      162     22     191     -      213     74%  96%  90%

Farmland ,Coffeyville,KS          110     25     -      25     35     -      2     37     -      -      -      -      35     -      2     37     146%  0%  146%
Flint Hills Resources 
(Koch),Rosemount,MN

         290     -      290     290     -      11     2     13     -      226     -      226     -      237     2     238     0%  78%  82%
Frontier Oil & Ref.,El 
Dorado,KS

         110     80     10     90     81     -      1     82     -      -      -      -      81     -      1     82     102%  0%  91%
Marathon 
Ashland,Robinson,IL

         192     50     -      50     10     0     36     46     -      3     2     5     10     3     38     51     93%  0%  102%
Marathon 
Ashland,Detroit,MI

         74     10     24     34     5     11     1     16     -      22     -      22     5     33     1     39     165%  93%  114%
Marathon 
Ashland ,Catlettsburg,KY

         222     197     5     202     114     -      80     194     -      1     -      1     114     1     80     195     98%  18%  96%
Marathon Ashland ,St. 
Paul Park,MN

         70     -      10     10     -      0     8     8     -      14     -      14     -      15     8     23     0%  144%  226%
Marathon 
Ashland ,Canton,OH

         73     20     5     25     -      1     34     34     -      3     0     3     -      4     34     38     172%  67%  151%

Murphy ,Superior,WI          33     -      7     7     -      10     -      10     -      13     -      13     -      23     -      23     0%  180%  325%

NCRA,McPherson,KS          79     29     -      29     30     -      -      30     -      7     -      7     30     7     -      37     105%  0%  130%

Premcor USA,Hartford,IL          68     33     25     58     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%
Premcor USA,Blue 
Island,IL

         76     25     -      25     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Premcor USA,Lima,OH          165     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%
Premcor 
USA,Memphis,TN

         190     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Sinclair ,Tulsa,OK          50     10     -      10     10     -      -      10     -      0     -      0     10     0     -      10     100%  0%  103%

Sunoco,Toledo,OH          140     -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      -      -      -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%
Valero 
(UDS),Ardmore,OK

         85     45     -      45     54     -      1     55     -      -      -      -      54     -      1     55     122%  0%  122%

                                                                                                       
TOTAL PADD II          3,462     1,047     834     1,881     743     113     240     1,096     1     728     8     737     744     841     248     1,833     105%  88%  97%

                                                                                    
Notes:    A   Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculations

      NS    North Sea sweet
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TABLE A3 (Continued)  
2003 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION  

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 

Company
   

Notes  
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

Off- 
shore  

 
Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total 

                                                                                 
Alon,Big Spring,MS         61     61     -      61     61     -     -      61     -      -      -      -      61     -      -      61     100%  0%  100%

Atofina (Fina),Port Arthur,TX         179     129     -      129     13     -     35     49     -      -      4     4     13     -      40     53     38%  0%  41%

Berry Petroleum ,Stevens,TX         -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      6     -      -      6     6     -      -      6     0%  0%  0%

BP Amoco,Texas City,TX     I     437     100     137     237     50     -     51     101     -      -      145     145     50     -      196     246     101%  106%  104%

Chevron,Pascagoula,LA         295     145     150     295     0     -     46     47     -      -      243     243     0     -      289     290     32%  162%  98%

Chevron,El Paso,TX     I     90     18     -      18     20     -     -      20     -      -      -      -      20     -      -      20     111%  0%  111%

Citgo,Lake Charles,AL         337     30     217     247     61     -     46     107     -      -      137     137     61     -      184     244     357%  63%  99%

Citgo,Corpus Christi,LA         157     57     100     157     -      -     39     39     -      -      107     107     -      -      145     145     68%  107%  93%

Coastal,Mobile,LA         20     -      20     20     -      -     -      -      -      -      6     6     -      -      6     6     0%  29%  29%
ConocoPhillips,Belle 
Chasse,AR

        250     -      -      -      -      -     2     2     -      -      19     19     -      -      22     22     0%  0%  0%
ConocoPhillips,Lake 
Charles/Westlake,TX

        255     60     145     205     18     -     11     30     -      1     141     142     18     1     152     172     50%  98%  84%

ConocoPhillips,Sweeny,TX         216     16     150     166     -      -     20     20     -      -      132     132     -      -      152     152     128%  88%  92%

ConocoPhillips,Borger,MS         143     133     -      133     87     -     48     135     -      -      -      -      87     -      48     135     102%  0%  102%

Cross Oil,Smackover,LA         7     -      7     7     -      -     -      -      6     -      -      6     6     -      -      6     0%  86%  86%

Crown,Tyler,TX         60     12     -      12     -      -     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Crown ,Houston,TX         100     20     -      20     -      -     -      -      -      -      4     4     -      -      4     4     0%  0%  22%

Ergon Refining,Vicksburg,TX         23     -      23     23     -      -     -      -      -      -      16     16     -      -      16     16     0%  70%  70%

Exxon Mobil,Baton Rouge,AR         492     185     107     292     122     -     150     272     -      -      70     70     122     -      219     342     147%  66%  117%

Exxon Mobil,Chalmette,TX         183     -      80     80     13     -     1     14     -      -      84     84     13     -      85     98     0%  105%  123%

Exxon Mobil,Baytown,TX         523     323     200     523     22     -     237     259     26     -      147     173     48     -      385     433     80%  87%  83%

Exxon Mobil,Beaumont,AR         349     179     90     269     5     -     183     188     -      -      98     98     5     -      281     286     105%  108%  106%
Flint Hills Resources,Corpus 
Christi,AL

        297     82     90     172     -      -     55     55     -      -      26     26     -      -      81     81     67%  29%  47%

Lion ,El Dorado,LA         64     56     8     64     27     -     26     53     5     -      -      5     32     -      26     58     94%  63%  90%

Lyondell ,Houston,NM         269     -      269     269     -      -     16     16     -      -      237     237     -      -      253     253     0%  88%  94%
Marathon 
Ashland,Garyville,TX

        232     182     50     232     76     -     59     134     -      -      102     102     76     -      161     236     74%  204%  102%

Motiva (Shell),Norco,NM         230     25     15     40     5     -     17     22     -      -      3     3     5     -      20     25     87%  18%  61%

Motiva (Star),Convent,TX         230     220     10     230     14     -     199     214     -      -      12     12     14     -      211     225     97%  120%  98%

Motiva (Star),Port Arthur,         245     145     100     245     -      -     255     255     -      -      -      -      -      -      255     255     176%  0%  104%

Murphy ,Meraux,TX         100     95     -      95     10     -     37     47     -      -      -      -      10     -      37     47     50%  0%  50%

Navajo ,Artesia/Lovington,TX        60     60     -      60     56     -     -      56     -      -      -      -      56     -      -      56     93%  0%  93%

Orion,Norco,TX         150     -      150     150     -      -     15     15     -      -      113     113     -      -      128     128     0%  76%  86%

Premcor USA,Port Arthur,LA         247     77     160     237     -      -     19     19     -      -      205     205     -      -      224     224     25%  128%  95%

Shell,Deer Park,TX         334     109     210     319     7     -     15     22     -      -      242     242     7     -      257     263     20%  115%  83%

Southland Oil,Lumberton,LA     A     6     -      6     6     -      -     -      -      1     -      -      1     1     -      -      1     0%  21%  21%

Southland Oil,Sandersville,TX     A     11     -      11     11     -      -     -      -      6     -      -      6     6     -      -      6     0%  50%  50%

Trigeant,Corpus Christi,TX     A     30     -      30     30     -      -     -      -      -      -      18     18     -      -      18     18     0%  59%  59%

Valero,Krotz Springs,TX         78     -      -      -      -      -     -      -      -      -      20     20     -      -      20     20     0%  0%  0%

Valero,Houston,TX         83     65     -      65     -      -     48     48     -      -      2     2     -      -      50     50     74%  0%  76%

Valero,Texas City,TX         210     165     45     210     -      -     142     142     -      -      7     7     -      -      149     149     86%  16%  71%
Valero
(UDS),Sunray/McKee,TX

        155     50     -      50     30     -     -      30     -      -      -      -      30     -      -      30     60%  0%  60%

Valero (UDS),Three Rivers,TX         97     -      -      -      -      -     1     1     -      -      1     1     -      -      2     2     0%  0%  0%
Valero /Coastal,Corpus 
Christi,TX

        94     64     15     79     -      -     89     89     -      -      62     62     -      -      150     150     138%  410%  190%

                                                                                                      
TOTAL PADD III         7,199     2,783     2,547     5,330     622     -     1,864     2,485     43     1     2,383     2,428     665     1     4,247     4,913     89%  95%  92%

                                                                                  
TOTAL PADDs I - III         12,441     4,121     3,762     7,883     1,365     123    2,322     3,809     44     765     2,604     3,413     1,409     887     4,926     7,222     92%  91%  92%

                                                                                  
Notes:  (1) previously Coastal   A   Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculations

       I    Inland refinery, not included in capacity calculations

       NS    North Sea sweet

       S    Sweet crude runs, not included in capacity calculations
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A4  
2002 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION  

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 

Company
   

Note  
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total 

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total 

                                                                                  
Chevron,Perth 
Amboy,NJ

        80     -      80     80     -      -      -      -      -      -      49     49     -      -      49     49     0%  61%  61%

Citgo,Savannah,GA     A     28     -      28     28     -      -      -      -      -      -      22     22     -      -      22     22     0%  80%  80%

Citgo,Thorofare,NJ     A     80     -      80     80     -      -      -      -      -      -      43     43     -      -      43     43     0%  54%  54%
Conoco 
Phillips,Linden,NJ

    (1)     285     60     -      60     -      -      5     5     -      -      38     38     -      -      43     43     8%  0%  71%
Conoco Phillips,Marcus 
Hook,PA

        180     -      -      -      -      -      7     7     -      -      18     18     -      -      25     25     0%  0%  0%

El Paso,Westville,NJ     (2)     150     -      -      -      -      -      9     9     -      -      5     5     -      -      14     14     0%  0%  0%

Giant,Yorktown,VA     (3)     59     -      30     30     -      -      -      -      -      -      14     14     -      -      14     14     0%  45%  45%
Motiva (Star),Delaware 
City,DE

        152     30     122     152     -      -      93     93     -      -      69     69     -      -      162     162     310%  57%  107%
Sunoco,Philadelphia - 
Girard Point,PA

        330     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      1     1     -      -      1     1     0%  0%  0%
Sunoco,Marcus 
Hook,PA

        175     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%
United Refining 
Co.,Warren,PA

        67     22     25     47     -      1     -      1     -      33     -      33     -      34     -      34     3%  133%  73%

Valero,Paulsboro,NJ         157     147     10     157     -      -      127     127     -      -      14     14     -      -      140     140     86%  136%  89%
Young 
Refining,Douglasville,GA

    A     6     -      6     6     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

                                                                                                       
TOTAL PADD I         1,748     259     381     640     -      1     240     241     -      33     275     309     -      34     516     550     93%  81%  86%

                                                                                   
Notes:    A   Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculation 

      (1)   Previously Tosco

      (2)   Previously Coastal, sold to Sunoco in 2003

      (3)   Previously BP Amoco
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TABLE A4 (Continued)  
2002 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION  

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 

Company
   

Notes  
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total 

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total 

                                                                                  
BP,Whiting,IN         410     140     140     280     177     -     -      177     1     84     12     96     178     84     12     273     126%  69%  98%

BP,Toledo,OH         152     -      -      -      -      -     6     6     -      50     10     61     -      50     16     67     0%  0%  0%

Citgo,Lemont,IL         159     59     100     159     29     18    11     57     -      37     -      37     29     54     11     94     98%  37%  59%
ConocoPhillips,Ponca 
City,OK

        174     55     -      55     90     -     2     92     -      5     9     15     90     5     11     107     167%  0%  194%
ConocoPhillips,Wood 
River,IL

    (1)     286     200     50     250     141     1    60     201     -      62     -      62     141     63     60     263     100%  124%  105%

Exxon Mobil,Joliet,IL         232     70     162     232     10     68    1     79     -      144     -      144     10     212     1     223     113%  89%  96%

Farmland ,Coffeyville,KS         110     25     -      25     20     -     1     21     -      -      15     15     20     -      16     36     84%  0%  145%
Flint Hills 
Resources,Rosemount,MN

    (2)     290     -      290     290     -      1    7     8     -      229     -      229     -      230     7     237     0%  79%  82%
Frontier Oil & Ref.,El 
Dorado,KS

        107     77     10     87     80     -     1     82     -      -      -      -      80     -      1     82     106%  0%  94%
Marathon 
Ashland,Detroit,MI

        74     10     24     34     4     3    4     11     -      26     -      26     4     29     4     37     108%  108%  108%
Marathon 
Ashland,Robinson,IL

        192     50     -      50     10     39    34     83     -      1     13     14     10     41     47     98     167%  0%  196%
Marathon 
Ashland ,Catlettsburg,KY

        222     197     5     202     114     -     92     206     -      -      1     1     114     -      93     207     104%  28%  103%
Marathon 
Ashland ,Canton,OH

        73     20     5     25     -      -     23     23     -      0     0     0     -      0     23     23     114%  6%  93%
Marathon Ashland ,St. 
Paul Park,MN

        70     -      10     10     -      3    -      3     -      12     -      12     -      15     -      15     0%  125%  154%

Murphy ,Superior,WI         33     -      7     7     -      17    -      17     -      7     -      7     -      25     -      25     0%  101%  351%

NCRA,McPherson,KS         76     25     -      25     40     -     -      40     -      3     -      3     40     3     -      43     160%  0%  171%

Premcor USA,Hartford,IL     (3)     68     33     25     58     -      -     7     7     -      2     1     3     -      2     8     10     21%  11%  17%

Premcor USA,Lima,OH         165     -      -      -      -      -     1     1     -      -      -      -      -      -      1     1     0%  0%  0%
Premcor USA,Blue 
Island,IL

    (3)     76     25     -      25     -      -     -      -      -      1     -      1     -      1     -      1     0%  0%  2%

Sinclair ,Tulsa,OK         50     10     -      10     10     -     -      10     8     -      -      8     18     -      -      18     100%  0%  180%

Sun,Toledo,OH         140     -      -      -      -      -     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Valero,Ardmore,OK     (4)     84     45     -      45     35     -     18     53     -      -      -      -      35     -      18     53     118%  0%  118%
Williams 
(Mapco) ,Memphis,TN

        140     -      -      -      -      -     -      -      -      -      3     3     -      -      3     3     0%  0%  0%

                                                                                                      
TOTAL PADD II         3,167     1,016     828     1,843     759     150    269     1,178     9     663     62     734     768     813     330     1,912     116%  89%  104%

                                                                                  
Notes:    (1)   Previously Tosco

      (2)   Previously Koch

      (3)   Shutdown in 2002

      (4)   Previously UDS
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TABLE A4 (Continued)  
2002 SOUR CRUDE OIL REFINING CAPACITY UTILIZATION  

        Crude   Design   Light Sour   Heavy Sour   Total Sour Crude   Total Utilization  
 

Company
   

Notes  
Capacity
(MB/CD) 

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

Total
Sour  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

 
Dom. 

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

 
Dom.  

 
Canada 

 
Offshore 

 
Total  

Light
Sour  

Heavy
Sour  

 
Total 

                                                                                  
Alon,Big Spring,TX          61     61     -      61     56     -     1     58     -      -      -      -      56     -      1     58     95%  0%  95%

Atofina,Port Arthur,TX     (1)     179     129     -      129     13     -     -      13     -      -      5     5     13     -      5     18     10%  0%  14%

Berry Petroleum ,Stevens,AR     I     -      -      -      -      -      -     -      -      6     -      -      6     6     -      -      6     0%  0%  0%

BP Amoco,Texas City,TX          437     100     137     237     50     -     21     71     -      -      133     133     50     -      155     205     71%  97%  86%

Chevron,Pascagoula,MS          295     145     150     295     6     -     117     123     -      -      203     203     6     -      320     326     85%  136%  110%

ChevronTexaco,El Paso,TX     I     90     18     -      18     20     -     -      20     -      -      -      -      20     -      -      20     111%  0%  111%

Citgo,Corpus Christi,TX          152     52     100     152     -      -     30     30     -      -      116     116     -      -      146     146     57%  116%  96%

Citgo,Lake Charles,LA          307     30     187     217     58     -     27     85     -      -      123     123     58     -      150     208     283%  66%  96%
Conoco Phillips,Belle 
Chasse,LA

    (2)     255     -      -      -      -      -     1     1     -      -      20     20     -      -      21     21     0%  0%  0%
Conoco Phillips,Lake 
Charles/Westlake,LA

         245     60     135     195     5     -     26     31     -      -      140     140     5     -      166     171     52%  104%  88%

ConocoPhillips,Borger,TX     I     125     115     -      115     95     -     25     120     -      -      3     3     95     -      28     123     105%  0%  107%

ConocoPhillips,Sweeny,TX          215     15     150     165     -      -     5     5     -      -      146     146     -      -      150     150     30%  97%  91%

Cross Oil,Smackover,AR     I     6     -      6     6     -      -     -      -      5     -      0     5     5     -      0     5     0%  90%  90%

Crown,Tyler,TX          60     12     -      12     -      -     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Crown ,Houston,TX          100     20     -      20     -      -     -      -      -      -      0     0     -      -      0     0     0%  0%  2%

El Paso,Mobile,AL     (4)     19     -      19     19     -      -     -      -      -      -      7     7     -      -      7     7     0%  36%  36%

Ergon Refining,Vicksburg,MS          23     -      23     23     -      -     -      -      -      -      18     18     -      -      18     18     0%  80%  80%

Exxon Mobil,Baton Rouge,LA          485     185     100     285     146     -     97     243     -      -      83     83     146     -      180     326     131%  83%  114%

Exxon Mobil,Baytown,TX          508     308     200     508     126     -     196     321     19     -      142     161     145     -      337     482     104%  80%  95%

Exxon Mobil,Beaumont,TX          348     178     90     268     4     -     166     170     -      -      103     103     4     -      269     273     95%  114%  102%

Exxon Mobil,Chalmette,LA          190     -      80     80     12     -     -      12     -      -      81     81     12     -      81     93     0%  102%  116%
Flint Hills Resources,Corpus 
Christi,TX

    (3)     297     82     90     172     -      -     31     31     -      -      18     18     -      -      49     49     38%  20%  29%

Hunt,Tuscaloosa,AL          43     -      43     43     -      -     1     1     9     -      28     37     9     -      29     38     0%  85%  88%

Lion ,El Dorado,AR     I     55     47     8     55     16     -     34     50     5     -      -      5     21     -      34     55     106%  63%  100%

Lyondell-CITGO,Houston,TX          269     -      269     269     -      -     12     12     -      -      232     232     -      -      244     244     0%  86%  91%
Marathon 
Ashland,Garyville,LA

         232     182     50     232     89     -     60     149     -      -      86     86     89     -      146     235     82%  172%  101%

Motiva,Convent,LA          230     220     10     230     -      -     204     204     -      -      1     1     -      -      205     205     93%  14%  89%

Motiva,Norco,LA          230     25     15     40     5     -     1     6     -      -      -      -      5     -      1     6     25%  0%  16%

Motiva,Port Arthur,TX          245     145     100     245     -      -     239     239     -      -      1     1     -      -      241     241     165%  1%  98%

Murphy ,Meraux,LA          100     95     -      95     7     -     75     82     -      -      1     1     7     -      77     84     87%  0%  88%

Navajo ,Artesia/Lovington,NM    I, (5)    60     60     -      60     60     -     -      60     -      -      -      -      60     -      -      60     100%  0%  100%

Orion,Norco,          150     -      150     150     6     -     4     10     -      -      117     117     6     -      121     126     0%  78%  84%

Premcor USA,Port Arthur,TX          247     77     160     237     -      -     30     30     -      -      203     203     -      -      233     233     39%  127%  98%

Shell,Deer Park,TX          275     50     210     260     9     -     20     29     -      -      264     264     9     -      284     293     58%  126%  113%

Shell Chemical,St. Rose,LA     S     55     -      -      -      -      -     1     1     -      -      -      -      -      -      1     1     0%  0%  0%

Southland Oil,Lumberton,MS     A     6     -      6     6     -      -     -      -      1     -      -      1     1     -      -      1     0%  24%  24%

Southland Oil,Sandersville,MS     A     11     -      11     11     -      -     -      -      6     -      -      6     6     -      -      6     0%  50%  50%

Trigeant,Corpus Christi,TX     (6)     30     -      30     30     -      -     -      -      -      -      15     15     -      -      15     15     0%  50%  50%

Valero,Corpus Christi,TX     (4)     110     30     75     105     -      -     -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      -      0%  0%  0%

Valero,Sunray/McKee,TX     I, (7)    146     50     -      50     36     -     2     38     -      -      -      -      36     -      2     38     76%  0%  76%

Valero,Corpus Christi,TX          94     64     15     79     -      -     73     73     -      -      46     46     -      -      119     119     113%  307%  150%

Valero,Texas City,TX          165     165     -      165     3     -     128     132     -      -      5     5     3     -      134     137     80%  0%  83%

Valero,Three Rivers,TX          92     -      -      -      -      -     20     20     -      -      -      -      -      -      20     20     0%  0%  0%

Valero ,Houston,TX          115     65     -      65     54     -     29     83     -      -      1     1     54     -      30     84     128%  0%  129%

                                                                                                      
TOTAL PADD III          7,394     2,785     2,619     5,404     876     -     1,676     2,552     51     -      2,343     2,394     927     -      4,019     4,946     92%  91%  92%

                                                                                   
TOTAL PADDs I - III          12,309     4,059     3,827     7,887     1,635     150    2,186     3,971     60     697     2,680     3,437     1,695     847     4,866     7,408     98%  90%  94%

                                                                                   

Notes:
    (1)  

Previously 
Atofina   A   Asphalt plant, not included in capacity calculations

      (2)   Previously Tosco   I   Inland plant, not included in capacity calculations

      (3)   Previously Koch   S   Sweet crude runs, not included in capacity calculations

      (4)   Previously Coastal

      (5)   Sold in 2003 to Frontier

      (6)   Previously Neste

      (7)   Previously UDS
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TABLE A5
2004 PADD I, PADD II and PADD III Refined Petroleum Products by Importer

(Thousands of Barrels per Days)

 
      Importing Countries   Diesel   Gasoline   Jet Kero   Resid   Total   Percent

PADD I                         
  AMERADA HESS CORP   Virgin Islands / Africa   62.3   91.1   13.6   78.5   245.4   15%

  VITOL S A INC   Canada / Europe   19.0   72.5   1.8   82.0   175.4   11%

  CITGO PETRO CORP   Virgin Islands / PDVSA   47.4   68.6   23.4   -    139.4   8%

  BP PRODTS N AMER INC   Europe/ Russia / PDVSA / Canada   1.9   110.8   1.0   23.6   137.2   8%

  IRVING OIL CORP   Canada   19.5   89.9   5.9   -    115.3   7%

  WARREN G E   Europe / Latin America   7.2   80.2   -    -    87.4   5%

  COLONIAL OIL INDUS INC   Latin America / PDVSA / Europe   11.1   44.7   -    28.7   84.5   5%

  MORGAN STANLEY CAPITAL GRP 
INC 

 
Europe / Latin America

 
15.4 

 
54.0 

 
0.2 

 
-    69.5 

 
4%

  PHILLIPS 66 CO   Europe/South America   0.8   12.6   -    52.0   65.4   4%

  SHELL US TRADG CO   Latin America / Europe   8.3   47.3   0.8   7.2   63.5   4%

  GLENCORE LTD   Europe / Latin America   5.7   27.8   2.2   19.4   55.1   3%

  WESTPORT PETRO INC   Europe / Latin America/Asia   -    15.4   -    22.9   38.3   2%

  ATLANTIC TRDG & MKTG INC   Europe / Latin America   -    33.0   -    1.3   34.3   2%

  IRVING OIL TRANSP CO   Canada   30.2   1.2   -    -    31.4   2%

  GLOBAL COMPANIES LLC   Canada/PDVSA   22.8   -    -    2.7   25.5   2%

  CHEVRON CORP   Europe / Latin America   -    22.9   -    -    22.9   1%

  COASTAL FUELS MKTG   Latin America / PDVSA   1.8   4.6   -    15.6   22.0   1%

  SEMPRA ENERGY TRADING CORP   Europe / Africa   -    -    -    20.3   20.3   1%

  CARGILL ENERGY   Latin America / Russia / PDVSA   -    2.2   -    17.5   19.7   1%

  PETROBRAS AMERICA INC   Europe / Latin America   -    8.6   -    9.3   18.0   1%

  STATOIL MKTG & TRDG (US) INC   Europe   -    15.9   -    -    15.9   1%

  ULTRAMAR ENERGY INC   Canada   9.9   2.8   1.4   1.6   15.7   1%

  TRAFIGURA AG   Europe / Latin America   -    1.9   -    13.2   15.1   1%

  NOBLE AMERICAS CORP   Latin America / Mid East   -    13.9   -    -    13.9   1%

  AMERICAN AGIP CO INC   Europe / Latin America   -    11.9   -    0.7   12.7   1%

  CHEMOIL CORP   Latin America / Russia / PDVSA   -    -    -    11.1   11.1   1%

  SPRAGUE ENERGY CORP   Canada/PDVSA   7.2   1.6   -    1.9   10.7   1%

  ECOFUEL SPA   PDVSA   -    9.8   -    -    9.8   1%

  NORTHVILLE INDUSTRIES CORP       -    6.7   -    1.9   8.6   1%

  Other       9.2   23.1   0.6   24.1   57.0   3%

                         
  Total PADD I      279.7   874.7   50.9   435.5   1,640.8   100%

                         
PADD II                         
  WESTERN PETRO CO   Canada   2.0   1.2   1.1   -    4.4   30%

  CENTER OIL CO   Canada   2.8   0.2   -    -    3.0   20%

  TEXPAR ENERGY INC   Canada   -    -    -    1.9   1.9   13%

  WARNER PETRO CORP   Canada   0.5   -    -    1.1   1.6   11%

  FARSTAD OIL INC   Canada   0.8   0.2   -    -    1.0   7%

  EXXONMOBIL CHEM   Canada   -    -    -    0.9   0.9   6%

  BULK TRADG & TRANSP CO   Canada   -    -    -    0.6   0.6   4%

  TRIPLE CLEAN OIL CO   Canada   -    -    -    0.5   0.5   3%

  CASS CITY OIL & GAS CO   Canada   0.3   -    -    -    0.3   2%

  PHILLIPS C OIL CO   Canada   0.2   -    -    -    0.2   2%

  JARON CORP   Canada   -    -    -    0.1   0.1   1%

  HERMAN OIL INC   Canada   0.1   0.0   -    -    0.1   1%

  Other       0.1   0.0   -    0.1   0.2   1%

                          
  Total PADD II       6.9   1.7   1.1   5.1   14.8   100%

                          
PADD III                         
  VALERO MKTG & SUPPLY CO   Europe / Africa / Russia / PDVSA   -    -    -    109.3   109.3   24%

  EXXONMOBIL CO USA   Europe / Latin America /Russia   -    -    -    69.7   69.7   15%

  MARATHON ASHLAND PETRO LLC   Aruba / Europe / Russia   -    -    -    44.4   44.4   10%

  FLINT HILLS RESOURCES LP   Europe / Russia   -    -    -    33.7   33.7   7%

  VITOL S A INC   Russia / Ecuador   -    5.1   -    19.3   24.5   5%

  SHELL US TRADG CO   Eruope / Latin America   11.0   2.3   -    6.3   19.6   4%

  BP PRODTS N AMER INC   Latin America / Russia   -    7.9   -    11.6   19.5   4%

  CITGO PETRO CORP   Virgin Islands / Europe   -    -    -    15.8   15.8   4%

  KOCH SUPPLY & TRDG CO   Latin America / Europe   -    5.2   -    10.5   15.7   3%

  GLENCORE LTD   Russia / Estonia   -    5.7   -    9.8   15.5   3%

  ASTRA OIL CO INC   Europe / Syria   -    -    -    9.1   9.1   2%



 

  PHILLIPS 66 CO   Europe / Virgin Islands   -    -    -    8.4   8.4   2%

  MOTIVA ENTERPRISES LLC   Europe/ Trinidad   -    0.8   -    6.3   7.2   2%

  CHEVRON CORP   Eruope / Latin America / Taiwan   -    4.4   -    2.7   7.1   2%

  SEMPRA ENERGY TRADING CORP   Eruope / PDVSA / Russia   -    -    -    6.3   6.3   1%

  PREMCOR REFG GROUP INC THE   Syria / Europe / Canada   -    0.3   -    5.9   6.2   1%

  PHILLIPS PETRO CO   Europe / Virgin Islands   -    1.2   -    4.4   5.6   1%

  ATLANTIC TRDG & MKTG INC   PDVSA / Europe   -    4.8   -    0.8   5.6   1%

  EXXONMOBIL OIL CORP   Europe / Russia   -    0.9   -    4.3   5.2   1%

  LUKOIL PAN-AMERICAS LLC    Russia   -    -    -    5.0   5.0   1%

  NORTHVILLE INDUSTRIES CORP   PDVSA / Russia   -    2.1   -    0.7   2.7   1%

  Other       -    7.5   0.6   5.8   13.9   3%

                          
  Total PADD III       11.0   48.2   0.6   390.1   449.9   100%

                          
  TOTAL PADDs I,II, III      297.6   924.7   52.5   830.7   2,105.5    
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TABLE A6
2003 PADD I, PADD II and PADD III Refined Petroleum Products by Importer

(Thousands of Barrels per Days)

                               
      Importing Countries   Diesel   Gasoline   Jet Kero   Resid   Total   Percent

PADD I                              
  Amerada Hess Corp   Virgin Islands / Africa   64.5   84.2   9.2   85.3   243.3   16%

  Vitol S A Inc   Canada / Europe   20.4   81.1   1.6   84.0   187.1   13%

  Citgo Petro Corp   Virgin Islands / PDVSA   46.9   85.2   25.1   -    157.3   11%

  BP Products North America   Europe / Latin America / Canada   1.2   116.8   5.4   11.9   135.3   9%

  Irving Oil Corp   Canada   18.6   70.5   4.3   -    93.4   6%

  Warren GE   Europe / Latin America   4.7   82.1   0.3   -    87.1   6%

  Colonial Oil Indus Inc   Latin America / PDVSA / Europe   11.4   42.2   -    30.7   84.2   6%

  Morgan Stanley Capital Group Inc   Europe / Latin America   44.0   28.7   4.4   -    77.1   5%

  Glencore Ltd.   Europe / Latin America   2.6   33.5   4.1   31.5   71.8   5%

  Petrobras America Inc   Latin America / Europe   -    29.8   -    13.0   42.8   3%

  Shell US Trading Co   Europe / Latin America   5.0   34.8   1.0   1.1   41.9   3%

  Global Companies LLC   Canada / PDVSA   27.1   10.1   -    0.2   37.4   3%

  Irving Oil Transp Co   Canada   28.5   0.8   -    -    29.3   2%

  Westport Petro Inc   Latin America / Europe   -    4.9   -    19.9   24.8   2%

  Sprague Energy Corp   Europe / Others   11.2   4.2   1.0   1.5   17.9   1%

  Ultramar Energy Inc   Canada   10.5   2.8   1.8   1.1   16.1   1%

  Atlantic Trdg & Mktg Inc   Europe / Latin America   -    13.7   -    -    13.7   1%

  El Paso Merchant Energy Petro   Latin America / Others   3.8   2.0   7.8   -    13.7   1%

  Virginia Power Energy Mktg   Europe / Africa   -    -    -    12.0   12.0   1%

  Chemoil Corp   Latin America / Russia / PDVSA   -    -    -    11.5   11.5   1%

  Other       10.7   43.8   7.6   26.8   88.9   6%

  Total PADD I       311.3   771.2   73.6   330.5   1,486.6   100%

                          
PADD II                         
  Western Petro Co   Canada   2.8   1.5   0.7   -    4.9   36%

  Center Oil Co   Canada   2.2   -    -    -    2.2   16%

  Farstad Oil Co   Canada   1.2   0.3   0.0   -    1.6   12%

  Warren Petro Corp   Canada   0.3   -    -    1.1   1.4   10%

  Texpar Energy Inc   Canada   -    -    -    1.0   1.0   7%

  Triple Clean Oil Inc   Canada   -    -    -    0.7   0.7   5%

  Shell US Trading Co   Finland   -    0.4   -    -    0.4   3%

  Cass City Oil & Gas Co   Canada   0.3   -    -    -    0.3   2%

  Phillips C Oil Co   Canada   0.3   -    -    -    0.3   2%

  Bulk Trading & Transp Co   Canada   -    -    -    0.3   0.3   2%

  Other       0.2   0.1   -    0.3   0.5   4%

  Total PADD II       7.3   2.3   0.7   3.3   13.6   100%

                          
PADD III                         
  Valero Mktg & Supply Co   Europe / Africa   -    -    -    69.2   69.2   23%

  ExxonMobil   Europe / Latin America   -    -    -    49.9   49.9   17%

  Vitol SA Inc   Russia / China / Middle East   -    14.8   -    7.7   22.5   8%

  Flint Hills Resources LP   Europe / Russia   -    0.4   -    21.6   22.0   7%

  Orion Refg Corp   Europe / Algeria   -    -    -    19.6   19.6   7%

  Marathon Ashland Petroleum LLC   Netherland Antilles / Europe   -    -    -    15.8   15.8   5%

  Glencore Ltd   Europe / Latin America   -    7.6   -    8.1   15.7   5%

  Koch Supply & Trading Co   PDVSA / Latin America   -    9.0   -    4.3   13.3   4%

  BP Products N America   Latin America / Russia / PDVSA   -    7.4   -    5.7   13.1   4%

  Shell US Trdg Co   Latin America / Europe   2.5   4.9   -    1.8   9.1   3%

  Motiva Enterprises LLC   Europe / Syria   -    0.3   -    8.5   8.8   3%

  Valero St. Charles Refinery   Algeria   -    -    -    8.7   8.7   3%

  Westport Petro Inc   Latin America / Europe   0.0   -    -    6.0   6.1   2%

  Lyondell Citgo Refg LP   Russia / Mexico   -    -    -    4.8   4.8   2%

  Atlantic Trdg & Mktg LP   Europe / Others   -    0.3   -    3.2   3.5   1%

  Statoil Mktg & Trdg (US) Inc   Norway   -    2.9   -    -    2.9   1%

  Crown Central Petro Corp   Netherland Antilles / Sweden   -    -    -    2.8   2.8   1%

  Rio Energy Intl   Russia / Colombia / France   -    -    -    1.5   1.5   1%

  Other       -    2.8   0.9   3.2   7.0   2%

  Total PADD III       2.5   50.3   0.9   242.6   296.3   100%

                          
  TOTAL PADDs I,II, III       321.1   823.9   75.2   576.4   1,796.6    


